Cover Page



# Universiteit Leiden



The handle <u>http://hdl.handle.net/1887/21092</u> holds various files of this Leiden University dissertation.

Author: Gopie, Jessica Premdee Title: The psychological impact of breast reconstruction after prophylactic or therapeutic mastectomy for breast cancer Issue Date: 2013-01-09



The psychological impact of breast reconstruction

> after prophylactic or therapeutic mastectomy for breast cancer

Jessica P. Gopie

## The Psychological Impact of Breast Reconstruction after Prophylactic or Therapeutic Mastectomy for Breast Cancer

Jessica Premdee Gopie

#### COLOFON

The study described in this thesis was supported by a grant from the Dutch Cancer Society (KWF UL 2007-3726)

The study presented in this thesis was performed at the Center of Human and Clinical Genetics of the Leiden University Medical Center, in close collaboration with the Department of Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery of the Erasmus Medical Center Rotterdam, The Netherlands

This thesis was printed with the financial support of the Dutch Cancer Society and the Center of Human and Clinical Genetics of the Leiden University Medical Center, The Netherlands

Title: The Psychological Impact of Breast Reconstruction after Prophylactic or Therapeutic Mastectomy for Breast Cancer

Author: Jessica Premdee Gopie

ISBN: 978-94-6191-571-9

Consent obtained for patient pictures

Printed by Ipskamp Drukkers, Enschede, The Netherlands



Copyright © 2012 by Jessica P. Gopie, Leiden, The Netherlands

All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system, or transmitted in any form or by any means, electronic, mechanical, photocopying, recording or otherwise, without the prior permission from the author or from the copyright-owning journals of previously published chapters

## The Psychological Impact of Breast Reconstruction after Prophylactic or Therapeutic Mastectomy for Breast Cancer

### PROEFSCHRIFT

ter verkrijging van de graad van Doctor aan de Universiteit Leiden, op gezag van Rector Magnificus prof. mr. P.F. van der Heijden, volgens besluit van het College voor Promoties te verdedigen op woensdag 9 januari 2013, klokke 16.15 uur

> door Jessica Premdee Gopie geboren te Leidschendam in 1985

#### PROMOTIECOMMISSIE

**Promotor** Prof. dr. A. Tibben

#### **Co-promotores**

Dr. M.A.M. Mureau (Erasmus Medisch Centrum Rotterdam) Dr. R. Timman (Erasmus Medisch Centrum Rotterdam)

#### **Overige leden**

Prof. dr. C.J. van Asperen Prof. dr. R.R.W.J. van der Hulst (Maastricht Universitair Medisch Centrum) Prof. dr. J.C.J.M. de Haes (Academisch Medisch Centrum Amsterdam)

Voor ons kleine wondertje

### CONTENTS

Chapter 1	Introduction	9
Chapter 2	Women's motives to opt for either implant or DIEP flap breast reconstruction. <i>J Plast Rec Surg 2011; 64 (8): 1062-1067</i>	33
Chapter 3	Information seeking behavior and coping style of women choosing for either implant or DIEP flap breast reconstruction. <i>J Plast Rec Surg</i> 2011; 64 (9): 1167-1173	53
Chapter 4	The short-term psychological impact of complications after breast reconstruction. <i>Psycho-Oncology 2011; DOI: 10.1002/pon.2089</i>	67
Chapter 5	Psychological distress after completion of implant or DIEP flap breast reconstruction and the impact of postoperative complications: a prospective follow-up study. <i>Submitted</i>	85
Chapter 6	Impact of delayed implant and DIEP flap breast reconstruction on body image and sexual satisfaction: A prospective follow-up study. <i>Revision submitted</i>	103
Chapter 7	Body image issues after bilateral prophylactic mastectomy with breast reconstruction in healthy women at risk for hereditary breast cancer. <i>Familial Cancer 2012 in press; DOI: 10.1007/s10689-012-9588-5</i>	121
Chapter 8	Summary, discussion and implications	139
	Samenvatting	151
	List of Co-authors and their affiliations	163
	Curriculum Vitae (Engels)	164
	Curriculum Vitae (Nederlands)	165
	Publications	167
	Dankwoord	169

## **CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION**



#### 1. Breast cancer

In the Netherlands breast cancer is the most common type of cancer in women with a lifetime risk of 1 out of 8. Every year there are more than 13,000 new cases mostly occurring in women older than 50 years of age [1]. Therefore, since 1989 women aged between 50 and 75 years old have been invited to participate biannually in a national breast cancer screening program using mammography which has proven to be effective in the early detection of breast cancer and the reduction of mortality [2-4]. Several treatment options are available for breast cancer, such as surgery, chemotherapy, radiotherapy and hormonal therapy. Despite the introduction of breast conserving therapy with or without neo-adjuvant treatment, mastectomy is still performed in about 46% of all cases [5], while more recent results have shown that long-term survival rates are similar after breast conserving therapy including radiotherapy [6].

About 5% to 10% of all breast cancer cases are caused by a genetic predisposition [7]. Women from families with a BRCA1/2 mutation have a significantly increased cumulative lifetime risk for developing breast cancer (39-85%) as well as ovarian cancer (10-63%) [8-11]. These women are offered a specific breast surveillance program including an annual MRI-scan, a mammography and clinical breast examination. Women at high risk for breast cancer based on their family history are also offered a specific breast surveillance program, as suggested by the Dutch Breast Cancer Guidelines 2012 [12;13]. As breast cancer screening programs may detect breast cancer at an early stage but cannot prevent it, prophylactic mastectomy may also be discussed with these high risk patients as an alternative option to reduce the risk for developing breast cancer [14-16].

#### 1.1. Therapeutic mastectomy and breast reconstruction

Mastectomy can have a significant impact a woman's body image and self-identity, including feelings of abnormality, depressive symptoms, loss of wholeness, and mourning for the lost breast [17-21]. Breast reconstruction (BR) can significantly improve patient satisfaction and body image after mastectomy [22-27]. However, general psychological outcomes do not differ significantly between women with and without BR after mastectomy [28-32]. Recently, it has been found that BR is associated with decreased breast cancer mortality compared to women undergoing mastectomy only, but this is more likely to be explained by socioeconomic factors and access to health care than to oncologic factors [33;34].

The number of patients receiving BR after mastectomy ranges from 10% to 40% but is still increasing. However, there is a great ethnic and geographic variation, for instance non-white women and patients from deprived or rural areas are less likely to undergo BR [35]. In the Netherlands, the estimated uptake of BR after therapeutic mastectomy is about 20%, indicating the majority of patients does not receive BR [36].

This thesis focuses on the impact of two different types of BR after mastectomy: the most commonly performed BR method using silicone implants and the most advanced BR type using abdominal tissue; the Deep Inferior Epigastric artery Perforator (DIEP) flap (Figure 1). There was very little data on psychosocial outcomes regarding DIEP flap BR available at the beginning of this study [37-41]. Therefore, it was investigated what possible benefits

and disadvantages this BR method would bring patients, in comparison to implant BR. The effect of demographic and other clinical variables on the psychosocial outcomes after BR was also investigated.

The following paragraphs provide an overview of therapeutic and prophylactic mastectomy, the types and timing of BR, psychosocial aspects related to the decision to undergo BR and the psychosocial outcomes after BR. In the final paragraph, the aims and research questions of this thesis are described.

#### 1.2. Prophylactic mastectomy and breast reconstruction

Prophylactic mastectomy (PM) is considered to be an effective method for decreasing the breast cancer risk of high risk women significantly with a risk reduction of more than 90% [14-16;42;43], but there is insufficient data to support an improvement in survival rates after PM [44-46]. The combination of the cancer risk, fear of cancer and increasing possibilities for BR has popularized this risk-reducing surgery. More than ten years ago 55% of the Dutch unaffected high risk patients chose bilateral PM [43], but more recently this percentage has decreased to 33% [47]. The reasons for a declining uptake of bilateral PM may be related to recent study results describing the risk for adverse effects on body image and sexuality [48-59]. In addition, more advanced diagnostic imaging techniques have become available, providing earlier detection of breast cancer development [60-65] and it is likely that this improved diagnosis may dissuade doctors and patients from choosing bilateral PM.

This said, the uptake of bilateral PM in the Netherlands is still high compared to the mean international uptake of 18% [47;66] and only the United States of America (36%) and the United Kingdom (40%) have a higher uptake rate. The uptake is lowest in Poland (3%), Israel (4%) and Norway (5%). Regarding contralateral PM in high risk women with a history of breast cancer, the uptake of 53% in the Netherlands is also high, compared to the average international uptake of 27% [46;67]. The large variance in uptake may reflect cultural differences in which both patients and clinicians may play a role.

Currently, BRCA1/2 mutation carriers are advised to undergo prophylactic bilateral salpingo-oophorectomy (PBSO) to reduce the risk for ovarian cancer as well as the prevalence of breast cancer and to improve the survival rate in premenopausal BRCA1/2 mutation carriers [44;68-71]. BRCA1 mutation carriers are recommended to undergo PBSO between 35 to 40 years of age, whereas for BRCA2 mutation carriers this is advised between the age of 40 and 45 years as recommended by the Netherlands Foundation for the Detection of Hereditary Tumours (STOET) [72]. However, PBSO may have a profound effect on psychological wellbeing as it induces the pre-menopause, which may result in adverse psychological, somatic and sexual consequences, including vasomotor symptoms, vaginal dryness and decreased libido [73-75].

#### 1.3. Types of breast reconstruction

In general, three types of BR are available: with silicone implants, autologous tissue, or a combination of both. BR, using a silicone implant is the most commonly performed [76;77] and is usually preceded by the insertion of a tissue expander during the first stage of the

reconstruction, which is gradually inflated to expand the breast skin and muscle [78], and after a few months is replaced with the definite implant.

Several autologous BR techniques exist, commonly including skin, fat and muscle tissue from a distant donor site, such as the latissimus dorsi myocutaneous (LD) flap from the back [79]. The transverse rectus abdominis myocutaneous (TRAM) flap includes skin, fat and muscle from the lower abdomen which is transferred to the chest wall [80], and the TRAM flap is either a pedicled or a free flap requiring a smaller proportion of the abdominal muscle. Other autologous BR techniques include the gluteal artery perforator (GAP) flap and the transverse myocutaneous gracilis (TMG) flap, which consist of skin and fat from the buttock and skin, fat and muscle from the medial thigh area [81;82], respectively. Currently, the most popular autologous BR method is the Deep Inferior Epigastric artery Perforator (DIEP) flap, using abdominal skin and fat, but leaving the abdominal muscles intact, which reduces the chance of abdominal muscle weakness or hernia [83]. However, it requires microsurgical expertise and for the reconstructive surgeon to have specialist knowledge, and this expertise is only available in specialized centers, resulting in long patient waiting lists and higher costs. In general, higher satisfaction rates and a better body image have been reported after autologous BR compared to implant BR, but more prospective studies are required to be conclusive [40;41;49;84-87].

#### 1.4. Timing of breast reconstruction

BR can be performed either immediately, at the same time with mastectomy or delayed; months or years after mastectomy. A randomized controlled trial (RCT) investigating the specific impact of immediate versus delayed reconstruction found that three months postoperatively immediate BR was associated with better psychosocial outcomes compared to delayed or no BR [24]. As randomization to the type or timing of BR is generally seen as unethical with regard to withholding information and not observing patient preferences, no other RCT has been performed in this field since 1983. Cross-sectional and cohort studies have demonstrated that aesthetic outcome is generally better following immediate BR as typically the skin envelope and occasionally the nipple can be preserved [84;88;89]. Women with immediate BR may have less distress and a better body image, more self-esteem and may feel more sexually attractive as well [90]. However, with regard to the type of BR, more positive outcomes on body image and sexual satisfaction were found after delayed autologous BR [40;49;84;87]. The timing of BR is of great significance here, as women with delayed BR have lived for a period with only one or no breasts and therefore have a greater opportunity to experience improvement, as their body image and sexual satisfaction may be at the lowest point before they undergo BR. Furthermore, after delayed BR the complication risk has been found to be lower compared to immediate BR [88].

Generally, the timing of BR does not have an impact on the incidence of recurrent breast cancer and women undergoing immediate BR generally experience no delay in adjuvant treatment compared to women without undergoing BR [33;91-93].

#### 2. Psychological aspects of Breast Reconstruction

#### 2.1. Decisional aspects of breast reconstruction

The decision for the type of BR can be influenced by different factors such as surgeon's preferences and expertise, treatment characteristics (therapeutic or prophylactic indication for mastectomy, timing of BR), and patient characteristics [51;77;94-99]. Some patients are limited in their reconstructive options by clinical and logistic circumstances, such as having insufficient autologous tissue or being restricted by long waiting lists [96]. However, some demographic conditions facilitate the access to BR: being younger, Caucasian, higher educated, wealthier and more often married or in a relationship [31;96;98-100].

Women generally choose BR because they feel too young to live without breasts, want to avoid wearing an external prosthesis, and wish to feel feminine and self-confident [96;98;99]. Common reasons not to choose BR are: feeling reconstruction is not essential for physical and emotional well-being, uncertainty about the procedure and not wanting anything unnatural in the body [96;98].

A lack of information and unrealistic expectations regarding the outcome of BR are also generally associated with regret or low satisfaction with the end result of BR [21;49;95;101-104]. Therefore, it is extremely important to inform patients as comprehensively as possible about the options regarding the types of BR and possible outcomes. Currently, there is no standardized information provided regarding BR options for patients, and, one study demonstrated that autologous BR was chosen by active information seekers and patients who referred themselves to a reconstructive surgeon [105]. This suggests that less independent decision-makers are less aware of the different reconstructive options and as a consequence, due to the increased risk of not selecting the optimal option may be less satisfied with their decision.

#### 2.2. Complications after breast reconstruction

Implant BR can be performed either as a one-stage procedure (direct insertion of prosthesis) or a two-stage procedure (insertion of tissue expander followed by replacement with a definite implant). Presently, the two-stage procedure is generally performed. This procedure may take months as tissue expansion requires several months before the expander can be replaced with the implant. The overall short and long-term complication rates after implant BR vary from 18% to 51% [106-110]. Complications like infections, seroma and hematoma occur in 15% to 39% of the cases, of which 3% to 20% result in implant removal in the short-term [107;109].

Regarding autologous BR, free perforator flaps are preferred as there is less interference with muscle tissue and therefore donor site complications are minimized [76]. The most preferred free perforator flap for BR is the DIEP flap. The overall short and long-term complication rates after autologous BR vary between 32% and 43% [108;111]. Common immediate complications following DIEP flap BR are hematoma, seroma and partial flap necrosis occurring in about 2%, 5% and 15%, respectively, and in experienced hands total flap loss occurs in about 2% of DIEP flap reconstructions [112-114].

The chance for general failure of BR depends on the type of prosthesis used, the reconstruction method, and on risk factors for wound healing problems such as obesity, smoking, hypertension and pre- or postoperative radiotherapy [107;115-117]. Postoperative radiotherapy increases the risk of major complications, in particular after implant BR [106;116]. Postoperative complications can be an important indicator of dissatisfaction with reconstruction [118;119].

#### 2.3. General quality of life

In general, the overall quality of life does not appear to differ between women with BR and women with mastectomy only [27;29;31;120-126]. One study found that women with BR even had a poorer wellbeing compared to women with mastectomy only, for which age might be a contributing factor, as the women with BR were significantly younger [30]. The general quality of life in these studies usually includes parameters such as distress or mood disturbances and overall wellbeing. It is more likely that other psychosocial aspects are affected, such as the altering body image and consequent effects on intimacy and the relationship, which is underlined by in depth-interview studies regarding the personal experiences of patients [54;56;97;101;127-130]. However, it remains relevant to correct for the overall quality of life when investigating these outcomes as they highly correlate with each other [131-134].

#### 2.4. Body image

Conflicting results regarding body image after BR have been reported, with most studies having found no substantial differences between women who had received BR and women who had undergone mastectomy only [29;31;121;135-139]. Other studies reported better body image in women who had received BR [22;24;26;27;122;140;141]. For high risk women who are treated with PM and BR, body image is commonly negatively affected [48-50;57;58]. An explanation for this could be that losing the own healthy breasts without having had breast cancer, and directly exchanging them for reconstructed breasts might reduce satisfaction with appearance, self-esteem and self-consciousness.

The conflicting results regarding body image after BR could also be explained by methodological issues, as most studies had a retrospective design and could therefore not compare baseline scores with postoperative scores. It is also necessary to further investigate predictors of the patient evaluation of body image [142], therefore prospective studies are needed on the predictors of body image.

#### 2.5. Sexual satisfaction and the partner relationship

Sexuality can be complex after breast cancer, as sexual changes can be caused by clinical factors, such as the influence of hormonal and chemotherapy with consequent menopause. A range of physical changes, including dyspareunia, fatigue, vaginal dryness, loss or decreased sexual desire or pleasure and numbness of the breasts, have been reported as a consequence of breast cancer treatment [121;143-150]. Of the BRCA1/2 mutation carriers 35% to 74% opts for PBSO to considerably lower the risk of ovarian cancer [47;151], but this

can, however, induce menopause and cause sexual side-effects, such as vaginal dryness, greater discomfort, and less satisfaction with sexual activities, although most complaints tend to decrease over time [152]. Psychosocial changes regarding sexuality include a fear of loss of fertility, negative body image, loss of femininity and attractiveness, depression and anxiety [143;153-155].

The quality of the partner relationship appears to be the strongest predictor of sexual satisfaction, sexual functioning and sexual desire compared to the physical or chemical changes due to cancer treatment [146;156;157]. If women can discuss their sexual practices with their partner, they are more able to manage changes in their sexual relationship [158]. After BR, sexual functioning has not generally been found to differ between breast cancer patients who had mastectomy only or with BR [22;24;29;31;121;122;125;137-140;159]. However, in high risk women who had PM, adverse sexual effects have been found in a substantial proportion of the patients [48-56].

The specific impact of BR on the partner relationship has received relatively little attention world-wide. A Franco-British study regarding patients' and partners' satisfaction with BR, showed satisfaction was related to the level of preoperative information, type of reconstruction and cosmetic result [160]. This suggests that it is important that further research should be conducted on the impact of BR on partner relationship satisfaction.

#### 2.6. Patient regrets

About 18% of breast cancer survivors regret having had BR [161]. Regrets after BR are associated with a lack of information and unrealistic expectations regarding the outcome, as described previously [21;49;95;101-104]. In addition, women who are more concerned about the future or who had problems in communicating with their doctors are more likely to experience regret five years after cancer treatment [161]. Unaffected high risk women who underwent bilateral PM are less likely to report feelings of regret, which suggests that the relief from the reduced breast cancer risk overweighs the negative side effects of bilateral PM, such as pain, discomfort and adverse sexual effects [49;50;54;162].

#### 3. Aims and outline of the present thesis

The Leiden – Rotterdam collaboration on breast cancer and the psychological issues of BRCA mutation carriers has started over 15 years ago [49;58;95;163-183]. Distress surrounding presymptomatic testing for BRCA1/2 was investigated, and high post-test anxiety was detected in 20% of the mutation carriers and in 35% of their partners [171]. Mutation carriers opting for PM had significantly higher distress levels than those opting for surveillance. In addition, adverse effects in body image and intimacy were observed in women who underwent PM combined with BR [49;163;169;175]. However, distress appeared to decline over time [58;164;169]. More recent studies of Den Heijer et al. showed that low self-esteem and feelings of stigmatization, increased distress and that communication regarding cancer within the family was associated with a reduced sense of vulnerability and less distress [167;168].

The current study aimed to expand this field of research and to explore patient motivation for BR and the specific psychological impact of this surgery on psychological distress, body image, sexuality and the partner relationship. This could increase the body of evidence to support a tailor-made psychosocial care-program for women dealing with either mastectomy after breast cancer or with prophylactic mastectomy.

#### 3.1. Aims and research questions

In our study patients with implant and DIEP flap BR were included as our general aim was to prospectively investigate the psychosocial impact of BR after mastectomy comparing patients with implant and DIEP flap BR. At first, the decision-making process before surgery was explored, to investigate factors or thoughts related to unrealistic expectations. Secondly, our aim was to identify possible demographic, clinical and psychological risk factors that are related to a decreased psychosocial functioning.

The research questions were:

- What are the motives to opt for either implant or DIEP flap BR? (Chapter 2)
- To what extent do women make an independent decision regarding the type of BR? (Chapter 3)
- What is the short-term impact of complications after BR? (Chapter 4)
- What is the long-term impact of complications after BR? (Chapter 5)
- What is the impact of delayed BR on body image and the sexual and partner relationship satisfaction? (Chapter 6)
- What is the impact of prophylactic mastectomy with immediate BR on body image and the sexual and partner relationship satisfaction? (Chapter 7)

#### 3.2. Study procedure

The study was a multi-center prospective follow-up study and the participants were women who opted for post mastectomy reconstruction after breast cancer (n=152) and healthy women who chose prophylactic mastectomy with BR because of an increased hereditary risk for developing breast cancer (n=50, Figure 2). Reconstructions were either implant or DIEP flap based, and were immediate or delayed. Exclusion criteria were:

- A BR in the past
- A detection of recurrence or metastasis of breast cancer during the study period, and
- Not being able to understand and speak the Dutch language sufficiently.

Patients were approached between December 2007 and May 2010 at the Leiden University Medical Center, Erasmus University Medical Center Rotterdam, Daniel den Hoed Cancer Center Rotterdam, Haga Teaching Hospital The Hague, Rijnland Hospital Leiderdorp, the Lange Land Hospital Zoetermeer, Hospital Walcheren, Admiraal de Ruyter Hospital Goes and at the Hospital Zorgsaam Terneuzen. Ethics approval was obtained from all participating hospitals..

Before their operation, an invitation letter explaining the procedure and purpose of the study, an informed consent, and a prepaid envelope were sent to all women on the BR

waiting lists of the participating hospitals. If patients did not respond within two weeks, a reminder was sent. Patients who returned their completed consent form received a self-report questionnaire that they had to complete before their operation. They were requested to complete the same questionnaire post-surgery, after 6 months and at the end of the BR procedure (21 months). In addition, questions regarding distress were sent at 1 month and 12 months post-surgery as well and patients were called by telephone to ask for the occurrence of complications and pain symptoms (Figure 3). After surgery, patient-reported clinical characteristics (including complications) were checked in the medical records.

The questionnaires included demographic information (e.g. age, having a partner or children, educational level), clinical data (e.g. indication for mastectomy, body mass index) and psychological assessments regarding general quality of life, anxiety, depression, cancer-specific distress, body image, sexual satisfaction and partner relationship satisfaction. At the final measurement patient satisfaction regarding the aesthetic result and complications experienced during the whole BR process were also requested. The content and psychometric properties of the self-report questionnaires are described in detail in the relevant chapters.

#### References

- 1. http://www.iknl.nl. Integraal Kankercentrum Nederland. 2012
- Otto SJ, Fracheboud J, Verbeek AL, Boer R et al. Mammography Screening and Risk of Breast Cancer Death: A Population-Based Case-Control Study. *Cancer Epidemiology Biomarkers & Prevention* 2012; 21:66-73.
- 3. Holland R, Rijken H and Hendriks J. The dutch population-based mammography screening: 30-year experience. *Breast Care* 2007; 2:12-18.
- 4. Otto SJ, Fracheboud J, Looman CWN, Broeders MJM et al. Initiation of populationbased mammography screening in Dutch municipalities and effect on breast-cancer mortality: a systematic review. *Lancet* 2003; 361:1411-1417.
- Struikmans H, Aarts MJ, Jobsen JJ, Koning CCE et al. An increased utilisation rate and better compliance to guidelines for primary radiotherapy for breast cancer from 1997 till 2008: A population-based study in The Netherlands. *Radiotherapy and Oncology* 2011; 100:320-325.
- Litiere S, Werutsky G, Fentiman IS, Rutgers E et al. Breast conserving therapy versus mastectomy for stage I-II breast cancer: 20 year follow-up of the EORTC 10801 phase 3 randomised trial. *Lancet Oncology* 2012; 13:412-419.
- 7. Lux MP, Fasching PA and Beckmann MW. Hereditary breast and ovarian cancer: review and future perspectives. *Journal of Molecular Medicine-Jmm* 2006; 84:16-28.
- 8. King MC, Marks JH and Mandell JB. Breast and ovarian cancer risks due to inherited mutations in BRCA1 and BRCA2. *Science* 2003; 302:643-646.
- 9. Ford D, Easton DF, Stratton M, Narod S et al. Genetic heterogeneity and penetrance analysis of the BRCA1 and BRCA2 genes in breast cancer families. *American Journal of Human Genetics* 1998; 62:676-689.
- 10. Antoniou A, Pharoah PDP, Narod S, Risch HA et al. Average risks of breast and ovarian cancer associated with BRCA1 or BRCA2 mutations detected in case series unselected

for family history: A combined analysis of 22 studies. *American Journal of Human Genetics* 2003; 72:1117-1130.

- 11. Chen SN and Parmigiani G. Meta-analysis of BRCA1 and BRCA2 penetrance. *Journal of Clinical Oncology* 2007; 25:1329-1333.
- 12. http://www.oncoline.nl/mammacarcinoom. Dutch Breast Cancer Guidelines. 2012
- 13. Gadzicki D, Evans DG, Harris H, Julian-Reynier C et al. Genetic testing for familial/ hereditary breast cancer-comparison of guidelines and recommendations from the UK, France, the Netherlands and Germany. *Journal of community genetics* 2011; 2:53-69.
- 14. Hartmann LC, Sellers TA, Schaid DJ, Frank TS et al. Efficacy of bilateral prophylactic mastectomy in BRCA1 and BRCA2 gene mutation carriers. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute* 2001; 93:1633-1637.
- 15. Hartmann LC, Schaid DJ, Woods JE, Crotty TP et al. Efficacy of bilateral prophylactic mastectomy in women with a family history of breast cancer. *New England Journal of Medicine* 1999; 340:77-84.
- 16. Rebbeck TR, Friebel T, Lynch HT, Neuhausen SL et al. Bilateral Prophylactic Mastectomy Reduces Breast Cancer Risk in BRCA1 and BRCA2 Mutation Carriers: The PROSE Study Group. *Journal of Clinical Oncology* 2004; 22:1055-1062.
- Bjorkman B, Arner S and Hyden LC. Phantom Breast and Other Syndromes After Mastectomy: Eight Breast Cancer Patients Describe Their Experiences Over Time: A 2-Year Follow-up Study. *Journal of Pain* 2008; 9:1018-1025.
- Crompvoets S. Comfort, control, or conformity: women who choose breast reconstruction following mastectomy. *Health Care for Women International* 2006; 27:75-93.
- 19. Hill O and White K. Exploring women's experiences of TRAM flap breast reconstruction after mastectomy for breast cancer. *Oncology Nursing Forum* 2008; 35:81-88.
- 20. Piot-Ziegler C, Sassi ML, Raffoul W and Delaloye JF. Mastectomy, body deconstruction, and impact on identity: A qualitative study. *British Journal of Health Psychology* 2010; 15:479-510.
- 21. Rolnick SJ, Altschuler A, Nekhlyudov L, Elmore JG et al. What women wish they knew before prophylactic mastectomy. *Cancer Nursing* 2007; 30:285-291.
- 22. Al-Ghazal SK, Fallowfield L and Blamey RW. Comparison of psychological aspects and patient satisfaction following breast conserving surgery, simple mastectomy and breast reconstruction. *European Journal of Cancer* 2000; 36:1938-1943.
- 23. Cordeiro PG. Breast reconstruction after surgery for breast cancer. *New England Journal of Medicine* 2008; 359:1590-1601.
- 24. Dean C, Chetty U and Forrest APM. Effects of Immediate Breast Reconstruction on Psycho-Social Morbidity After Mastectomy. *Lancet* 1983; 1:459-462.
- 25. Elder EE, Brandberg Y, Bjorklund T, Rylander R et al. Quality of life and patient satisfaction in breast cancer patients after immediate breast reconstruction: a prospective study. *Breast* 2005; 14:201-208.

- 26. Nicholson RM, Leinster S and Sassoon EM. A comparison of the cosmetic and psychological outcome of breast reconstruction, breast conserving surgery and mastectomy without reconstruction. *Breast* 2007; 16:396-410.
- 27. Pusic A, Thompson TA, Kerrigan CL, Sargeant R et al. Surgical options for early-stage breast cancer: Factors associated with patient choice and postoperative quality of life. *Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery* 1999; 104:1325-1333.
- 28. Collins KK, Perez M, Schootman M, Aft R and Jeffe DB. Effects of breast cancer surgery and surgical side effects on body image over time. *Breast Cancer Research and Treatment* 2011; 126:263-264.
- 29. Harcourt DM, Rumsey NJ, Ambler NR, Cawthorn SJ et al. The psychological effect of mastectomy with or without breast reconstruction: A prospective, multicenter study. *Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery* 2003; 111:1060-1068.
- 30. Nissen MJ, Swenson KK, Ritz LJ, Farrell JB et al. Quality of life after breast carcinoma surgery A comparison of three surgical procedures. *Cancer* 2001; 91:1238-1246.
- 31. Rowland JH, Desmond KA, Meyerowitz BE, Belin TR et al. Role of breast reconstructive surgery in physical and emotional outcomes among breast cancer survivors. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute* 2000; 92:1422-1429.
- 32. Parker PA, Youssef A, Walker S, Basen-Engquist K et al. Short-term and long-term psychosocial adjustment and quality of life in women undergoing different surgical procedures for breast cancer. *Annals of Surgical Oncology* 2007; 14:3078-3089.
- 33. Bezuhly M, Temple C, Sigurdson LJ, Davis RB et al. Immediate Postmastectomy Reconstruction Is Associated With Improved Breast Cancer-Specific Survival Evidence and New Challenges From the Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results Database. *Cancer* 2009; 115:4648-4654.
- 34. Agarwal J, Agarwal S, Pappas L and Neumayer L. A Population-Based Study of Breast Cancer-Specific Survival Following Mastectomy and Immediate or Early-Delayed Breast Reconstruction. *Breast Journal* 2012; 18:226-232.
- 35. Nelson JA, Nelson P, Tchou J, Serletti JM and Wu LC. The ethnic divide in breast reconstruction: A review of the current literature and directions for future research. *Cancer Treatment Reviews* 2012; 38:362-367.
- 36. Dutch Medical Registration. Kiwa Prismant BV. 2008
- 37. Lindegren A, Halle M, Skogh ACD and Edsander-Nord A. Postmastectomy Breast Reconstruction in the Irradiated Breast: A Comparative Study of DIEP and Latissimus Dorsi Flap Outcome. *Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery* 2012; 130:10-18.
- 38. Zhong T, McCarthy C, Min S, Zhang J et al. Patient satisfaction and health-related quality of life after autologous tissue breast reconstruction. *Cancer* 2012; 118:1701-1709.
- 39. Haekens CM, Enajat M, Keymeulen K and Van der Hulst RRWJ. Self-esteem and patients' satisfaction after deep inferior epigastric perforator flap breast reconstruction. *Plastic surgical nursing : official journal of the American Society of Plastic and Reconstructive Surgical Nurses* 2011; 31:160-166.

- 40. Damen THC, Timman R, Kunst EH, Gopie JP et al. High satisfaction rates in women after DIEP flap breast reconstruction. *Journal of Plastic Reconstructive and Aesthetic Surgery* 2010; 63:93-100.
- 41. Yueh JH, Slavin SA, Adesiyun T, Nyame TT et al. Patient Satisfaction in Postmastectomy Breast Reconstruction: A Comparative Evaluation of DIEP, TRAM, Latissimus Flap, and Implant Techniques. *Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery* 2010; 125:1585-1595.
- 42. Heemskerk-Gerritsen BAM, Brekelmans CTM, Menke-Pluymers MBE, van Geel AN et al. Prophylactic mastectomy in BRCA1/2 mutation carriers and women at risk of hereditary breast cancer: Long-term experiences at the rotterdam family cancer clinic. *Annals of Surgical Oncology* 2007; 14:3335-3344.
- 43. Meijers-Heijboer H, van Geel B, van Putten WLJ, Henzen-Logmans SC et al. Breast cancer after prophylactic bilateral mastectomy in women with a BRCA1 or BRCA2 mutation. *New England Journal of Medicine* 2001; 345:159-164.
- 44. Domchek SM, Friebel TM, Singer CF, Evans DG et al. Association of Risk-Reducing Surgery in BRCA1 or BRCA2 Mutation Carriers With Cancer Risk and Mortality. *Jama-Journal of the American Medical Association* 2010; 304:967-975.
- 45. Heemskerk-Gerritsen BAM, Hooning MJ, Jager A, Tilanus-Linthorst MMA et al. Is riskreducing mastectomy in BRCA1/2 mutation carriers with a history of unilateral breast cancer beneficial with respect to distant disease free survival and overall survival? *Ejc Supplements* 2010; 8:206.
- 46. van Sprundel TC, Schmidt MK, Rookus MA, Brohet R et al. Risk reduction of contralateral breast cancer and survival after contralateral prophylactic mastectomy in BRCA1 or BRCA2 mutation carriers. *Br J Cancer* 2005; 93:287-292.
- 47. Metcalfe KA, Birenbaum-Carmeli D, Lubinski J, Gronwald J et al. International variation in rates of uptake of preventive options in BRCA1 and BRCA2 mutation carriers. *International Journal of Cancer* 2008; 122:2017-2022.
- 48. Brandberg Y, Sandelin K, Erikson S, Jurell G et al. Psychological reactions, quality of life, and body image after bilateral prophylactic mastectomy in women at high risk for breast cancer: A prospective 1-year follow-up study. *Journal of Clinical Oncology* 2008; 26:3943-3949.
- 49. Bresser PJC, Seynaeve C, Van Gool AR, Brekelmans CT et al. Satisfaction with prophylactic mastectomy and breast reconstruction in genetically predisposed women. *Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery* 2006; 117:1675-1682.
- Gahm J, Wickman M and Brandberg Y. Bilateral prophylactic mastectomy in women with inherited risk of breast cancer - Prevalence of pain and discomfort, impact on sexuality, quality of life and feelings of regret two years after surgery. *Breast* 2010; 19:462-469.
- 51. Eldor L and Spiegel A. Breast Reconstruction after Bilateral Prophylactic Mastectomy in Women at High Risk for Breast Cancer. *Breast Journal* 2009; 15:S81-S89.
- 52. Frost MH, Schaid DJ, Sellers TA, Slezak JM et al. Long-term satisfaction and psychological and social function following bilateral prophylactic mastectomy. *Jama-Journal of the American Medical Association* 2000; 284:319-324.

- 53. Geiger AM, Nekhlyudov L, Herrinton LJ, Rolnick SJ et al. Quality of life after bilateral prophylactic mastectomy. *Annals of Surgical Oncology* 2007; 14:686-694.
- 54. Hatcher MB and Fallowfield LJ. A qualitative study looking at the psychosocial implications of bilateral prophylactic mastectomy. *Breast* 2003; 12:1-9.
- 55. McGaughey A. Body image after bilateral prophylactic mastectomy: an integrative literature review. *J Midwifery Womens Health* 2006; 51:e45-e49.
- 56. Payne DK, Biggs C, Tran KN, Borgen PI and Massie MJ. Women's regrets after bilateral prophylactic mastectomy. *Annals of Surgical Oncology* 2000; 7:150-154.
- 57. Matloff ET, Barnett RE and Bober SL. Unraveling the Next Chapter Sexual Development, Body Image, and Sexual Functioning in Female BRCA Carriers. *Cancer Journal* 2009; 15:15-18.
- 58. van Oostrom I, Meijers-Heijboer H, Ladder LN, Duivenvoorden HJ et al. Long-term psychological impact of carrying a BRCA1/2 mutation and prophylactic surgery: A 5-year follow-up study. *Journal of Clinical Oncology* 2003; 21:3867-3874.
- Rijnsburger AJ, Obdeijn IM, Kaas R, Tilanus-Linthorst MMA et al. BRCA1-Associated Breast Cancers Present Differently From BRCA2-Associated and Familial Cases: Long-Term Follow-Up of the Dutch MRISC Screening Study. *Journal of Clinical Oncology* 2010; 28:5265-5273.
- 60. Kriege M, Brekelmans CTM, Boetes C, Besnard PE et al. Efficacy of MRI and mammography for breast-cancer screening in women with a familial or genetic predisposition. *New England Journal of Medicine* 2004; 351:427-437.
- 61. Leach MO, Boggis CRM, Dixon AK, Easton DF et al. Screening with magnetic resonance imaging and mammography of a UK population at high familial risk of breast cancer: a prospective multicentre cohort study (MARIBS). *Lancet* 2005; 365:1769-1778.
- 62. Sardanelli F, Podo F, D'Agnolo G, Verdecchia A et al. Multicenter comparative multimodality surveillance of women at genetic-familial high risk for breast cancer (HIBCRIT study): Interim results. *Radiology* 2007; 242:698-715.
- 63. Warner E, Plewes DB, Hill KA, Causer PA et al. Surveillance of BRCA1 and BRCA2 mutation carriers with magnetic resonance imaging, ultrasound, mammography, and clinical breast examination. *Jama-Journal of the American Medical Association* 2004; 292:1317-1325.
- 64. Weinstein SP, Localio A, Conant EF, Rosen M et al. Multimodality Screening of High-Risk Women: A Prospective Cohort Study. *Journal of Clinical Oncology* 2009; 27:6124-6128.
- 65. Hagen AI, Kvistad KA, Maehle L, Holmen MM et al. Sensitivity of MRI versus conventional screening in the diagnosis of BRCA-associated breast cancer in a national prospective series. *Breast* 2007; 16:367-374.
- 66. Evans DGR, Lalloo F, Ashcroft L, Shenton A et al. Uptake of Risk-Reducing Surgery in Unaffected Women at High Risk of Breast and Ovarian Cancer Is Risk, Age, and Time Dependent. *Cancer Epidemiology Biomarkers & Prevention* 2009; 18:2318-2324.

- 67. Metcalfe KA, Lubinski J, Ghadirian P, Lynch H et al. Predictors of contralateral prophylactic mastectomy in women with a BRCA1 or BRCA2 mutation: The hereditary breast cancer clinical study group. *Journal of Clinical Oncology* 2008; 26:1093-1097.
- Kauff ND, Satagopan JM, Robson ME, Scheuer L et al. Risk-reducing salpingooophorectomy in women with a BRCA1 or BRCA2 mutation. *New England Journal of Medicine* 2002; 346:1609-1615.
- 69. Finch A, Beiner M, Lubinski J, Lynch HT et al. Salpingo-oophorectomy and the risk of ovarian, fallopian tube, and peritoneal cancers in women with a BRCA1 or BRCA2 mutation. *Jama-Journal of the American Medical Association* 2006; 296:185-192.
- 70. Hermsen BBJ, van Diest PJ, Berkhof J, Menko FH et al. Low prevalence of (pre) malignant lesions in the breast and high prevalence in the ovary and fallopian tube in women at hereditary high risk of breast and ovarian cancer. *International Journal of Cancer* 2006; 119:1412-1418.
- 71. Brekelmans CTM, Tilanus-Linthorst MMA, Seynaeve C, Van der Ouweland A et al. Tumour characteristics, survival and prognostic factors of hereditary breast cancer from BRCA2-, BRCA1- and non-BRCA1/2 families as compared to sporadic breast cancer cases. *European Journal of Cancer* 2007; 43:867-876.
- 72. http://www.stoet.nl/uploads/richtlijnenboekje.pdf. Netherlands Foundation for the Detection of Hereditary Tumours (STOET) and the Dutch Society of Clinical Geneticists (VKGN). 2012
- 73. Benshushan A, Rojansky N, Chaviv M, Arbel-Alon S et al. Climacteric symptoms in women undergoing risk-reducing bilateral salpingo-oophorectomy. *Climacteric* 2009; 12:404-409.
- 74. Madalinska JB, Hollenstein J, Bleiker E, van Beurden M et al. Quality-of-life effects of prophylactic salpingo-oophorectomy versus gynecologic screening among women at increased risk of hereditary ovarian cancer. *Journal of Clinical Oncology* 2005; 23:6890-6898.
- Finch A and Narod SA. Quality of life and health status after prophylactic salpingooophorectomy in women who carry a BRCA mutation: A review. *Maturitas* 2011; 70:261-265.
- 76. Petit JY, Rietjens M, Lohsiriwat V, Rey P et al. Update on Breast Reconstruction Techniques and Indications. *World Journal of Surgery* 2012; 36:1486-1497.
- 77. Rosson GD, Magarakis M, Shridharani SM, Stapleton SM et al. A Review of the Surgical Management of Breast Cancer: Plastic Reconstructive Techniques and Timing Implications. *Annals of Surgical Oncology* 2010; 17:1890-1900.
- Singh N, Reaven NL and Funk SE. Immediate 1-stage vs. tissue expander postmastectomy implant breast reconstructions: A retrospective real-world comparison over 18 months. *Journal of Plastic Reconstructive and Aesthetic Surgery* 2012; 65:917-923.
- 79. Maxwell GP. Tansini, Iginio and the Origin of the Latissimus Dorsi Musculocutaneous Flap. *Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery* 1980; 65:686-692.

- 80. Hartrampf CR, Scheflan M and Black PW. Breast Reconstruction with a Transverse Abdominal Island Flap. *Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery* 1982; 69.
- 81. Allen RJ and Tucker C. Superior Gluteal Artery Perforator Free-Flap for Breast Reconstruction. *Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery* 1995; 95:1207-1212.
- Higgins JP, Orlando GS and Blondeel PN. Ischial pressure sore reconstruction using an inferior gluteal artery perforator (IGAP) flap. *British Journal of Plastic Surgery* 2002; 55:83-85.
- 83. Allen RJ and Treece P. Deep Inferior Epigastric Perforator Flap for Breast Reconstruction. Annals of Plastic Surgery 1994; 32:32-38.
- 84. Atisha D, Alderman AK, Lowery JC, Kuhn LE et al. Prospective analysis of long-term psychosocial outcomes in breast reconstruction Two-year postoperative results from the Michigan Breast Reconstruction Outcomes Study. *Annals of Surgery* 2008; 247:1019-1028.
- 85. Christensen BO, Overgaard J, Kettner LO and Damsgaard TE. Long-term evaluation of postmastectomy breast reconstruction. *Acta Oncologica* 2011; 50:1053-1061.
- 86. Tonseth KA, Hokland BM, Tindholdt TT, Abyholm FE and Stavem K. Quality of life, patient satisfaction and cosmetic outcome after breast reconstruction using DIEP flap or expandable breast implant. *Journal of Plastic Reconstructive and Aesthetic Surgery* 2008; 61:1188-1194.
- Wilkins EG, Cederna PS, Lowery JC, Davis JA et al. Prospective analysis of psychosocial outcomes in breast reconstruction: One-year postoperative results from the Michigan Breast Reconstruction Outcome Study. *Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery* 2000; 106:1014-1025.
- 88. Chevray PM. Timing of breast reconstruction: Immediate versus delayed. *Cancer Journal* 2008; 14:223-229.
- 89. Roth RS, Lowery JC, Davis J and Wilkins EG. Quality of life and affective distress in women seeking immediate versus delayed breast reconstruction after mastectomy for breast cancer. *Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery* 2005; 116:993-1002.
- Al-Ghazal SK, Sully L, Fallowfield L and Blamey RW. The psychological impact of immediate rather than delayed breast reconstruction. *European Journal of Surgical Oncology* 2000; 26:17-19.
- 91. Holmich LR, During M, Henriksen TF, Krag C et al. Delayed breast reconstruction with implants after invasive breast cancer does not impair prognosis. *Annals of Plastic Surgery* 2008; 61:11-18.
- 92. Gouy S, Rouzier R, Missana MC, Atallah D et al. Immediate reconstruction after neoadjuvant chemotherapy: Effect on adjuvant treatment starting and survival. *Annals of Surgical Oncology* 2005; 12:161-166.
- 93. Wilson CR, Brown IM, Weiller-Mithoff E, George WD and Doughty JC. Immediate breast reconstruction does not lead to a delay in the delivery of adjuvant chemotherapy. *Ejso* 2004; 30:624-627.

- 94. Alderman AK, Hawley ST, Waljee J, Morrow M and Katz SJ. Correlates of referral practices of general surgeons to plastic surgeons for mastectomy reconstruction. *Cancer* 2007; 109:1715-1720.
- 95. Contant CME, van Wersch AMEA, Wiggers T, Wai RTJ and van Geel AN. Motivations, satisfaction, and information of immediate breast reconstruction following mastectomy. *Patient Education and Counseling* 2000; 40:201-208.
- Handel N, Silverstein MJ, Waisman E and Waisman JR. Reasons Why Mastectomy Patients do Not Have Breast Reconstruction. *Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery* 1990; 86:1118-1122.
- 97. Lee CN, Hultman CS and Sepucha K. What Are Patients' Goals and Concerns About Breast Reconstruction After Mastectomy? *Annals of Plastic Surgery* 2010; 64:567-569.
- 98. Reaby LL. Reasons why women who have mastectomy decide to have or not to have breast reconstruction. *Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery* 1998; 101:1810-1818.
- 99. Shameem H, Yip CH and Fong E. Immediate Breast Reconstruction after Mastectomy - Why do Women Choose this Option? *Asian Pacific J Cancer Prev* 2008; 9:409-412.
- 100. Fallbjork U, Karlsson S, Salander P and Rasmussen BH. Differences between women who have and have not undergone breast reconstruction after mastectomy due to breast cancer. *Acta Oncologica* 2010; 49:174-179.
- 101. Abu-Nab Z and Grunfeld EA. Satisfaction with outcome and attitudes towards scarring among women undergoing breast reconstructive surgery. *Patient Education and Counseling* 2007; 66:243-249.
- 102. Brandberg Y, Malm M, Rutqvist LE, Jonsson E and Blomqvist L. A prospective randomised study (named SVEA) of three methods of delayed breast reconstruction. Study design, patients' preoperative problems and expectations. *Scandinavian Journal of Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery and Hand Surgery* 1999; 33:209-216.
- 103. Sheehan J, Sherman KA, Lam T and Boyages J. Association of information satisfaction, psychological distress and monitoring coping style with post-decision regret following breast reconstruction. *Psycho-Oncology* 2007; 16:342-351.
- 104. Snell L, McCarthy C, Klassen A, Cano S et al. Clarifying the Expectations of Patients Undergoing Implant Breast Reconstruction: A Qualitative Study. *Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery* 2010; 126:1825-1830.
- 105. Matros E, Yueh JH, Bar-Meir ED, Slavin SA et al. Sociodemographics, referral patterns, and internet use for decision-making in microsurgical breast reconstruction. *Plast Reconstr Surg* 2010; 125:1087-1094.
- 106. Berry T, Brooks S, Sydow N, Djohan R et al. Complication rates of radiation on tissue expander and autologous tissue breast reconstruction. *Ann Surg Oncol* 2010; 17:202-210.
- 107. McCarthy CM, Mehrara BJ, Riedel E, Davidge K et al. Predicting complications following expander/implant breast reconstruction: An outcomes analysis based on preoperative clinical risk. *Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery* 2008; 121:1886-1892.

- 108. Sullivan SR, Fletcher DRD, Isom CD and Isik FF. True incidence of all complications following immediate and delayed breast reconstruction. *Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery* 2008; 122:19-28.
- 109. Woerdeman LAE, Hage JJ, Hofland MMI and Rutgers EJT. A prospective assessment of surgical risk factors in 400 cases of skin-sparing mastectomy and immediate breast reconstruction with implants to establish selection criteria. *Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery* 2007; 119:455-463.
- 110. Delgado JF, Garcia-Guilarte RF, Palazuelo MR, Mendez JIS and Perez CC. Immediate Breast Reconstruction with Direct, Anatomic, Gel-Cohesive, Extra-Projection Prosthesis: 400 Cases. *Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery* 2010; 125:1599-1605.
- 111. Hofer SOP, Damen THC, Mureau MAM, Rakhorst HA and Roche NA. A critical review of perioperative complications in 175 free deep inferior epigastric perforator flap breast reconstructions. *Annals of Plastic Surgery* 2007; 59:137-142.
- 112. Chen CM, Halvorson EG, Disa JJ, McCarthy C et al. Immediate postoperative complications in DIEP versus Free/Muscle-Sparing TRAM flaps. *Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery* 2007; 120:1477-1482.
- 113. Blondeel PN. One hundred free DIEP flap breast reconstructions: a personal experience. *British Journal of Plastic Surgery* 1999; 52:104-111.
- 114. Hamdi M, Weiler-Mithoff EM and Webster MHC. Deep inferior epigastric perforator flap in breast reconstruction: Experience with the first 50 flaps. *Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery* 1999; 103:86-95.
- 115. Reefy S, Patani N, Anderson A, Burgoyne G et al. Oncological outcome and patient satisfaction with skin-sparing mastectomy and immediate breast reconstruction: a prospective observational study. *Bmc Cancer* 2010; 10:171-183.
- 116. Christante D, Pommier SJ, Diggs BS, Samuelson BT et al. Using Complications Associated With Postmastectomy Radiation and Immediate Breast Reconstruction to Improve Surgical Decision Making. *Archives of Surgery* 2010; 145:873-878.
- 117. Chew BK, Yip C and Malyon AD. Becker expander implants: Truly a long term single stage reconstruction? *Journal of Plastic Reconstructive and Aesthetic Surgery* 2010; 63:1300-1304.
- 118. Andrade WN, Baxter N and Semple JL. Clinical determinants of patient satisfaction with breast reconstruction. *Plast Reconstr Surg* 2001; 107:46-54.
- 119. Metcalfe KA, Esplen MJ, Goel V and Narod SA. Predictors of quality of life in women with a bilateral prophylactic mastectomy. *Breast J* 2005; 11:65-69.
- 120. Arora NK, Gustafson DH, Hawkins RP, McTavish F et al. Impact of surgery and chemotherapy on the quality of life of younger women with breast carcinoma A prospective study. *Cancer* 2001; 92:1288-1298.
- 121. Avis NE, Crawford S and Manuel J. Psychosocial problems among younger women with breast cancer. *Psycho-Oncology* 2004; 13:295-308.
- 122. Janz NK, Mujahid M, Lantz PM, Fagerlin A et al. Population-based study of the relationship of treatment and sociodemographics on quality of life for early stage breast cancer. *Quality of Life Research* 2005; 14:1467-1479.

- 123. Lantz PM, Janz NK, Fagerlin A, Schwartz K et al. Satisfaction with surgery outcomes and the decision process in a population-based sample of women with breast cancer. *Health Services Research* 2005; 40:745-767.
- 124. Nano MT, Gill PG, Kollias J, Bochner MA et al. Psychological impact and cosmetic outcome of surgical breast cancer strategies. *Anz Journal of Surgery* 2005; 75:940-947.
- 125. Rubino C, Figus A, Lorettu L and Sechi G. Post-mastectomy reconstruction: a comparative analysis on psychosocial and psychopathological outcomes. *Journal of Plastic Reconstructive and Aesthetic Surgery* 2007; 60:509-518.
- 126. Veiga DF, Neto MS, Ferreira LM, Garcia EB et al. Quality of life outcomes after pedicled TRAM flap delayed breast reconstruction. *British Journal of Plastic Surgery* 2004; 57:252-257.
- 127. Fallbjork U, Frejeus E and Rasmussen BH. A preliminary study into women's experiences of undergoing reconstructive surgery after breast cancer. *European journal of oncology nursing : the official journal of European Oncology Nursing Society* 2012; 16:220-226.
- 128. Fang SY, Balneaves LG and Shu BC. "A Struggle Between Vanity and Life" The Experience of Receiving Breast Reconstruction in Women of Taiwan. *Cancer Nursing* 2010; 33:E1-E11.
- 129. McQuirter M, Castiglia LL, Loiselle CG and Wong N. Decision-Making Process of Women Carrying a BRCA1 or BRCA2 Mutation Who Have Chosen Prophylactic Mastectomy. *Oncology Nursing Forum* 2010; 37:313-320.
- 130. Wasteson E, Sandelin K, Brandberg Y, Wickman M and Arver B. High satisfaction rate ten years after bilateral prophylactic mastectomy a longitudinal study. *European Journal of Cancer Care* 2011; 20:508-513.
- 131. Al-Ghazal SK, Fallowfield L and Blamey RW. Does cosmetic outcome from treatment of primary breast cancer influence psychosocial morbidity? *European Journal of Surgical Oncology* 1999; 25:571-573.
- 132. Helms RL, O'Hea EL and Corso M. Body image issues in women with breast cancer. *Psychol Health Med* 2008; 13:313-325.
- 133. Schover LR, Yetman RJ, Tuason LJ, Meisler E et al. Partial Mastectomy and Breast Reconstruction A Comparison of Their Effects on Psychosocial Adjustment, Body-Image, and Sexuality. *Cancer* 1995; 75:54-64.
- 134. Zimmermann T, Scott JL and Heinrichs N. Individual and dyadic predictors of body image in women with breast cancer. *Psycho-Oncology* 2010; 19:1061-1068.
- 135. Mock V. Body-Image in Women Treated for Breast-Cancer. *Nursing Research* 1993; 42:153-157.
- 136. Noyan MA, Sertoz OO, Elbi H, Kayar R and Yilmaz R. Variables affecting patient satisfaction in breast surgery: A cross-sectional sample of Turkish women with breast cancer. *International Journal of Psychiatry in Medicine* 2006; 36:299-313.

- Wellisch DK, Silverstein M, Hoffman R, Handel N et al. Psychosocial Outcomes of Breast-Cancer Therapies - Lumpectomy Versus Mastectomy. *Psychosomatics* 1989; 30:365-373.
- 138. Yurek D, Farrar W and Andersen BL. Breast cancer surgery: Comparing surgical groups and determining individual differences in postoperative sexuality and body change stress. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology* 2000; 68:697-709.
- 139. Zweifler M, Rodriguez E, Reilly J, Lewis T and Glasberg SB. Breast reconstruction among inner city women with breast carcinoma. *Annals of Plastic Surgery* 2001; 47:53-59.
- 140. Fung KW, Lau Y, Fielding R, Or A and Yip AWC. The impact of mastectomy, breastconserving treatment and immediate breast reconstructions on the quality of life of Chinese women. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Surgery* 2001; 71:202-206.
- 141. Nano MT, Gill PG, Kollias J, Bochner MA et al. Qualitative assessment of breast reconstruction in a specialist breast unit. *Anz Journal of Surgery* 2005; 75:445-453.
- 142. Beesley H, Ullmer H, Holcombe C and Salmon P. How patients evaluate breast reconstruction after mastectomy, and why their evaluation often differs from that of their clinicians. *Journal of Plastic Reconstructive and Aesthetic Surgery* 2012; 65:1064-1071.
- 143. Wilmoth MC. The aftermath of breast cancer: An altered sexual self. *Cancer Nursing* 2001; 24:278-286.
- 144. Fobair P, Stewart SL, Chang SB, D'Onofrio C et al. Body image and sexual problems in young women with breast cancer. *Psycho-Oncology* 2006; 15:579-594.
- 145. Meyerowitz BE, Desmond KA, Rowland JH, Wyatt GE and Ganz PA. Sexuality following breast cancer. *Journal of Sex & Marital Therapy* 1999; 25:237-250.
- 146. Speer JJ, Hillenberg B, Sugrue DP, Blacker C et al. Study of sexual functioning determinants in breast cancer survivors. *Breast Journal* 2005; 11:440-447.
- 147. Ganz PA, Rowland JH, Desmond K, Meyerowitz BE and Wyatt GE. Life after breast cancer: Understanding women's health-related quality of life and sexual functioning. *Journal of Clinical Oncology* 1998; 16:501-514.
- 148. Ganz PA, Desmond KA, Belin TR, Meyerowitz BE and Rowland JH. Predictors of sexual health in women after a breast cancer diagnosis. *Journal of Clinical Oncology* 1999; 17:2371-2380.
- Ganz PA, Greendale GA, Petersen L, Kahn B and Bower JE. Breast cancer in younger women: Reproductive and late health effects of treatment. *Journal of Clinical Oncology* 2003; 21:4184-4193.
- 150. Knobf MT. The menopausal symptom experience in young mid-life women with breast cancer. *Cancer Nursing* 2001; 24:201-211.
- 151. Finch A, Beiner M, Lubinski J, Lynch HT et al. Salpingo-oophorectomy and the risk of ovarian, fallopian tube, and peritoneal cancers in women with a BRCA1 or BRCA2 mutation. *Jama-Journal of the American Medical Association* 2006; 296:185-192.

- 152. Fang CY, Cherry C, Devarajan K, Li TY et al. A prospective study of quality of life among women undergoing risk-reducing salpingo-oophorectomy versus gynecologic screening for ovarian cancer. *Gynecologic Oncology* 2009; 112:594-600.
- 153. Archibald S, Lemieux S, Byers ES, Tamlyn K and Worth J. Chemically-induced menopause and the sexual functioning of breast cancer survivors. *Women & Therapy* 2006; 29:83-106.
- 154. Bertero C and Wilmoth MC. Breast cancer diagnosis and its treatment affecting the self A meta-synthesis. *Cancer Nursing* 2007; 30:194-202.
- 155. Garrusi B and Faezee H. How do Iranian women with breast cancer conceptualize sex and body image? *Sexuality and Disability* 2008; 26:159-165.
- 156. Zee B, Huang C, Mak S, Wong J et al. Factors related to sexual health in Chinese women with breast cancer in Hong Kong. *Asia-Pacific Journal of Clinical Oncology* 2008; 4:218-226.
- 157. Alder J, Zanetti R, Wight E, Urech C et al. Sexual dysfunction after premenopausal Stage I and II breast cancer: Do androgens play a role? *Journal of Sexual Medicine* 2008; 5:1898-1906.
- 158. Gilbert E, Ussher JM and Perz J. Renegotiating Sexuality and Intimacy in the Context of Cancer: The Experiences of Carers. *Archives of Sexual Behavior* 2010; 39:998-1009.
- 159. Reaby LL and Hort LK. Postmastectomy Attitudes in Women Who Wear External Breast Prostheses Compared to Those Who Have Undergone Breast Reconstructions. *Journal of Behavioral Medicine* 1995; 18:55-67.
- 160. Guyomard V, Leinster S, Wilkinson M, Servant JM and Pereira J. A Franco-British patients' and partners' satisfaction audit of breast reconstruction. *Journal of Plastic Reconstructive and Aesthetic Surgery* 2009; 62:782-789.
- 161. Fernandes-Taylor S and Bloom JR. Post-treatment regret among young breast cancer survivors. *Psycho-Oncology* 2011; 20:506-516.
- 162. Lloyd SM, Watson M, Oaker G, Sacks N et al. Understanding the experience of prophylactic bilateral mastectomy: A qualitative study of ten women. *Psycho-Oncology* 2000; 9:473-485.
- 163. Bresser PJC, Seynaeve C, Van Gool AR, Brekelmans CTM et al. Long-term satisfaction with bilateral prophylactic mastectomy and immediate breast reconstruction in genetically predisposed women. *Breast Cancer Research and Treatment* 2003; 82:32.
- 164. Bresser PJC, Seynaeve C, Van Gool AR, Niermeijer MF et al. The course of distress in women at increased risk of breast and ovarian cancer due to an (identified) genetic susceptibility who opt for prophylactic mastectomy and/or salpingo-oophorectomy. *European Journal of Cancer* 2007; 43:95-103.
- 165. Bresser PJC, Van Gool AR, Seynaeve C, Duivenvoorden HJ et al. Who is prone to high levels of distress after prophylactic mastectomy and/or salpingo-ovariectomy? *Annals of Oncology* 2007; 18:1641-1645.
- 166. den Heijer M, Vanheusden K, Seynaeve C, Duivenvoorden HJ et al. Distress in partners of high-risk women undergoing breast cancer surveillance. *Journal of Mens Health* 2010; 7:413-419.

- 167. den Heijer M, Seynaeve C, Vanheusden K, Duivenvoorden HJ et al. The contribution of self-esteem and self-concept in psychological distress in women at risk of hereditary breast cancer. *Psycho-Oncology* 2011; 20:1170-1175.
- 168. den Heijer M, Seynaeve C, Vanheusden K, Duivenvoorden HJ et al. Psychological distress in women at risk for hereditary breast cancer: the role of family communication and perceived social support. *Psycho-Oncology* 2011; 20:1317-1323.
- 169. den Heijer M, Seynaeve C, Timman R, Duivenvoorden HJ et al. Body image and psychological distress after prophylactic mastectomy and breast reconstruction in genetically predisposed women: A prospective long-term follow-up study. *European Journal of Cancer* 2012; 48:1263-1268.
- 170. den Heijer M, Vos J, Seynaeve C, Vanheusden K et al. The impact of social and personal resources on psychological distress in women at risk for hereditary breast cancer. *Psycho-Oncology* 2012; 21:153-160.
- 171. Lodder L, Frets PG, Trijsburg RW, Meijers-Heijboer EJ et al. Psychological impact of receiving a BRCA1/BRCA2 test result. *American Journal of Medical Genetics* 2001; 98:15-24.
- 172. Lodder L, Frets PG, Trijsburg RW, Klijn JGM et al. Attitudes and distress levels in women at risk to carry a BRCA1/BRCA2 gene mutation who decline genetic testing. *American Journal of Medical Genetics Part A* 2003; 119A:266-272.
- 173. Lodder LN, Frets PG, Trijsburg RW, Meijers-Heijboer EJ et al. Presymptomatic testing for BRCA1 and BRCA2: how distressing are the pre-test weeks? *Journal of Medical Genetics* 1999; 36:906-913.
- 174. Lodder LN, Frets PG, Trijsburg RW, Meijers-Heijboer EJ et al. Attitudes towards termination of pregnancy in subjects who underwent presymptomatic testing for the BRCA1/BRCA2 gene mutation in The Netherlands. *Journal of Medical Genetics* 2000; 37:883-884.
- 175. Lodder LN, Frets PG, Trijsburg RW, Meijers-Heijboer EJ et al. One year follow-up of women opting for presymptomatic testing for BRCA1 and BRCA2: Emotional impact of the test outcome and decisions on risk management (Surveillance or prophylactic surgery). *Breast Cancer Research and Treatment* 2002; 73:97-112.
- 176. van Dijk S, Otten W, Zoeteweij MW, Timmermans DRM et al. Genetic counselling and the intention to undergo prophylactic mastectomy: Effects of a breast cancer risk assessment. *British Journal of Cancer* 2003; 88:1675-1681.
- 177. van Oostrom I, Meijers-Heijboer H, Duivenvoorden HJ, Brocker-Vriends AHJT et al. Experience of parental cancer in childhood is a risk factor for psychological distress during genetic cancer susceptibility testing. *Annals of Oncology* 2006; 17:1090-1095.
- 178. van Oostrom I, Meijers-Heijboer H, Duiven-Voorden H, Brocker-Vriends AHJT et al. Open family communication and the well-being of individuals opting for genetic cancer susceptibility testing. *Psycho-Oncology* 2006; 15:1039.
- 179. van Oostrom I, Meijers-Heijboer H, Duivenvoorden HJ, Brocker-Vriends AHJT et al. Comparison of individuals opting for BRCA1/2 or HNPCC genetic susceptibility testing with regard to coping, illness perceptions, illness experiences, family system

characteristics and hereditary cancer distress. *Patient Education and Counseling* 2007; 65:58-68.

- van Oostrom I, Meijers-Heijboer H, Duivenvoorden HJ, Brocker-Vriends AHJT et al. Family system characteristics and psychological adjustment to cancer susceptibility genetic testing: a prospective study. *Clinical Genetics* 2007; 71:35-42.
- 181. van Oostrom I, Meijers-Heijboer H, Duivenvoorden HJ, Brocker-Vriends AHJT et al. A prospective study of the impact of genetic susceptibility testing for BRCA1/2 or HNPCC on family relationships. *Psycho-Oncology* 2007; 16:320-328.
- 182. van Oostrom I, Meijers-Heijboer H, Duivenvoorden HJ, Brocker-Vriends AHJT et al. Prognostic factors for hereditary cancer distress six months after BRCA1/2 or HNPCC genetic susceptibility testing. *European Journal of Cancer* 2007; 43:71-77.
- 183. van Oostrom I, Meijers-Heijboer H, Duivenvoorden HJ, Broecker-Vriends AHJT et al. The common sense model of self-regulation and psychological adjustment to predictive genetic testing: a prospective study. *Psycho-Oncology* 2007; 16:1121-1129.

Figure 1. Implant (A) and DIEP flap (B) breast reconstruction

#### Figure 2. Patient inflow



Figure 3. Timing of measurements



# CHAPTER 2 WOMEN'S MOTIVES TO OPT FOR EITHER IMPLANT OR DIEP FLAP BREAST RECONSTRUCTION

J Plast Rec Surg 2011; 64 (8): 1062-1067

Gopie JP, Hilhorst MT, Kleijne A, Timman R, Menke-Pluymers MBE, Hofer SOPH, Mureau MAM, Tibben A


# Abstract

**Objective** Understanding women's motives concerning breast reconstructive surgery will contribute to a better counseling and care for the increasing number of women choosing post mastectomy breast reconstruction (BR).

*Methods* We interviewed 31 women who opted for implant or DIEP flap BR after therapeutic or prophylactic mastectomy. Motives for BR in general and for the selected type of BR were investigated following a phenomenological qualitative research approach.

**Results** Women opting for implant BR were concerned with surgery related issues such as recovery time, number of scars and impact of surgery. They wanted to return to their daily life and restore their body image as soon as possible. Patients choosing DIEP flap BR were more focused on regaining a natural breast and wanted to benefit from the advantages of autologous tissue. Women scheduled for prophylactic mastectomy saw BR as an integral part of their treatment. Patients choosing for BR after therapeutic mastectomy wanted to regain a complete body image with BR.

**Conclusions** Patients' motives for implant BR were primarily related to surgical issues, whereas women who chose DIEP flap BR especially focused on regaining a breast that resembles their own lost breast as good as possible. Clinical variables (such as therapeutic or prophylactic mastectomy, breast irradiation, and waiting lists) need to be taken into account when considering a certain type of BR, as these can be of great importance in the decision making process.

#### Introduction

Body image is an integral component of the self-concept which for women includes a sense of femininity and attractiveness [1;2]. Mastectomy may have a negative effect on body image and may induce sexual problems and loss of womanhood [3]. Fortunately, breast reconstruction (BR) after mastectomy has shown to improve quality of life [4-8]. At present, an increasing number of women opt for BR, although the majority still rejects any form of BR, despite information about the possibility by their physician [9-12].

Several clinical factors contribute to decision making regarding BR, such as treatment (therapeutic or prophylactic mastectomy, history of breast irradiation, timing of BR) and physical characteristics (radiation of breast skin, amount of tissue loss), but also patient preferences play an increasingly important role [13-17].

Women who choose BR tend to be younger, are more likely to be well-educated, Caucasian, wealthy, and married or have a relationship [18]. Most reported reasons for choosing BR are to get rid of the external breast prosthesis, to be able to wear a greater variety of clothes, and to restore feelings of completeness and body integrity. Women who decided to have mastectomy only, considered BR as not essential for their physical and/or emotional wellbeing, were uncertain about the procedure, did not want to undergo more surgery or have any unnatural substance in their body [16;19;20].

BR with foreign material (e.g., silicone implant), autologous tissue (e.g., DIEP flap [21]), or with a combination of both (e.g., latissimus dorsi flap and implant) are presently available. Previous studies on patient satisfaction after BR have shown that in general satisfaction scores after autologous reconstruction were higher compared to following implant reconstruction [22-25].

Physician-patient communication is not always efficient and consequent in the decision making process regarding BR [12;26-28]. For example, discrepancies have been found between patients' preferences and physicians' perspectives,[29] which may result in low satisfaction rates or patients' regret after BR [26;30;31].

In this qualitative study we describe patients' motives to choose either implant or DIEP flap BR. It is important that physicians understand women's motives and integrate women's preferences before giving recommendations, to prevent regret and improve satisfaction after BR. Patients will then receive accurate and personalized information to establish more realistic expectations, which eventually may lead to improved satisfaction.

# Methods

## Participants

Women who participated in a multi-center prospective follow-up questionnaire study on the psychological effects of different types of BR and who also consented to be interviewed were included. They had previously undergone mastectomy or were about to have therapeutic mastectomy for breast cancer (BC) or prophylactic mastectomy (PM) for a highrisk for developing BC. Exclusion criteria were previous BR and poor command of the Dutch language.

We used the method of purposive sampling, the most commonly used form of nonprobabilistic sampling. Sample size relies on the concept of "saturation" or the point at which no new information or themes are observed in the data, which is usually reached within twelve interviews [32].

Patients were approached between December 2007 and January 2009 at six different Dutch hospitals.<sup>1</sup> Ethics approval was obtained from all participating hospitals.

## Implant BR group

Twenty-three women who chose immediate or delayed implant BR (usually preceded by tissue expansion) after (prophylactic) mastectomy, were asked to take part in the interview study. Eighteen women consented to participate (78%) and fifteen were interviewed. Due to logistic problems three women were not interviewed.

## DIEP flap BR group

Twenty-four women who were scheduled for an immediate or delayed DIEP flap BR after (prophylactic) mastectomy were asked to take part in the interview study. Eighteen women consented to participate (75%) and sixteen women were interviewed; the other interviews could not be scheduled due to logistic problems.

## Procedure

A semi-structured interview was developed concerning motivational aspects of the decision making process, containing contextual factors (personal, social and clinical situation), personal views and expectations regarding BR. Examples of open-ended interview questions are: "Which options regarding reconstruction did you consider?"; "Did a specific inducement effect your choice for this type of breast reconstruction and could you describe this?"; "How do you think reconstruction will affect your social functioning?". Examples of structured questions are: "Do you expect changes in your relationship due to the reconstruction?" and "Do you expect reconstruction to influence your self-esteem?". The interview was pilot tested among five women planned for another type of BR or who had previously undergone BR. Refinements to improve clarity were made after feedback of interviewees and interviewers. In addition, patients were asked about their awareness of BR methods using implant or autologous material.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The Leiden University Medical Center, Erasmus MC-University Medical Center in Rotterdam, Erasmus MC-Daniel den Hoed Cancer Center in Rotterdam, Haga Hospital in The Hague, Rijnland Hospital in Leiderdorp and the Lange Land Hospital in Zoetermeer.

An invitation to participate, informed consent, and prepaid envelope were sent before BR. Two weeks later non-respondents were sent a reminder. All consenting patients received the questionnaire (concerning the follow-up study, not incorporated in this study) with a prepaid envelope and were phoned to plan the interview.

All interviews were conducted by a psychologist (JG) and were planned either in a consulting-room at the hospital or at the patients' home, in case they were not able to visit the hospital due to practical reasons.

	Implant BR N = 15	DIEP flap BR N = 16
Mean age at time of interview in years (sd)	44.2 (9.3)	48.5 (8.4)
Partner	14	13
Children	14	15
Children at home	12	8
Education:		
Low	3	2
Intermediate	7	7
High	5	7
Inherited predisposition for BC <sup>a</sup>	10	6
Mastectomy for BC:		
unilateral	4	12
bilateral	0	1
with contralateral PM	5	0
Bilateral PM	6	3
Timing of breast reconstruction:		
Immediate	12	3
Delayed	3	13
Mean BMI (sd)	25.7 (4.6)	27.0 (3.2)
Mean time since BC diagnosis in months (sd)*	35.6 (74.6)	46.6 (30.6)

#### Table 1. Patient characteristics

BR: breast reconstruction; BC: breast cancer; <sup>a</sup>: brca1/brca2/familial risk; PM: prophylactic mastectomy; BMI: body mass index; DIEP: Deep Inferior Epigastric artery Perforator; n\* = only patients with a history of breast cancer: 9 women with implant BR,

13 women with DIEP flap BR

## Data preparation and analysis

All 31 interviews were recorded and transcribed verbatim. Interviews were analyzed using the phenomenological hermeneutical research approach [33]. By repeatedly listening to the interviews and iterative reading of the transcripts (JG, MH), personal and motivational

context concerning the decision-making process of BR were identified. Reported values, norms and expectations were categorized until no new key themes were detected. Saturation was reached after fourteen interviews in the implant group and after eight interviews in the DIEP flap group [32]. Afterwards, all interviews were reviewed to look for any additional significant statements, which were not found. Thematic analysis was performed by three authors who reached consensus (JG, MH, AT). This whole procedure was independently conducted for the interview analysis of both patient groups.

## Results

The interviews were planned on average 16.8 days (range 2 to 65 days) preoperatively and mean interview duration was 54 minutes (range 28 to 111 minutes).

#### Breast reconstruction

Patient characteristics are shown in Table 1. The majority of patients were aware of BR options with implant and autologous material.

In general, similar key themes regarding personal and motivational context of BR were identified: most women reported they wanted to have BR because they found themselves too young to live without breasts. They wanted to avoid wearing an external prosthesis, or wanted to get rid of it. In particular, BR was expected to result in feeling more free and self-confident.

"You're actually like a do-it-yourself kit: wearing contacts, my dentures, my breast – every morning..."

Femininity was also a very important motive to choose BR. Patients stated they would not feel feminine without their breasts. Above all, they felt the need to be 'normal'. The majority of all participants believed that a woman needs to have breasts to feel normal or to have a normal body. Most participants also stated they needed to have their breasts reconstructed because they wanted to be or stay representative in clothing.

## Timing of breast reconstruction

More than half of the women who were about to undergo delayed BR, reported they first wanted to recover from their BC treatment, physically as well as emotionally. Most women planned for immediate BR were not particularly concerned with timing of BR, although few said they preferred immediate BR to move on with their life as soon as possible. For women who were about to undergo PM, timing of BR was not an issue as BR was an integral part of PM.

## Therapeutic or prophylactic mastectomy

Almost all patients who had undergone unilateral therapeutic mastectomy in the past were concerned with the asymmetry of their body. They were very aware of their daily confrontation with mastectomy and felt asymmetry was unacceptable. They expected that BR would make them feel more complete.

Most women who were about to undergo bilateral PM regarded BR as an integral part of the entire treatment. Some of them associated BR itself with the risk reduction for BC and anxiety reduction. Some patients even stated that, if BR would not be possible, they would reconsider undergoing PM.

## Women opting for implant breast reconstruction

Women who opted for implant BR (n=15) were on average 44 years old (28-61 years). Most women were moderately educated and had children at home. Their mean BMI was 25.7 (sd = 4.6). Nine women had a history of BC and six women were about to undergo PM with direct BR. Twelve women in this group were about to undergo immediate BR, while three women were planned for delayed BR (see Table 1).

## Surgical considerations (n=9)

Women opting for implant BR predominantly had a pragmatic approach towards BR and predominantly focused on surgical aspects. They preferred to have a short recovery period and a smaller impact of surgery, since they wanted to regain their daily life as soon as possible.

"To undergo breast reconstruction with bodily material is more complex than implant reconstruction, the recovery period is longer and more intense, and given my social circumstances with three little children... Being out of daily routine for weeks already is inefficient, not to mention a recovery period of months!"

Some women preferred a short anesthesia period and, therefore, decided to have implant BR. In addition, some women were told that they had insufficient bodily tissue to undergo autologous BR, so implant BR was the most appropriate option.

# Aesthetics (n=8)

Some women believed they would obtain the best aesthetic result by opting for implant BR. They were concerned about the number of scars on their body and definitely did not want to get donor site scars, which resulted in their preference for implant BR.

# Women opting for DIEP flap breast reconstruction

Women who choose DIEP flap BR (n=16) were on average 48 years old (32-59 years) and most were moderately to well educated. Their mean BMI was 27.0 (sd = 3.2). Half of the group had children at home. Thirteen women had a history of BC and were planned for delayed reconstruction. Three women were planned for prophylactic surgery followed by immediate reconstruction (see Table 1).

# Surgical considerations (n=14)

Participants felt the complication risk after DIEP flap BR was the lowest compared to other BR types. They often rated the complication risk of implant BR to be much higher than DIEP flap BR. Moreover, they felt DIEP flap surgery would offer long-term benefits compared to the use of implants, because the latter would require future revision operations for capsular contracture or implant malpositioning. Some women felt DIEP flap BR would offer an additional advantage: they would benefit from an abdominoplasty during the same operation. Finally, a few women stated implant BR was contraindicated due to previous radiation therapy.

"I'm a bit frightened when I think about implants. Imagine you'll have bad luck... You sometimes hear about leaking silicones or capsular contracture. Then, after a year, the breast has to be opened again, or maybe already after some months. So I think, well... a DIEP flap feels safer to me."

# Aesthetics (n=14)

The majority expected a DIEP flap BR to give the best result. In particular, they preferred a new breast reconstructed with their own tissue that would feel soft and look natural. In addition, patients anticipated that such a reconstructed breast would sag just like their own contralateral breast, in contrast to a breast reconstructed with an implant. One woman illustrated this as follows:

"With silicones, at the age of 80 - if I get to make it (...) - then I'd probably end up with one pretty breast, while the other would be hanging down like a teabag. That would be no good!"

# Sexuality (n=4)

Some women who had BC hoped DIEP flap BR would improve the sexual relationship with their partner. Since mastectomy they had experienced serious problems in their intimate relationship and felt BR would help and make them feel more confident in their sexual contacts. In addition, some of them indicated that their partners had problems with mastectomy and, consequently, their sexual activity had reduced significantly.

"Our sexual activity declined... It's just... it's just not happening! If we have had sex three times in one year, it's a lot!"

# Discussion

The main goal of the current study was to explore motives for choosing specific types of BR after therapeutic as well as PM. Motives for choosing BR in general were consistent with previous findings [16;19;20]. The most mentioned reasons to choose BR were feeling too young to live without breasts, wanting to avoid an external prosthesis, and wishing to feel feminine and self-confident. Regarding the decision making process of the specific type of BR, it remains difficult to distinguish between clinical and motivational aspects and to

discriminate their influence. Although this suggests heterogeneity of our patient groups, we feel this is representative for the Dutch patient population, as we recruited patients from different hospitals in the Netherlands.

Women who opted for DIEP flap BR focused on *aesthetic outcome*, such as gaining a natural breast that would resemble their own breast most. Women in the implant group reported more *surgery related* considerations, such as a shorter recovery period. However, total recovery time for two-stage implant procedures might actually be longer than after one-stage autologous BR, without patients realizing this.

Contrary to patients from the DIEP flap group, no women from the implant group expressed the specific desire to improve sexuality or their relationship. This can be explained by the fact that the majority of them were planned for immediate BR, and had not experienced the consequences of mastectomy on their sexual functioning.

The majority of the delayed BR patients opted for a DIEP flap reconstruction. They possibly chose a more sophisticated BR type with a better chance for a more natural result, because they had lived some time with an asymmetrical thorax. They had experienced the daily confrontation with mastectomy and its effect on their sexual relationships as well as on clothing limitations. Also, they had had more time to obtain information and consider all their reconstructive options. Another motive could have been the beneficial abdominoplasty effect of a DIEP flap procedure after closure of the donor site, as on average these women were older and slightly heavier than women from the implant group. However, as additional donor site scarring was seen as a disadvantage for some women opting for implant BR, abdominoplasty might as well be a contra-motive in the decision for the type of BR.

Decision making and information needs vary distinctly between women with BC diagnosis and those opting for PM. Women who are about to undergo therapeutic mastectomy followed by immediate BR often are in an "emotional roller coaster" at the time of decision making. They primarily need to undergo cancer treatment, and additionally have to consider BR, which may be secondary. Therefore, these women may be more concerned with surgery related considerations such as quick recovery and returning to daily routine.

Patients with prophylactic mastectomy generally choose for BR, in contrast to a considerably lower number of breast cancer patients [9-12;34]. Feelings of isolation may emerge as women can experience counterproductive reactions after telling others they opted for PM [35]. Most PM patients saw BR as an inclusive part of the prophylactic treatment which is most likely related to the information they preoperatively receive. All our patients are offered BR as an integral part of PM. Our PM patients predominantly chose implant BR, which is generally the reconstruction type performed after immediate bilateral PM [36]. Furthermore, women opting for prophylaxis are younger and often have young children at home. Therefore, it is sensible that they focus on practical aspects of surgery, such as short recovery time.

In hospitals where certain techniques are unavailable, patient information is likely to focus on available methods, like implant BR which is an attainable, relatively simple, and cheap method. DIEP flap BR was performed in only two of the participating hospitals at the time of patient inclusion, therefore not all patients may have had the information and the possibility to undergo DIEP flap BR. In particular, immediate DIEP flap BR is complicated due to logistic factors, such as long waiting lists. However, ideally pre-operative patient information should be similar for all patients, regardless of mastectomy indication or timing of BR.

Other clinical factors may contribute to the decision making for BR type, such as previous radiation therapy precluding implants as this leads to more capsular contraction, or (un)availability of donor tissue for autologous BR.

From a psychological perspective, cognitive dissonance may have played a role in patients' attitude towards their selected BR type [37]. Patients could have tended to justify their decision as surgery was already planned and there was nearly a point of no return. However, due to the interviews explorative character it is improbable this was of significance.

Finally, future quantitative studies including larger patient groups, matched for clinical characteristics are recommended to validate this qualitative study. Questionnaires could be developed based on the topics discussed, including the role of clinical characteristics in the decision-making process, which should not be underestimated.

In conclusion, some BR patients are more concerned with surgery related aspects, while others have specific desires concerning aesthetic outcome. Mastectomy indication and timing of BR seem to be predominant factors in deciding for a specific type of BR. Delaying BR gives women more time to consider their reconstructive options. However, the optimal timing of BR also depends on clinical factors, such as complication risk [38].

Clinical implications include the need for plastic surgeons to explicitly ask patients who opt for immediate reconstruction whether they want their breasts reconstructed with implants or autologous tissue and inform them about all possibilities. If patients prefer autologous techniques, reconstruction might be delayed due to waiting lists. Also, if patients doubt their choice for BR or its timing, reconstructive surgeons might advise delayed BR or further clarify possible unrealistic expectations. In addition, since certain patients may need more information concerning psychosocial aspects of BR, breast-care nurses should be structurally involved in the decision making process as they can play an important role in information provision [39]. To gain ultimate satisfaction with BR, it is important to provide clear pre-operative information and to consider patient preferences and needs seriously [13;26;30;31].

**Acknowledgments:** This study was funded by the Dutch Cancer Society (UL 2007-3726). We thank all participants, the plastic surgeons G. K. van Drunen, J. F. A. van der Werff, J. Zguricas, N. A. S. Posch and M. J. I. Braam, their personal assistants S. M. van der Kroft-Mieog, I. Velders and E. Alblas-Groeneveld, and nurse practitioner E. M. M. Krol-Warmerdam for referring potential candidates for the study to us.

# References

- 1. Hopwood P. The Assessment of Body-Image in Cancer-Patients. *European Journal of Cancer* 1993; 29A:276-281.
- 2. White CA. Body image dimensions and cancer: A heuristic cognitive behavioural model. *Psycho-Oncology* 2000; 9:183-192.
- 3. Manderson L and Stirling L. The absent breast: Speaking of the mastectomied body. *Feminism & Psychology* 2007; 17:75-92.
- 4. Al-Ghazal SK, Sully L, Fallowfield L and Blamey RW. The psychological impact of immediate rather than delayed breast reconstruction. *European Journal of Surgical Oncology* 2000; 26:17-19.
- Cocquyt VF, Blondeel P, Depypere HT, Van De Sijpe KA et al. Better cosmetic results and comparable quality of life after skin-sparing mastectomy and immediate autologous breast reconstruction compared to breast conservative treatment. *British Journal of Plastic Surgery* 2003; 56:462-470.
- Rowland JH, Holland JC, Chaglassian T and Kinne D. Psychological Response to Breast Reconstruction - Expectations for and Impact on Postmastectomy Functioning. *Psychosomatics* 1993; 34:241-250.
- 7. Al Ghazal SK, Fallowfield L and Blamey RW. Comparison of psychological aspects and patient satisfaction following breast conserving surgery, simple mastectomy and breast reconstruction. *Eur J Cancer* 2000; 36:1938-1943.
- 8. Wilkins EG, Cederna PS, Lowery JC, Davis JA et al. Prospective analysis of psychosocial outcomes in breast reconstruction: one-year postoperative results from the Michigan Breast Reconstruction Outcome Study. *Plast Reconstr Surg* 2000; 106:1014-1025.
- 9. Christian CK, Niland J, Edge SB, Ottesen RA et al. A multi-institutional analysis of the socioeconomic determinants of breast reconstruction A study of the National Comprehensive Cancer Network. *Annals of Surgery* 2006; 243:241-249.
- 10. Morrow M, Mujahid M, Lantz PM, Janz NK et al. Correlates of breast reconstruction -Results from a population-based study. *Cancer* 2005; 104:2340-2346.
- 11. Polednak AP. How frequent is postmastectomy breast reconstructive surgery? A study linking two statewide databases. *Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery* 2001; 108:73-77.
- 12. Chen JY, Malin J, Ganz PA, Ko C et al. Variation in Physician-patient Discussion of Breast Reconstruction. *Journal of General Internal Medicine* 2009; 24:99-104.
- 13. Contant CME, van Wersch AMEA, Wiggers T, Wai RTJ and van Geel AN. Motivations, satisfaction, and information of immediate breast reconstruction following mastectomy. *Patient Education and Counseling* 2000; 40:201-208.
- 14. Eldor L and Spiegel A. Breast Reconstruction after Bilateral Prophylactic Mastectomy in Women at High Risk for Breast Cancer. *Breast Journal* 2009; 15:S81-S89.
- 15. Lee CN, Hultman CS and Sepucha K. What Are Patients' Goals and Concerns About Breast Reconstruction After Mastectomy? *Annals of Plastic Surgery* 2010; 64:567-569.
- 16. Reaby LL. Reasons why women who have mastectomy decide to have or not to have breast reconstruction. *Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery* 1998; 101:1810-1818.

- 17. Rosson GD, Magarakis M, Shridharani SM, Stapleton SM et al. A Review of the Surgical Management of Breast Cancer: Plastic Reconstructive Techniques and Timing Implications. *Annals of Surgical Oncology* 2010; 17:1890-1900.
- 18. Rowland JH, Desmond KA, Meyerowitz BE, Belin TR et al. Role of breast reconstructive surgery in physical and emotional outcomes among breast cancer survivors. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute* 2000; 92:1422-1429.
- 19. Handel N, Silverstein MJ, Waisman E and Waisman JR. Reasons Why Mastectomy Patients do Not Have Breast Reconstruction. *Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery* 1990; 86:1118-1122.
- 20. Shameem H, Yip CH and Fong E. Immediate Breast Reconstruction after Mastectomy -Why do Women Choose this Option? *Asian Pacific J Cancer Prev* 2008; 9:409-412.
- 21. Allen RJ and Treece P. Deep Inferior Epigastric Perforator Flap for Breast Reconstruction. Annals of Plastic Surgery 1994; 32:32-38.
- 22. Bresser PJC, Seynaeve C, Van Gool AR, Brekelmans CT et al. Satisfaction with prophylactic mastectomy and breast reconstruction in genetically predisposed women. *Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery* 2006; 117:1675-1682.
- 23. Damen THC, Timman R, Kunst EH, Gopie JP et al. High satisfaction rates in women after DIEP flap breast reconstruction. *Journal of Plastic Reconstructive and Aesthetic Surgery* 2010; 63:93-100.
- 24. Visser NJ, Damen THC, Timman R, Hofer SOP and Mureau MAM. Surgical Results, Aesthetic Outcome, and Patient Satisfaction after Microsurgical Autologous Breast Reconstruction following Failed Implant Reconstruction. *Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery* 2010; 126:26-36.
- 25. Yueh JH, Slavin SA, Adesiyun T, Nyame TT et al. Patient Satisfaction in Postmastectomy Breast Reconstruction: A Comparative Evaluation of DIEP, TRAM, Latissimus Flap, and Implant Techniques. *Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery* 2010; 125:1585-1595.
- 26. Abu-Nab Z and Grunfeld EA. Satisfaction with outcome and attitudes towards scarring among women undergoing breast reconstructive surgery. *Patient Education and Counseling* 2007; 66:243-249.
- 27. Alderman AK, Hawley ST, Waijee J, Mujahid M et al. Understanding the impact of breast reconstruction on the surgical decision-making process for breast cancer. *Cancer* 2008; 112:489-494.
- 28. Maly RC, Liu YH, Kwong E, Thind A and Diamant AL. Breast Reconstructive Surgery in Medically Underserved Women With Breast Cancer The Role of Patient-Physician Communication. *Cancer* 2009; 115:4819-4827.
- 29. Lee CN, Hultman CS and Sepucha K. Do Patients and Providers Agree About the Most Important Facts and Goals for Breast Reconstruction Decisions? *Annals of Plastic Surgery* 2010; 64:563-566.
- 30. Rolnick SJ, Altschuler A, Nekhlyudov L, Elmore JG et al. What women wish they knew before prophylactic mastectomy. *Cancer Nursing* 2007; 30:285-291.

- 31. Sheehan J, Sherman KA, Lam T and Boyages J. Association of information satisfaction, psychological distress and monitoring coping style with post-decision regret following breast reconstruction. *Psycho-Oncology* 2007; 16:342-351.
- 32. Guest G, Bunce A and Johnson L. How many interviews are enough? An experiment with data saturation and variability. *Field Methods* 2006; 18:59-82.
- 33. Lindseth A and Norberg A. A phenomenological hermeneutical method for researching lived experience. *Scandinavian Journal of Caring Sciences* 2004; 18:145-153.
- 34. Heemskerk-Gerritsen BAM, Brekelmans CTM, Menke-Pluymers MBE, van Geel AN et al. Prophylactic mastectomy in BRCA1/2 mutation carriers and women at risk of hereditary breast cancer: Long-term experiences at the rotterdam family cancer clinic. Annals of Surgical Oncology 2007; 14:3335-3344.
- 35. Lloyd SM, Watson M, Oaker G, Sacks N et al. Understanding the experience of prophylactic bilateral mastectomy: A qualitative study of ten women. *Psycho-Oncology* 2000; 9:473-485.
- 36. Beahm EK and Walton RL. Issues, Considerations, and Trends in Bilateral Breast Reconstruction. *Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery* 2009; 124:1064-1076.
- 37. Festinger, L. A theory of cognitive dissonance. Stanford CA: Stanford University Press, 1957.
- 38. Chevray PM. Timing of breast reconstruction: Immediate versus delayed. *Cancer Journal* 2008; 14:223-229.
- 39. Wolf L. The information needs of women who have undergone breast reconstruction. Part I: decision-making and sources of information. *Eur J Oncol Nurs* 2004; 8:211-223.

#### ADDENDUM CHAPTER 2

#### The decision not to undergo breast reconstruction

For reasons of comparison we invited 18 women who had undergone mastectomy without receiving breast reconstruction, to take part in the interview study to form the 'mastectomy only group'. Sixteen were treated for breast cancer in the LUMC in 2005 and 2006, and one woman had mastectomy at the EMCR. Fifteen women (83%) consented to participate. Fourteen interviews were used for the study as one interview was excluded from analyses as the quality of the audio-tape was insufficient for transcription.

Women in the mastectomy only group were on average older than women in the reconstruction groups. All had unilateral mastectomy and none of them underwent prophylactic surgery (Table 1).

Table 2 shows the motivations against breast reconstruction reported by the women in the mastectomy only group. Seven women said they felt too old to choose for reconstruction. One woman clearly stated: *"No, that would be foolish. (...). I cannot afford that, can I? At my age, I don't want to exhaust myself with things that are not really necessary, do I?!*".

Most women in this group accepted the loss of the breast and experienced no significant impairment of the mastectomy and therefore refrained from having reconstruction. Six women felt that their health and/or the emotional recovery from the breast cancer treatment were more important than the aesthetical loss. Four women stated they had other priorities than undergoing reconstruction, such as another chronic disease that required attention or the feeling that the expected end result would not outweigh the investment in reconstruction. Three women felt that they were not able to undergo reconstruction, because they had to take care of young children, a partner or a pet.

Several surgical specific aspects of reconstruction appeared to be important reasons not to opt for breast reconstruction. Ten women stated they did not want any more surgery. Eight women perceived the complication risk of reconstruction as too high. Other specific considerations were 'don't want the burden of the recovery', 'not being impressed by cosmetic end result' and 'don't want any (more) scars'.

One woman emphasized her opinion regarding the end result of reconstruction: "I've never seen an impressive breast reconstruction. I find it hideous. I don't know what it is, but they are frayed, lumpy and not evenly formed. It is not something that belongs to a woman's body, to my opinion."

The professional's advice was decisive for four women and two women stated they did not choose for reconstruction because their partner did not support this.

Three women explained they were not physically or mentally ready (yet) for reconstruction. They wanted to recover from their BC treatment first or stated they were just not ready yet to decide about reconstruction.

## Discussion

The three patient groups differed significantly in 'age', 'mastectomy as treatment for BC or as prophylactic surgery' and 'laterality'. These demographic and medical variables can (partly) explain the choices that have been made.

Age appeared to be an important factor in the decision for reconstruction, which is consistent with earlier findings [1-3]. Some women found themselves too old to undergo reconstruction, whereas others found themselves too young to go through life without breasts. Undergoing prophylactic surgery is often related to age, as women with a high-risk for developing breast cancer, need to decide at a young age whether they want to undergo prophylactic surgery to protect themselves against the development of breast cancer. In addition, breast reconstruction is generally offered as an integral part of prophylactic mastectomy. The demographic and clinical differences might therefore also be related to the surgical options available at the hospitals (i.e., surgeon's expertise, operation time available, waiting lists) which determines or might limit reconstructive options.

Women who decided against reconstruction refer to a variety of considerations, for example: no more operations, accepted loss of breasts and loyalty to a partner. These women seem to take a broader perspective, in which they also refer to other values, relevant for the quality of their lives. In contrast, those who opt for reconstruction underline more specific considerations, directly related to their expectations of the reconstruction in cosmetic, psychological and practical respect, which is consistent with previous studies [2;3].

The large variation in medical demographic characteristics between the three patient groups, hinders an explicit comparison of the motivational aspects, although it is known that women who decide against reconstruction are older than women who opt in favor of it [4].

Another factor restricting a direct comparison was that women in the reconstruction groups were interviewed preoperatively, while women in the mastectomy only group were interviewed after the operation. Future designs should try to match their patient groups on these variables.

It is important to note that not all women have reflected on all reconstruction options (the whole range). Some options may not have been available to them for medical reasons, may not have been offered to them by their centre or were not discussed with their doctor, whereas other women were only motivated to realize their preferred option, while neglecting other possibilities.

In conclusion, some patients focus more on practical, cosmetic aspects of the surgery, while others focus more on the psychosocial consequences of the reconstruction (type). This is an essential implication for the clinical practice: some patients might need more information concerning the psychosocial consequences of the breast reconstruction, in addition to the information provision about surgical aspects. Patients should be well informed about their reconstruction possibilities and about its consequences so they can make a well-informed decision.

# References

- Handel N, Silverstein MJ, Waisman E and Waisman JR. Reasons Why Mastectomy Patients do Not Have Breast Reconstruction. *Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery* 1990; 86:1118-1122.
- 2. Reaby LL. Reasons why women who have mastectomy decide to have or not to have breast reconstruction. *Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery* 1998; 101:1810-1818.
- 3. Shameem H, Yip CH and Fong E. Immediate Breast Reconstruction after Mastectomy -Why do Women Choose this Option? *Asian Pacific J Cancer Prev* 2008; 9:409-412.
- 4. Rowland JH, Desmond KA, Meyerowitz BE, Belin TR et al. Role of breast reconstructive surgery in physical and emotional outcomes among breast cancer survivors. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute* 2000; 92:1422-1429.

Table 1. Participants characteristics						
		Brea	st Reconstruction		No Breast Reco	nstruction
	I	Implant group	DIEP flap group	<i>p</i> Value*	Mastectomy only group	<i>p</i> Value*
	I	n = 15 (%)	n = 16 (%)		n = 14 (%)	
Age at time of interview (yr)	Mean (sd)	44.24 (9.33)	48.53 (8.42)	.189**	57.93 (9.44)	.001**
Partner	yes	14 (93.3)	13 (81.2)	.600	12 (85.7)	1.000
Children	yes	14 (93.3)	15 (93.8)	1.000	12 (85.7)	.578
Children at home	yes	12 (80.0)	8 (50.0)	.135	6 (42.9)	.206
Education	low	3 (20.0)	2 (12.5)		4 (28.6)	
	intermediate	7 (46.7)	7 (43.8)		4 (28.6)	
	high	5 (33.3)	7 (43.8)	.492β	6 (42.9)	.812β
Mastectomy for treatment for BC	yes	4 (26.7)	13 (81.2)	.004	14 (100.0)	.002
Mastectomy both as treatment for BC and as prophylactic surgery	yes	5 (33.3)	0 (0.0)	.018	0 (0.0)	.305
Mastectomy as prophylactic surgery	yes	6 (40.0)	3 (18.8)	.252	0 (0.0)	.040
Timing of breast reconstruction	immediate	12 (80.0)	3 (18.8)		I	
	delayed	3 (20.0)	13 (81.2)	.001	I	
Laterality	unilateral	4 (26.7)	12 (75.0)		14 (100.0)	
	bilateral	11 (73.3)	4 (25.0)	.012	0 (0.0)	.001
Weight	Mean (sd)	73.27 (15.85)	78.06 (11.45)	.340**	69.00 (8.07)	.116β
BMI	Mean (sd)	25.71 (4.59)	26.96 (3.18)	.386**	24.60 (3.52)	.158**
Time elapsed since diagnosis (months)***	Mean (sd)	35.57 (74.64)	46.56 (30.57)	.018β	35.57 (14.80)	.721β

	Breast	t Reconstruction		No Breast Reco	nstruction
	Implant group	DIEP flap group	<i>p</i> Value*	Mastectomy only group	<i>p</i> Value*
	n = 15 (%)	n = 16 (%)		n = 14 (%)	
Chemotherapy***	4 (40.0)	10 (76.9)	.102	9 (64.3)	1.000
Radio therapy***	4 (40.0)	6 (46.2)	1.000	4 (28.6)	.491
Hormonal therapy***	2 (20.0)	9 (69.2)	.036	7 (50.0)	1.000
BC: breast cancer; BMI: body mass index; DIEP: Dee	ep Inferior Epigastric artery P	Perforator			

\* Fisher's exact test unless otherwise indicated; \*\* student t-test;  $\beta$  Mann-Whitney test, sig at .05.

\*\*\* N = only patients with a history of breast cancer: Implant group: 9; DIEP flap group: 13; Mastectomy only group: 14.

	n = 14 (%)
Being too old	7 (50.0)
Situation or loss of breast is accepted	8 (57.1)
Aesthetics are subordinate to health and inner growth	6 (42.9)
Having other priorities than BR	4 (28.6)
Feeling limited by personal/social situation	3 (21.4)
Don't want more operations	10 (71.4)
Complication risk is too high	8 (57.1)
Don't want burden of recovery (period)	4 (28.6)
Not being impressed by BR	4 (28.6)
Don't want any (more) scars	2 (14.3)
No support professional	4 (28.6)
No encouragement partner	2 (14.3)
Not being physically or mentally ready (yet) for BR	3 (21.4)
BR: breast reconstruction	

# Table 2. Women's motivations to opt for mastectomy without breast reconstruction

# CHAPTER 3 INFORMATION SEEKING BEHAVIOR AND COPING STYLE OF WOMEN CHOOSING FOR EITHER IMPLANT OR DIEP FLAP BREAST RECONSTRUCTION

J Plast Rec Surg 2011; 64 (9): 1167-1173

Gopie JP, Timman R, Hilhorst MT, Hofer SOPH, Mureau MAM, Tibben A



# Abstract

**Background** High satisfaction rates have been reported after autologous breast reconstruction. Yet, most mastectomy patients receive implant reconstructions (ImBR). Independent and active decision-makers have shown mainly to choose for autologous reconstructions such as the DIEP flap (DiepBR). To further explore the decision-making to opt for either ImBR or DiepBR, we investigated patient knowledge, informational resources used, effect of plastic surgeons' advice, coping style and personal independence.

**Methods** A total of 153 women who were planned for DiepBR or ImBR preoperatively completed a study-specific and standardized validated psychological questionnaire. Analyses were aimed at information seeking behavior, personal independence and coping styles associated with autonomous decision-making regarding reconstruction.

**Results** DiepBR women reported different informational resources to be very important and they were more active information seekers, compared to ImBR women. ImBR women found their physician's advice to be more important in their decision-making than DiepBR women. Actively seeking for information regarding BR was positively correlated with active coping, sensitivity to others and the decision for DiepBR.

**Conclusions** Women opting for DiepBR were more active and independent in their decisionmaking regarding the type of BR. Women opting for ImBR seemed less well-informed and more dependent on their physician in their decision compared to women opting for DiepBR. To undergo a complex type of BR, active and independent information seeking may be required. However, clinical and logistic characteristics need to be considered as some patients were limited in their reconstruction options.

## Introduction

The number of patients opting for breast reconstruction (BR) increases [1-3]. In general, three types of BR are possible: BR using implants, autologous tissue, or a combination of both. In particular, an increasing number of patients choose microsurgical BR methods with autologous tissue, such as the Deep Inferior Epigastric artery Perforator (DIEP) flap in which the lower abdomen is used to reconstruct a breast [4;5]. These patients report higher satisfaction rates compared to women with implant BR [6-9]. However, the majority of patients opting for BR still receives implant BR [10-14].

Previous studies have shown that women who chose BR compared to those not opting for BR tended to be younger, better educated, more often Caucasian, wealthier and more often married or in a relationship [15-18]. The decision for the type of BR can be influenced by different factors such as surgeon's preferences and expertise, treatment characteristics (therapeutic or prophylactic indication for mastectomy, timing of BR) and patient characteristics [16;19-24]. Up to now only a few studies have specifically focused on the decision-making regarding the *type* of BR and personal processes involved [4;22;25]. Recently, a study showed that women who underwent microsurgical BR were likely to be older, independent and active decision-makers compared to women who underwent non-microsurgical BR [25].

Previous studies regarding BR have shown that a lack of information and unrealistic expectations regarding the outcome were associated with regret or low satisfaction rates with the end result of BR [9;20;26-28]. However, these studies were conducted after BR. Hence, the level of satisfaction with the result may have biased the recall of information provision. Others investigated coping style post-operatively and its relationship to regret post-surgery. They found that a passive coping style was correlated with post-decisional regret following BR [28]. Currently, no studies have explored the relationship between coping styles and the decision for the type of BR pre-operatively. An active coping style and personal independency regarding BR decision-making can result in women who actively seek for information. Consequently, they have the opportunity to form realistic expectations regarding the outcome, which ultimately may increase patient satisfaction and reduce regret.

In the present study information seeking behavior was explored pre-operatively in relation to coping styles and independent decision-making in women opting for either implant or DIEP flap breast reconstruction.

# **Patients and Methods**

## Patients

This study is part of a multi-centred prospective follow-up study on the psychological impact of two types of BR. Participants were women who opted for reconstruction after unilateral therapeutic mastectomy or after unilateral therapeutic mastectomy combined with contralateral prophylactic mastectomy (CPM). Reconstructions were either implant or DIEP flap based. All patients consented to participate in the study.

Exclusion criteria were a BR in the past and not being able to understand and speak the Dutch language sufficiently. Women who did not consent or who did not react two weeks after the invitation were considered as non-respondents. Patients were approached between December 2007 and May 2010 at the Leiden University Medical Center (LUMC), Erasmus Medical Center Rotterdam (EMCR), Daniel den Hoed Cancer Center, Haga Teaching Hospital (Haga), Rijnland Hospital Leiderdorp, the Lange Land Hospital, Hospital Walcheren, Oosterschelde Hospital and at the Hospital Zorgsaam. Ethics approval was obtained from all participating hospitals.

#### Implant BR

All 96 patients who were planned for implant BR (usually preceded by tissue expansion) were invited to participate in the study. Fifteen women did not respond, 10 patients declined and 71 women consented to participate (74.0%).

#### DIEP flap BR

All 101 women who were scheduled for a DIEP flap BR were asked to take part in the study. Seven women did not respond, 12 patients declined and 82 women consented to participate (81.2%).

#### Procedure

In the preoperative phase, an invitation letter explaining the procedure and purpose of the study, an informed consent, and a prepaid envelope were sent to all women on the BR waiting lists of the participating hospitals. A reminder letter was sent if patients did not respond within two weeks. They were contacted by phone if surgery was planned on short term. Patients, who returned informed consent, received a questionnaire including a range of demographic, clinical and psychosocial items which they were requested to fill in preoperatively. Patient reported clinical data were confirmed by medical records.

#### Questionnaires

Demographic information (e.g. age, having a partner or children (at home), educational level), and clinical data (e.g. indication for mastectomy, body mass index (BMI)) were collected. The latter were confirmed by checking medical records.

## Information provision

Preoperative information seeking behavior concerning BR was measured with a study specific-questionnaire. Fourteen questions were developed to investigate the following aspects (Table 3): a) knowledge regarding BR options (items 1,2); b) different informational resources (items 3-8); c) general quality of information (items 9,10); d) activity level of information seeking (item 12) and e) independency of decision-making (items 11,13,14).

Questions 1 and 2 could be answered with "yes" or "no". Items 3 to 8 were rated on a five-point Likert scale ranging from 1 "not at all" to 5 "very much", where a higher score

indicates a greater use of the concerning resource. Questions 9 to 14 were rated on a fivepoint Likert scale ranging from 1 "totally disagree" to 5 "totally agree".

## Autonomy

The Autonomy Connectedness Scale – 30 (ACS-30) [29] was used to assess different aspects of personal independence or autonomy and is a shortened version of the original questionnaire containing 50 items [30]. The ACS-30 consists of three subscales: Self-Awareness (SA, 7 items); Sensitivity to Others (SO, 17 items) and Capacity for Managing New Situations (CMNS, 6 items). Items can be scored on a 5-point scale from 1 "disagree" to 5 "agree". Reported reliability and validity of the ACS-30 are good [29]. The concept of autonomy is used in this study to indicate the extent to which women are capable of making an independent decision concerning BR.

## Coping

The Utrecht Coping List (UCL) [31] was used to assess seven coping strategies: Active Coping (AC, 7 items); Palliative Reaction Pattern (PL, 8 items); Avoidance and Awaiting (AA, 8 items); Seeking Social Support (SS, 6 items); Passive Reaction Pattern (PS, 7 items); Expressing Emotions (EE, 3 items) and Comforting Thoughts (CT, 5 items). Answers could be rated on a 4-point scale from 1 "seldom or never" to 4 "very often". A higher score reflects more use of the concerning coping strategy. The validity and reliability of the UCL have been found to be good [32-34].

## Statistical analyses

Differences between implant and DIEP flap BR for dichotomous variables were analyzed with Fisher's exact tests. Normally distributed continuous variables were analyzed using Student's t test, not normally distributed and ordinal variables with Mann-Whitney tests. Categorical variables were tested with Chi square tests. Missing values were replaced by the mean score of the concerning series. To explore determinants of active information seeking, backwards hierarchical regression analysis was used. ACS and UCL subscales were compared to the normal Dutch population with Student's t-tests. Data were analysed with the statistical package SPSS 16.0 (SPSS Inc., Chicago). Two-sided p-values < .05 were considered statistically significant.

# Results

# Non-respondents

Ninety-three percent of the non-respondents (n = 44) underwent unilateral therapeutic mastectomy compared to 80% of the respondents (n = 153), of which 20% underwent therapeutic mastectomy combined with CPM (p = 0.04). Non-respondents and respondents did not significantly differ in age and timing of BR (p = 0.50 and p = 0.35, respectively). We assume the respondents are a representative sample of the total patient group.

#### Demographic and clinical characteristics

More women who chose implant BR were planned for reconstruction after therapeutic mastectomy combined with CPM. Women opting for DIEP flap BR had a higher BMI and their mean time interval between mastectomy and reconstruction was longer compared to women choosing implant BR. The patient groups did not differ in age, having a partner and/or children (at home), educational level and hereditary risk for developing BC (Table 1).

	Implant group DIEP flap group		<i>p</i> Value*
	n = 71 (%)	n = 82 (%)	
Mean age at time of breast reconstruction (sd\	49.07 (9.95)	49.40 (7.96)	0.82**
Partner	62 (87.3)	65 (79.3)	0.20
Children	62 (87.3)	70 (85.4)	0.82
Children at home	42 (59.2)	43 (52.4)	0.42
Education			
low	15 (21.1)	16 (19.5)	
intermediate	27 (38.0)	28 (34.1)	0.54¶
high	29 (40.8)	38 (46.3)	
Inherited predisposition for BC <sup>a</sup>	21 (29.6)	17 (20.7)	0.26
Unilateral therapeutic mastectomy	45 (63.4)	77 (93.9)	. 0. 001
Therapeutic mastectomy with CPM	26 (36.6)	5 (6.1)	< 0.001
Mean BMI (sd)	24.0 (4.07)	27.7 (3.64)	< 0.001**
Mean time since mastectomy in years (sd)	1.43 (3.55)	3.15 (2.58)	< 0.001¶

#### **Table 1. Participants characteristics**

<sup>a</sup>: BRCA1/BRCA2/familial risk; BC: breast cancer; CPM: contralateral prophylactic mastectomy; BMI: body mass index; DIEP: Deep Inferior Epigastric artery Perforator; sd: standard deviation; \* Fisher's exact test unless otherwise indicated; \*\* Student's t-test; ¶ Mann-Whitney test.

## Informational resources and information provision

Initially, 38% of the women in the implant group were not aware of the possibility of breast reconstruction using autologous tissue compared to 17% of the women opting for DIEP flap BR (p = 0.006, Table 2).

For both groups the physician/plastic surgeon was the most important resource; however, women opting for implant BR rated their doctor as more important in their decision-making than women choosing for DIEP flap BR (Table 2, items 3 and 14, p < 0.004). Items 6 to 8 in Table 2 show that women who opted for DIEP flap BR rated a book, paper, magazine, internet and television as more important resources compared to women choosing implant BR (p < 0.015).

	Implant group	DIEP-flap group	p Value*
	n = 71	n = 82	_
Knowledge	n (%)	n (%)	
1. "Before my decision I knew about the existence of BR with autologous tissue"	44 (62.0)	67 (82.7)	0.006**
<ol><li>"Before my decision I knew about the existence of implant BR"</li></ol>	67 (94.4)	78 (98.7)	0.19**
Use of information resources (range 1-5: not at all – very much)	M (sd)	M (sd)	
3. physician/plastic surgeon	4.2 (.9)	3.5 (1.2)	< 0.001
<ol><li>significant other/family/friend/colleague</li></ol>	2.5 (1.3)	2.2 (1.3)	0.12
5. information leaflet	2.4 (1.3)	2.2 (1.2)	0.36
6. book/paper/magazine	1.4 (.7)	1.9 (1.1)	0.005
7. internet	2.4 (1.5)	2.9 (1.4)	0.015
8. television	1.4 (.7)	1.8 (1.1)	0.015
Information and decision-making (range 1-5: totally disagree – totally agree)			
<ol> <li>"Information concerning my type of BR was well available"</li> </ol>	4.3 (1.1)	4.0 (.8)	0.001
<ol> <li>"Information concerning my type of BR was understandable"</li> </ol>	4.3 (.5)	4.1 (.5)	0.02
11. "I totally support my decision for this type of BR"	4.6 (.6)	4.6 (.6)	1.00
12. "I actively sought information about this type of ${\sf BR}"$	3.7 (1.2)	4.2 (1.0)	0.003
13. "I have the feeling the choice for this type of BR was not my own decision"	1.6 (.9)	1.3 (.6)	0.07
14. "In the decision-making process for this type of BR I was affected by my physician/plastic surgeon"	2.7 (1.4)	2.0 (1.1)	0.004

Table 2. Knowledge and information seeking behavior in the decision-making process of implant and DIEP flap BR patients

BR: breast reconstruction; DIEP: Deep Inferior Epigastric artery Perforator; SD: standard deviation \* Mann-Whitney test, unless otherwise indicated; \*\*: Fisher's exact test

Information concerning DIEP flap BR was less readily available (p = 0.001) and less clear (p = .022) than information regarding implant BR. Women opting for DIEP flap BR more actively sought for information (p = 0.003).

Women in both groups indicated they supported their decision, although there was a trend that women in the implant group had the feeling the choice for their type of BR had not entirely been their own (p = 0.07).

#### Autonomy and coping styles

Women from both BR groups did not significantly differ in self-awareness, the extent to which they are sensitive to others and their capacity to manage new situations. Their use of coping styles was also not significantly different (Table 3).

Table 3.	Mean Autonomy and Coping styles subscale scores of implant and DIEP	flap BR
patients		

	Implant group	DIEP-flap group	p Value*
	n = 71	n = 82	-
	M (sd)	M (sd)	
Autonomy (ACS-30)			
Self-awareness	3.9 (.7)	3.9 (.7)	0.88**
Sensitivity to others	3.6 (.5)	3.5 (.6)	0.16
Capacity to manage new situations	3.1 (1.1)	3.2 (.9)	0.96
Coping styles (UCL)			
Active coping	19.8 (3.4)	20.0 (2.9)	0.64
Palliative reaction pattern	18.8 (3.5)	18.5 (3.3)	0.40
Avoidance and awaiting	15.7 (3.1)	15.5 (2.6)	0.76
Seeking social support	15.9 (3.5)	15.7 (3.8)	0.71
Passive reaction pattern	10.6 (2.7)	10.8 (2.5)	0.70**
Expressing emotions	6.3 (1.4)	6.5 (1.7)	0.58**
Comforting thoughts	13.6 (2.3)	13.4 (2.4)	0.56

Higher scores indicate more self-awareness, sensitivity to others, capacity to mange new situations, and more use of the coping styles. \* Student t-test unless otherwise indicated; \*\* Mann-Whitney test; DIEP: Deep Inferior Epigastric artery Perforator; SD: standard deviation; ACS-30: Autonomy Connectedness Scale - 30; UCL: Utrecht Coping List

Comparing the ACS subscales with the normal population, our patients had significantly lower scores on the ACS subscale "Sensitivity to Others" (t<sub>(241)</sub> = 4.44; p < 0.001) [29], meaning they are less sensitive to others opinions, whishes and needs and are less likely to adapt to another person's believes or preferences. They scored higher on the UCL subscales "Palliative Reaction Pattern" (t<sub>(379)</sub> = -2.99; p = 0.003), "Seeking Social Support" (t<sub>(289)</sub> = -4.01; p < 0.001) and "Comforting Thoughts" (t<sub>(351)</sub> = -5.77; p < 0.001), indicating our patients more often try to relax, share their worries with others and try to have positive thoughts when they need to adapt to demanding situations, compared to the healthy population.

#### Determinants of active information seeking

Patients who scored higher on the Active Coping Scale, more actively sought for information regarding BR (p = 0.02). In addition, women opting for DIEP flap BR were more active information seekers (p = 0.003). Finally, we found a tendency towards a higher score on the

autonomy scale "Sensitivity to Others", which was almost significantly associated with active information seeking (p = 0.053, Table 4), indicating that women who are more sensitive to others, tend to seek more actively for information regarding BR.

Table 4. Determinants for actively searching for information regarding BR (iter	n 12) after
9 steps	

	В	Std. Error	Beta	t	Sig.
Constant	0.71	0.92		0.76	0.45
Choosing implant (1) or DIEP flap BR (2)	0.53	0.17	0.24	3.02	0.003
Sensitivity to others (ACS-30)	0.32	0.16	0.16	1.95	0.05
Active coping (UCL)	0.07	0.03	0.19	2.36	0.02

BR: breast reconstruction; ACS-30: Autonomy Connectedness Scale; UCL: Utrecht Coping List; B: regression weight; Beta: standardized regression weight.

# Discussion

In this study we explored information seeking behavior with regard to type of breast reconstruction in women, who were scheduled for either implant or DIEP flap BR after mastectomy.

Understandably, most women with therapeutic mastectomy combined with CPM were scheduled for implant BR (84%). Immediate bilateral BR with more complex reconstruction techniques like the DIEP flap method, is more difficult to schedule due to logistic problems because of limited availability and longer operation times resulting in long waiting lists. In addition, bilateral DIEP flap BR requires abdominal tissue for two flaps, which could have been a limitation for women with a lower BMI.

We found that 38% of women who had decided for implant BR were initially not aware of the option to reconstruct breasts with autologous tissue. The option of DIEP flap BR may not have been discussed with or offered to the patient because of insufficient abdominal tissue, due to logistic issues or the absence of required surgical expertise [35]. In addition, some women may have decided in favour of implant BR before they had their first consultation with the plastic surgeon. Information by the plastic surgeon on alternative options for BR may, therefore, not have altered their final decision.

Women in the implant group rated most information resources as less important than women in the DIEP flap group. Most women in the implant BR group had limited time to search for BR methods and perhaps less time to consult different resources as their time between mastectomy and BR was more often immediate or shorter compared to DIEP flap BR patients. Dealing with the diagnosis may have been their main priority in stead of focusing on BR. Women opting for DIEP flap BR may have had more opportunity to think about their reconstruction options and to consult different resources. Eventually, this could have led to the decision to opt for a more complex BR method. We did not ask *why* they had a prolonged time between mastectomy and reconstruction. The reconstructive surgeon was the most important resource for both groups. For women who opted for implant BR, their surgeon was of greater influence on their decision. We speculate that women scheduled for immediate BR, given the time pressure and expected higher distress, may have relied more on the surgeon than women who had more time to consider alternative BR options. In addition, plastic surgeons may have suggested to undergo implant BR in these cases as it is a relatively simple, obtainable and cheaper method. Obviously, their professional advice may also have been based on other patientrelated factors.

Patients reported that information regarding DIEP flap BR was less clear and less readily available than information about implant BR. An explanation could be that DIEP flap BR is generally less obtainable and a more complex BR technique compared to the more commonly performed implant BR.

Active seeking for information about BR was associated with the decision to opt for DIEP flap BR and with an active coping style. In accordance with previous findings, patients who had chosen microsurgical DIEP flap BR were active information seekers compared to women who had opted for implant BR [25]. Active information seeking is obviously required to be comprehensively informed about reconstruction options as information regarding DIEP flap BR may generally not have been actively offered by all physicians and/or institutions. On the other hand, patients who were engaged to their decision for DIEP flap BR, may have searched more actively for information.

The study-specific questionnaire showed that women in the DIEP flap group were more independent in their decision for BR compared to women choosing implants, which is in concordance with the findings of the study of Matros et al. [25]. Although data from the autonomy questionnaire ACS-30 were not significantly correlated with the decision for the type of BR, the patients in our study were more independent in their decision-making compared to a healthy sample of Dutch women.

Furthermore, when comparing our patients' coping styles, we found they scored higher on the subscales "Palliative Reaction Pattern", "Seeking Social Support" and "Comforting Thoughts" than the normal Dutch population. These findings indicate that women choosing BR generally try to distract themselves more when they are worried, seek social support and think positive, compared to healthy women. This is in accordance with previous studies that have shown that women with early-stage BC and BC survivors often have more adaptive coping styles compared to healthy women, which is positively correlated with quality of life aspects and personal growth [36-39].

A limitation of the present study could be that more women planned for CPM chose to participate in our study compared to women with unilateral therapeutic mastectomy. Women with CPM were mostly diagnosed with BC in the past, and therefore, at the time of inclusion could possibly focus on BR and study participation, instead of having BC treatment as their priority. We do not think this affected the representation of our population, although we have to keep in mind participants may have been more committed to their decision regarding BR. Inevitably, our study was limited by selection bias, as patients could not be randomized to the BR type they received. In addition, not all participating hospitals offered both BR types described. However, DIEP flap BR was carried out in one of the academic centers as well as in one of the general hospitals, suggesting it was offered to different populations. Although one could argue the present study should have been carried out in a selection of patients that had been offered identical reconstruction options, we believe a large group of patients from multiple centers is representative for the Dutch patient population as information provision regarding BR is currently not standardized in our country. This is probably true for other countries as information regarding BR seems not yet standardized [4;40].

In conclusion, women opting for DIEP flap BR were more active and independent in their decision-making regarding the type of BR. Women opting for implant BR seemed less well-informed and more dependent on their surgeon. Possibly the pool of women who had implant BR and who were mainly influenced by their surgeon, could have been convinced to have a DIEP flap BR. However, although the decision regarding the type of BR is ultimately the patient's, factors such as patient suitability for a procedure, risk factors and timing of BR play a role in reaching this final decision.

During patient consultation regarding treatment options by (reconstructive) surgeons, it is necessary to verify if the patient is aware of all her reconstruction possibilities, including the opportunity to delay BR. In addition, it is important to specifically ask for her own preferences and expectations, to increase the chance that she will receive the reconstruction that suits best with her needs and wishes that will eventually improve satisfaction [41].

**Acknowledgements;** We would like to thank all women who took part in the study. We also thank the involved specialists for providing patients and medical data: G. K. van Drunen, M.B.E. Menke-Pluymers, C. Seynaeve, J. F. A. van der Werff, J. Zguricas, N. A. S. Posch, D. P. M. Goossens at the participating centers LUMC, EMCR/Daniel den Hoed Cancer Center Rotterdam, Rijnland Hospital Leiderdorp, Lange Land Hospital, Haga Hospital, Hospital Walcheren, Oosterschelde Hospital and the Hospital Zorgsaam. This study was supported by the Dutch Cancer Society (UL 2007-3726).

# References

- 1. Polednak AP. How frequent is postmastectomy breast reconstructive surgery? A study linking two statewide databases. *Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery* 2001; 108:73-77.
- 2. Morrow M, Mujahid M, Lantz PM, Janz NK et al. Correlates of breast reconstruction -Results from a population-based study. *Cancer* 2005; 104:2340-2346.
- 3. Christian CK, Niland J, Edge SB, Ottesen RA et al. A multi-institutional analysis of the socioeconomic determinants of breast reconstruction A study of the National Comprehensive Cancer Network. *Annals of Surgery* 2006; 243:241-249.
- 4. Alderman AK, McMahon L and Wilkins EG. The national utilization of immediate and early delayed breast reconstruction and the effect of sociodemographic factors. *Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery* 2003; 111:695-703.

- 5. Allen RJ and Treece P. Deep Inferior Epigastric Perforator Flap for Breast Reconstruction. *Annals of Plastic Surgery* 1994; 32:32-38.
- 6. Yueh JH, Slavin SA, Adesiyun T, Nyame TT et al. Patient Satisfaction in Postmastectomy Breast Reconstruction: A Comparative Evaluation of DIEP, TRAM, Latissimus Flap, and Implant Techniques. *Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery* 2010; 125:1585-1595.
- Visser NJ, Damen THC, Timman R, Hofer SOP and Mureau MAM. Surgical Results, Aesthetic Outcome, and Patient Satisfaction after Microsurgical Autologous Breast Reconstruction following Failed Implant Reconstruction. *Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery* 2010; 126:26-36.
- Damen THC, Timman R, Kunst EH, Gopie JP et al. High satisfaction rates in women after DIEP flap breast reconstruction. *Journal of Plastic Reconstructive and Aesthetic Surgery* 2010; 63:93-100.
- 9. Bresser PJC, Seynaeve C, Van Gool AR, Brekelmans CT et al. Satisfaction with prophylactic mastectomy and breast reconstruction in genetically predisposed women. *Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery* 2006; 117:1675-1682.
- 10. Woerdeman LAE, Hage JJ, Hofland MMI and Rutgers EJT. A prospective assessment of surgical risk factors in 400 cases of skin-sparing mastectomy and immediate breast reconstruction with implants to establish selection criteria. *Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery* 2007; 119:455-463.
- 11. Spear SL and Mesbahi AN. Implant-based reconstruction. *Clinics in Plastic Surgery* 2007; 34:63-+.
- 12. Cordeiro PG and McCarthy CM. A single surgeon's 12-year experience with tissue expander/implant breast reconstruction: Part I: A prospective analysis of early complications. *Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery* 2006; 118:825-831.
- 13. Zienowicz RJ and Karacaoglu E. Implant-based breast reconstruction with allograft. *Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery* 2007; 120:373-381.
- 14. Beahm EK and Walton RL. Issues, Considerations, and Trends in Bilateral Breast Reconstruction. *Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery* 2009; 124:1064-1076.
- 15. Handel N, Silverstein MJ, Waisman E and Waisman JR. Reasons Why Mastectomy Patients do Not Have Breast Reconstruction. *Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery* 1990; 86:1118-1122.
- 16. Reaby LL. Reasons why women who have mastectomy decide to have or not to have breast reconstruction. *Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery* 1998; 101:1810-1818.
- 17. Rowland JH, Desmond KA, Meyerowitz BE, Belin TR et al. Role of breast reconstructive surgery in physical and emotional outcomes among breast cancer survivors. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute* 2000; 92:1422-1429.
- Shameem H, Yip CH and Fong E. Immediate Breast Reconstruction after Mastectomy -Why do Women Choose this Option? *Asian Pacific J Cancer Prev* 2008; 9:409-412.
- 19. Alderman AK, Hawley ST, Waljee J, Morrow M and Katz SJ. Correlates of referral practices of general surgeons to plastic surgeons for mastectomy reconstruction. *Cancer* 2007; 109:1715-1720.

- 20. Contant CME, van Wersch AMEA, Wiggers T, Wai RTJ and van Geel AN. Motivations, satisfaction, and information of immediate breast reconstruction following mastectomy. *Patient Education and Counseling* 2000; 40:201-208.
- 21. Eldor L and Spiegel A. Breast Reconstruction after Bilateral Prophylactic Mastectomy in Women at High Risk for Breast Cancer. *Breast Journal* 2009; 15:S81-S89.
- 22. Gopie JP, Hilhorst MT, Kleijne A, Timman R et al. Women's motives to opt for either implant or DIEP-flap breast reconstruction. *Journal of Plastic Reconstructive and Aesthetic Surgery* 2011; 64:1062-1067.
- 23. Lee CN, Hultman CS and Sepucha K. What Are Patients' Goals and Concerns About Breast Reconstruction After Mastectomy? *Annals of Plastic Surgery* 2010; 64:567-569.
- 24. Rosson GD, Magarakis M, Shridharani SM, Stapleton SM et al. A Review of the Surgical Management of Breast Cancer: Plastic Reconstructive Techniques and Timing Implications. *Annals of Surgical Oncology* 2010; 17:1890-1900.
- 25. Matros E, Yueh JH, Bar-Meir ED, Slavin SA et al. Sociodemographics, referral patterns, and internet use for decision-making in microsurgical breast reconstruction. *Plast Reconstr Surg* 2010; 125:1087-1094.
- 26. Abu-Nab Z and Grunfeld EA. Satisfaction with outcome and attitudes towards scarring among women undergoing breast reconstructive surgery. *Patient Education and Counseling* 2007; 66:243-249.
- 27. Rolnick SJ, Altschuler A, Nekhlyudov L, Elmore JG et al. What women wish they knew before prophylactic mastectomy. *Cancer Nursing* 2007; 30:285-291.
- 28. Sheehan J, Sherman KA, Lam T and Boyages J. Association of information satisfaction, psychological distress and monitoring coping style with post-decision regret following breast reconstruction. *Psycho-Oncology* 2007; 16:342-351.
- 29. Bekker MHJ and van Assen MALM. A short form of the autonomy scale: Properties of the autonomy-connectedness scale (ACS-30). *Journal of Personality Assessment* 2006; 86:51-60.
- 30. Bekker MHJ. The Development of An Autonomy Scale Based on Recent Insights Into Gender Identity. *European Journal of Personality* 1993; 7:177-194.
- 31. Schreurs PJG, Tellegen B and Van de Willige G. Gezondheid, stress en coping: de ontwikkeling van de Utrechtse Coping Lijst. *Gedrag: tijdschrift voor psychologie* 1984; 12:101-117.
- Sanderman R and Ormel J. De Utrechtse Coping Lijst (UCL): validiteit en betrouwbaarheid [The Utrecht Coping List (UCL): validity and precision]. *Gedrag en Gezondheid* 1992; 20:32-37.
- 33. Schaufeli W and Van Dierendonck D. De betrouwbaarheid en validiteit van de Utrechtse Coping Lijst. Een longitudinaal onderzoek bij schoolverlaters. *Gedrag en Gezondheid* 1992; 20:38-45.
- 34. Schreurs, P.J.G., Van de Willige, G., Brosschot, J.F. et al. De Utrechtse Coping Lijst: UCL. Omgaan met problemen en gebeurtenissen. Lisse: Swets en Zeitlinger b.v., 1993.
- 35. Owen-Smith A, Coast J and Donovan J. Are patients receiving enough information about healthcare rationing? A qualitative study. *Journal of Medical Ethics* 2010; 36:88-92.

- 36. Bellizzi KM and Blank TO. Predicting posttraumatic growth in breast cancer survivors. *Health Psychology* 2006; 25:47-56.
- 37. Sears SR, Stanton AL and Danoff-Burg S. The yellow brick road and the emerald city: Benefit finding, positive reappraisal coping, and posttraumatic growth in women with early-stage breast cancer. *Health Psychology* 2003; 22:487-497.
- Cordova MJ, Cunningham LLC, Carlson CR and Andrykowski MA. Posttraumatic growth following breast cancer: A controlled comparison study. *Health Psychology* 2001; 20:176-185.
- 39. Lelorain S, Bonnaud-Antignac A and Florin A. Long Term Posttraumatic Growth After Breast Cancer: Prevalence, Predictors and Relationships with Psychological Health. *Journal of Clinical Psychology in Medical Settings* 2010; 17:14-22.
- 40. Tseng WH, Stevenson TR, Canter RJ, Chen SL et al. Sacramento Area Breast Cancer Epidemiology Study: Use of Postmastectomy Breast Reconstruction along the Rural-to-Urban Continuum. *Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery* 2010; 126:1815-1824.
- 41. Keating NL, Guadagnoli E, Landrum MB, Borbas C and Weeks JC. Treatment decision making in early-stage breast cancer: Should surgeons match patients' desired level of involvement? *Journal of Clinical Oncology* 2002; 20:1473-1479.

# CHAPTER 4 THE SHORT-TERM PSYCHOLOGICAL IMPACT OF COMPLICATIONS AFTER BREAST RECONSTRUCTION

*Psycho-Oncology 2011; DOI: 10.1002/pon.2089* 

Gopie JP, Timman R, Hilhorst MT, Hofer SOPH, Mureau MAM, Tibben A



# Abstract

**Objectives** Few studies have focused on the psychological impact of postoperative complications after breast reconstruction (BR). As postoperative complications after BR usually lead to a prolonged recovery time and sometimes require additional surgery, the short-term impact on distress was investigated.

**Methods** Pre- and postoperatively, psychological questionnaires were sent to 152 women who underwent either implant BR (ImBR) or Deep Inferior Epigastric artery Perforator flap BR (DiepBR). In addition, patients and physicians reports of post-operative complications during the first 4 to 6 weeks after BR were scored. The course of anxiety, depression and cancer-specific distress and the effect of complications on distress were investigated.

**Results** ImBR patients reported decreased anxiety after surgery, and both groups reported reduced cancer-specific distress after surgery. However, depressive symptoms tended to increase after DiepBR. If complications occurred, both reconstruction groups reported increased depressive and anxiety symptoms, DiepBR patients even had depressive symptoms of clinical concern. A significant number of patients with complications reported alarming levels of distress. Timing and laterality were not significantly correlated with distress.

**Conclusions** Complications after BR have a significant impact on emotional well-being shortly after surgery. As distress affects quality of life and health outcomes, it is of great importance to offer psychological support to these patients. Distress can be evaluated by monitoring the emotional impact of BR during post-surgery consults, or with the standard use of short psychological questionnaires that patients can complete at home.

## Introduction

Post mastectomy breast reconstruction (BR) for breast cancer can improve quality of life and patient satisfaction with the aesthetic result [1-4]. Unfortunately, most BR techniques have a considerable risk for complications [5-8], which could negatively affect psychosocial outcomes. Although many studies focused on psychosocial outcomes after BR, only very few have specifically focused on the psychological impact of complications after BR [9].

Implant BR can be performed either one-staged (direct insertion of prosthesis) or two-staged (insertion of tissue expander followed by replacement with definite implant). The overall short and long-term complication rates after implant BR vary from 18% to 51% [7;8;10-12]. Complications like infections, seroma and hematoma occur in between 15% to 39% of cases, of which 3% to 20% result in implant removal on short-term [8;11].

The short and long-term complication rates after autologous BR vary between 32% and 43% [6;7]. After Deep Inferior Epigastric artery Perforator (DIEP) flap BR immediate complications like hematoma, seroma and partial flap necrosis occur in about 2%, 5% and 15%, respectively [13]. In experienced hands total flap loss occurs in about 2% of DIEP flap reconstructions [14;15].

Factors such as the reconstruction method, type of prosthesis, and risk factors for wound healing problems such as obesity, smoking, hypertension and pre- or postoperative radiation therapy influence the chance for BR failure [11;16-18]. In particular, postoperative radiation therapy in patients with implant BR increases the complication risk, when compared to women with autologous BR [10;17]. For abdominal flap BR, the number of perforators included in the flap is also related to the occurrence of complications such as fat necrosis [19].

Women diagnosed with breast cancer can experience elevated stress levels around the time of surgery and prior to BR [20;21]. Pre-surgery distress has shown to contribute to post-surgery nausea, fatigue and discomfort [22]. In addition, postoperative complications may increase stress, which decreases the immune response and in turn may impede the healing process and increase the risk for infection [23;24].

We hypothesized that patients with complications after BR would experience increased psychological distress while recovering. To our knowledge, a prospective exploration of the relationship between psychological distress and postoperative complications after breast reconstructive surgery has not yet been performed. Exploring patients' emotional wellbeing after BR provides the opportunity to support them during an adverse recovery period, which may lead to better health and psychosocial outcomes. DIEP flap BR is a relatively new technique [25] of which the psychosocial effects have been less studied than the more often performed implant BR. Our main goal was to examine the relationship of short-term complications and psychological distress of women undergoing either implant or DIEP flap BR.
## **Patients and Methods**

#### Patients

This study is part of a multi-centre prospective follow-up study on the psychological impact of BR. Participants were women who opted for post mastectomy reconstruction after breast cancer (unilateral or bilateral)<sup>2</sup>. Reconstructions were either implant or DIEP flap based, and were immediate or delayed. All patients consented to participate in the study.

Exclusion criteria were a BR in the past, a detection of residue or metastasis of breast cancer, and not being able to understand and speak the Dutch language sufficiently. Women who did not consent or respond two weeks after the invitation were considered as non-respondents. Patients were approached between December 2007 and May 2010 at the Leiden University Medical Center (LUMC), Erasmus University Medical Center Rotterdam (EMCR), Daniel den Hoed Cancer Center, Haga Teaching Hospital, Rijnland Hospital Leiderdorp, the Lange Land Hospital, Hospital Walcheren, Oosterschelde Hospital and at the Hospital Zorgsaam. Ethics approval was obtained from all participating hospitals.

#### Implant BR

All 96 patients who were scheduled for implant BR (usually preceded by tissue expansion) were invited to participate in the study. Fifteen women did not respond, 10 patients declined and 71 women consented to participate (74%).

#### DIEP flap BR

All 100 women who were scheduled for a DIEP flap BR were asked to take part in the study. Seven women did not respond, 12 patients declined and 81 women consented to participate (81%).

#### Procedure

Preoperatively, an invitation letter explaining the procedure and purpose of the study, an informed consent, and a prepaid envelope were sent to all women on the BR waiting lists of the participating hospitals. If patients did not respond within two weeks, a reminder was sent by letter or by phone if surgery was planned in the short term. Patients who returned informed consent received a questionnaire that they had to complete preoperatively. Postoperatively, patient-reported clinical data were confirmed by medical records. Four weeks post-surgery, patients completed same the questionnaire that was sent preoperatively and they were contacted by telephone to assess complications and pain levels.

#### Questionnaires

Demographic information (e.g. age, having a partner or children (at home), educational level), and clinical data (e.g. indication for mastectomy, body mass index (BMI)) were collected using self-report questionnaires.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> For 34 patients (31respondents) in addition to unilateral therapeutic mastectomy, contralateral prophylactic mastectomy was performed because of a BRCA1 or BRCA2 (13x) or unknown mutation (1x); a familial risk (6x); a high risk for developing breast cancer following treatment for Hodgkin's disease (3x); or for unknown reasons (11x).

## Anxiety and Depression

Pre- and post-surgery, anxiety and depressive symptoms were measured with the Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale (HADS) [26]. Questions to measure anxiety were, for example, "Do you worry a lot?"; "Do you feel something awful is about to happen?" and for depression: "Do you look forward with enjoyment to things?" and "Do you feel generally optimistic about the future?" Reported reliability and validity are sufficient [27;28]. The HADS uses a 4-point Likert scale and includes two subscales that measure anxiety and depression (each consists of 7 items). Both subscale scores range from 0 to 21. A score of 8 or above was used to indicate anxiety and depression of clinical concern [26;28], which we describe as patients with serious or alarming levels of distress.

## Breast cancer specific distress

Pre- and postoperatively, cancer-specific distress (CSD) was measured using the Impact of Event Scale (IES), which includes 15 items [29;30]. The IES measures the extent to which one is overwhelmed by intrusive thoughts and avoidant behavior regarding a specific traumatic event, in this case breast cancer. Items can be scored as follows: 0 'not at all', 1 'seldom', 3 'sometimes' and 5 'often', for example: "I had trouble falling asleep or staying asleep, because of pictures or thoughts about breast cancer that came into my mind". The total IES score is used in this study with a range from 0 to 75. Reported reliability and validity of the IES are satisfactory [29;31]. The categorization of the IES score is not indicative for specific clinical diagnoses, but a cutoff score of 20 or higher can be used to indicate high symptom levels [31;32].

## Complications

A complication was defined as any adverse event which occurred during the first four to six weeks after surgery. A major complication was defined as an adverse event leading to a re-operation. A structured complication list was added to the medical records to inquire postoperative complications related to BR, which was filled in by the plastic surgeon and complemented by the data manager of the study. In addition, the list was completed by patients during post-surgery telephone contacts to measure self-reported complications. Patients were also asked to rate the average pain experienced from the immediate postoperative period until the time of the interview on a 10-point scale, with 1 indicating "no pain" and 10 indicating "extreme pain". A numeric pain rating scale has been found to be a reliable and valid method [33;34]. A cutoff score equal to or higher than 4 was used to indicate serious pain.

## Statistical analyses

Differences between implant and DIEP flap BR for dichotomous variables were analyzed with Fisher's exact tests. Normally distributed continuous variables were analyzed using Student's t-tests; for non-normally distributed variables transformed data were used. Ordinal variables were analyzed with Mann-Whitney tests. We corrected for demographic and clinical variables in which patient groups differed if a correlation of at least 0.24 with

the outcome variable was found [35]. Repeated-measures analysis of covariance (ANCOVA) was used for longitudinal analyses. Data were analyzed with the statistical package SPSS 17.0 (SPSS Inc., Chicago). Two-sided p-values < .05 were considered statistically significant.

## Results

#### Non-respondents

Three non-respondents (7%) underwent a contralateral prophylactic mastectomy in addition to unilateral therapeutic mastectomy, compared to 31 respondents (20.4%; p = 0.04). Non-respondents and respondents did not significantly differ in age and timing of BR (p = 0.50 and p = 0.35, respectively).

#### Dropouts and lost to follow-up

One patient with diabetes mellitus died 18 days after DIEP flap BR due to unexpected sepsis as a result of pneumonia. Three patients who developed metastases during follow-up were excluded from analyses regarding distress: one patient's implant BR was postponed when skeletal, liver and kidney metastases were detected; in one DIEP flap patient a residue of breast cancer was detected during surgery; and one DIEP flap patient was diagnosed with skeletal metastases after BR. Furthermore, one woman withdrew from the study; three patients did not return the follow-up questionnaire and two patients refused telephone contact.

#### Demographic and clinical characteristics

A description of the patient characteristics in each reconstruction group is demonstrated in table 1.

## Postoperative pain and complications

Telephone calls with 150 patients were performed on average 4.2 weeks after surgery (sd=2.1). Women with implant BR (n=64) reported a mean postoperative breast pain level of 4.3 (sd=2.3) compared to 2.4 (sd=1.6) after DIEP flap BR (n=75; p < .001). Furthermore, significantly more patients reported considerable pain symptoms ( $\geq$  4) after implant BR (n=37; 58%) than after DIEP flap BR (n=14; 19%), p <0.001). A mean abdominal pain level of 3.5 (sd=2.3) was reported by DIEP flap patients (n=76) and 42% indicated this pain level with 4 or higher.

More postoperative complications after DIEP flap BR (36%) than following implant BR (21%) were reported, following the surgeon reports, while patient-reports did not show differences in postoperative complications (46% and 35%, respectively). About 13% of patients from both groups had to be re-operated due to major complications within 6 weeks after the initial BR. Both patient groups reported the same rate of wound healing disturbances, however, more women tended to report wound dehiscence after DIEP flap surgery (p=0.07, Table 2). Finally, 11% of the implant BRs failed (tissue expander or implant was removed) and 6% of the patients with DIEP flap BR had either partial (5%) or total (1%) flap loss.

	Implant group	DIEP flap group	p Value*
	n = 71 (%)	n = 81 (%)	
Mean age at time of breast reconstruction (sd)	49.1 (10.0)	49.3 (7.9)	0.90**
Having a partner	62 (87.3)	64 (79.0)	0.20
Having children	62 (87.3)	69 (85.2)	0.82
Having children at home	42 (59.2)	43 (53.1)	0.51
Education level			
low	15 (21.1)	16 (19.8)	
intermediate	27 (38.0)	28 (34.6)	0.59¶
high	29 (40.8)	37 (45.7)	
Inherited predisposition for BC <sup>a</sup>	21 (29.6)	17 (21.0)	0.26
Laterality			
Unilateral BR	43 (60.6)	70 (86.4)	< 0.001
Bilateral BR	28 (39.4)	11 (13.6)	< 0.001
BR Timing			
Immediate BR	43 (60.6)	2 (2.5)	
Delayed BR	15 (21.1)	75 (92.6)	
Immediate + delayed BR	13 (18.3)	4 (4.9)	< 0.001***
Mean time since mastectomy in years (sd)	1.4 (3.6)	3.2 (2.6)	< 0.001¶
Mean BMI (sd)	24.1 (4.1)	27.6 (3.7)	< 0.001**
Chemotherapy prior to BR	18 (25.4)	57 (70.4)	< 0.001
Radiation therapy prior to BR	10 (14.1)	28 (34.6)	0.005
Chemotherapy after BR	12 (16.9)	1 (1.2)	< 0.001
Radiation therapy after BR	5 (7.8)	1 (1.2)	0.02

#### **Table 1. Participant characteristics**

<sup>a</sup>: brca1/brca2/familial risk; BC: breast cancer; BMI: body mass index; DIEP: Deep Inferior Epigastric artery Perforator; SD: standard deviation; \* Fisher's exact test unless otherwise indicated; \*\* Student's t-test; \*\*\* Chi-Square test; ¶ Mann-Whitney test.

#### Pre- and postoperative anxiety, depression and cancer-related distress

After implant BR, patients reported a decline in anxiety and cancer-related distress (p=0.04 and p < 0.001, respectively, Table 3). Their depression scores did not significantly change. Women with DIEP flap BR reported a slight increase in depressive symptoms, but significantly less cancer-related distress after surgery then before surgery (p=0.09 and p < 0.001, respectively). However, their anxiety symptoms did not change significantly over time (Table 3).

Patients who were about to undergo implant BR experienced more CSD preoperatively, but the reconstruction groups did not significantly differ in anxiety and depression symptoms (p=0.007, p=0.13 and p=0.59, respectively). Post-surgery scores of anxiety, depression and cancer-related distress did not differ between the patients who underwent implant and those who underwent DIEP flap surgery (p=0.51, p=0.92 and p=0.11, respectively).

	Implant Group	DIEP flap Group	p Value*
	n = 66 (%)	n = 79 (%)	
Major complications (leading to re-operation)**	9 (13.6)	11 (13.9)	1.00
Wound healing complications			
Wound dehiscence	6 (9.1)	16 (20.3)	0.07
Wound infection	10 (15.2)	14 (17.7)	0.82
Haemorrhage (bleeding)	4 (6.1)	2 (2.5)	0.41
Hematoma	1 (1.5)	3 (3.8)	0.63
Fat necrosis	0	2 (2.5)	0.50
Skin necrosis	2 (3.0)	4 (5.1)	0.69
Seroma	3 (4.5)	3 (3.8)	1.00
Spitting of resorbable stitches	1 (1.5)	0	0.46
Implant-related complications			
Tissue expander/implant removal	7 (10.6)		-
Flap complications			
Partial flap loss		4 (5.1)	-
Total flap loss		2 (2.5)	-
Circulation problems flap		13 (16.5)	-
General complications			
Painful arm	0	1 (1.3)	1.00
Symptomatic pulmonary embolism	0	2 (2.5)	0.50
Pneumonia	0	2 (2.5)	0.50

#### Table 2. Type of self-reported complications

DIEP: Deep Inferior Epigastric artery Perforator; \* Fisher's exact test

\*\* Re-operations due to wound dehiscence and/or infection (n = 6), haemorrhage (n = 6), skin necrosis (n = 3), circulation problems flap (n = 5) and seroma (n = 1)

			Impla	Int BR					DIEP f	lap BR		
	1	Preop	erative	Postop	erative	p Value*		Preop	erative	Postop	berative	p Value*
	z	Σ	(ps)	Σ	(ps)		z	Σ	(sd)	Σ	(ps)	
Anxiety (0-2 <sup>1</sup> )a	67	5.6	(4.0)	4.6	(3.5)	.04	12	4.6	(4.1)	4.2	(3.8)	.35
Depression (0-21) <sup>a</sup>	67	5.4	(3.6)	6.2	(4.6)	.39	77	5.1	(3.7)	6.5	(5.4)	60.
Cancer-specific distress (0-75 <sup>)</sup> b	65	26.0	(13.7)	19.2	(13.6)	<.001	76	19.9	(12.6)	15.9	(12.8)	<.001
							100	*	+ -/+			

undergoing BR 8 - f ... ative dieter and not Table 3. PreDIEP: Deep Inferior Epigastric artery Perforator; BR: breast reconstruction; M: mean; sd: standard deviation; \* Student's t-test on transformed data; <sup>a</sup>HADS: Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale, higher scores mean higher anxiety and depression levels; bIES: Impact of Event Scale, higher scores mean higher distress levels.

# The effect of complications on anxiety, depression and cancer-specific distress Covariates

The correlation of different clinical variables with distress was explored to identify covariates. Pre-surgery anxiety and CSD were significantly related to breast pain (r=0.27, p=0.001 and r=0.28, p=0.001, respectively), indicating that patients who felt more anxious and had more CSD before surgery experienced more pain after BR. Post-surgery CSD was related to chemotherapy after surgery and breast pain (r=0.24, p=0.003 and r=0.25, p=0.003, respectively), indicating increased symptoms of CSD were associated with more pain and undergoing chemotherapy after surgery.

The variable 'self-reported complications' was not significantly related to the clinical variables (including breast pain) indicating that this was an independent measure. Self-reported complications for each patient correlated strongly with surgeon-reported complications for each patient (r=0.56, p < .001), demonstrating that the reported complications concerned generally the same patients. Other characteristics, such as laterality and timing of BR had no significant relation with anxiety, depression and CSD.

To analyze the effect of complications on the course of anxiety, depression and cancer-related distress, we corrected for 'breast pain' and 'postoperative chemotherapy', if relevant.

## Figure 1. The course of anxiety, depression and cancer-specific distress symptoms if complications were reported after implant or DIEP flap breast reconstruction



## Anxiety

Correcting for breast pain, the course of anxiety was significantly related to complications F(1, 130)=5.29, p=0.02, indicating that patients who experienced complications had increased anxiety symptoms after surgery compared to patients not reporting complications. Additionally, a significant interaction effect between the type of BR and complications was found, F(1, 130)=7.28, p=0.02, demonstrating that patients with DIEP flap BR experienced a greater increase of anxiety after surgery when reporting complications (Figure 1).

## Depression

Depression was also significantly related to complications F(1, 137)=11, 74, p=0.001, indicating that patients who reported complications had more depressive symptoms after surgery than patients without self-reported complications. Between-subjects effects showed an interaction between the type of BR and complications F(1, 137)=5.59, p=0.02, indicating that DIEP flap patients felt more depressed after surgery if complications occurred (Figure 1).

## **Cancer-specific distress**

Correcting for 'breast pain' and 'post-surgery chemotherapy,' the course of CSD was not significantly related to complications F(1, 127)=0.75, p=0.39. No interaction effect was found in type of BR and complications F(1, 127)=0.70, p=0.40, demonstrating that both reconstruction groups reported decreased CSD symptoms independent of experiencing complications (Figure 1).

## Occurrence of disturbing levels of distress after experiencing complications

Of the women reporting post-surgery complications after implant BR, 13%, 39% and 44% reported anxiety, depression and cancer-related distress of clinical concern, respectively (Table 4). Of the women with complications following DIEP flap BR, 31%, 49% and 40% reported alarming levels of anxiety, depression and cancer-related distress, respectively, after surgery.

	Impla	nt BR	DIEP f	lap BR
	n =	23	n =	35
	то	<b>T1</b>	то	T1
Anxiety <sup>a</sup> ≥ 8	17%	13%	11%	31%
Depression <sup>a</sup> ≥ 8	17%	39%	17%	49%
Cancer-specific distress <sup>b</sup> $\ge 20$	61%	44%	51%	40%

# Table 4. Occurrence of disturbing levels of anxiety, depression, and cancer-related distress, preoperatively and after experiencing postoperative complications

DIEP: Deep Inferior Epigastric artery Perforator; BR: breast reconstruction; M: mean; SD: standard deviation; <sup>a</sup>HADS: Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale, higher scores mean higher anxiety and depression levels; <sup>b</sup>IES: Impact of Event Scale, higher scores mean higher distress levels. T0 = prior to surgery, T1 = after surgery

#### Discussion

In this study we prospectively explored the relationship between psychological distress and short-term complications after BR in women who underwent either implant or DIEP flap BR following mastectomy. As the two reconstruction groups were pre-selected and as they differ in important clinical characteristics, they theoretically cannot be compared. The patient groups are, nevertheless, representative for the Dutch population, as we recruited patients from different areas in the Netherlands. We should bear in mind that BR should be tailored to the needs of the patient. We will provide further clarification to explain the clinical differences between the two reconstruction groups and their possible influences on distress.

It is understandable that more women scheduled for immediate and bilateral BR underwent implant BR. Immediate bilateral BR with more complex methods such as a DIEP flap is difficult to schedule due to logistic problems, such as long operation times resulting in prolonged waiting lists. In addition, bilateral DIEP flap BR requires abdominal tissue for two flaps, which could have been a limitation for women in the implant group having a lower mean BMI. However, the timing and laterality of BR were not significantly correlated with the psychological outcomes, nor with the complication rate.

In congruence with previous findings, patients with DIEP flap BR had a relatively high BMI [36;37]. This could have affected the complication rate [10]. Although more DIEP flap patients had undergone chemo- and radiation therapy prior to BR, this does not seem to be a risk factor for major complications in autologous BR [10]. However, more women in the implant group received chemo- and radiation therapy after BR, which might have increased their complication rate [17]. Other risk factors might have played a role in the occurrence of complications in both groups; however, this study focused on the *psychological impact* of complications.

Patients with implant BR reported serious breast pain which is not surprisingly as the tissue expander or prosthesis is subpectorally placed [38]. Women with DIEP flap BR experienced more abdominal than breast pain, as a result of abdominal tightness after closure of the DIEP flap donor-site. Although we did not structurally assess pain management after surgery, their lower mean pain scores are probably related to the standardized pain management after DIEP flap BR, consisting of a patient-controlled analgesia pump followed by conversion to oral narcotics [39].

Interestingly, more patients reported complications compared to the surgeonreports. Based on the surgeon-reports, more patients in the DIEP flap group had postoperative complications compared to women with implant BR. It is possible that not all (minor) complications were registered in the medical records. On the other hand, patients may have a subjective perception of complications, which could have led to an increased selfreported complication rate. However, as we focused on patients' quality of life, we assumed their own perception was of greater relevance. The total self-reported complication rate did not significantly differ between women who underwent either implant or DIEP flap BR, which is congruent with current literature [10]. Preoperatively, women scheduled for implant BR even had CSD levels of clinical concern (> 20). This can be explained by the fact that most of the implant BR patients were about to have immediate BR and were awaiting mastectomy. As a consequence of a recent breast cancer diagnosis they were still in the emotional rollercoaster of the treatment. After surgery anxiety and CSD decreased in congruence with earlier findings [40]. CSD also decreased in DIEP flap BR patients, who showed lower preoperative scores, possibly because the majority was already cured from cancer. However, timing of BR was not significantly correlated to distress. Therefore, a more plausible explanation for higher preoperative scores in the implant group, could be that more anxious women tended to choose for implant BR, as this type of surgery seems less intimidating than DIEP flap BR. An explanation would be the heavy physical burden of DIEP flap BR which can be very intense, as it additionally includes recovery from abdominoplasty.

Patients reporting complications had increased anxiety and depressive levels, particularly, DIEP flap patients who even reported critical depression levels. Serious complications after DIEP flap BR, such as flap circulation problems, can lead to immediate partial or total flap loss which may be physically as well as psychologically threatening. Common complications occurring after implant BR, such as minor wound infections, could, in contrast, resolve more easily and do not necessarily lead to immediate expander/implant loss, which may be less psychologically challenging. Increased distress after having complications after BR, is comparable with inclined distress after recovering from mastectomy with complications, perhaps indicating recovery from BR reminds patients of mastectomy [41]. However, CSD decreased, as women were possibly relieved that surgery had passed, and that possible cancer risks declined if they also underwent mastectomy.

It remains important to differentiate between the psychological effect of minor versus major complications, as the latter may lead to more psychological disturbances. However, the sample size limits the power for more detailed subgroup analyses, and therefore we recommend including more patients in future studies.

The aesthetic outcome directly after BR could have also influenced psychological wellbeing, as in the immediate postoperative period an aesthetic *end result* had not yet been reached. Particularly for the women who had received a tissue expander in the implant group. Body image and aesthetic satisfaction could be diminished immediately post-surgery, which could negatively impact distress. We did not measure body image or aesthetic satisfaction at this point, which may be a limitation of the present study. Postoperative radiation therapy (PRT) could have also influenced body image and aesthetic satisfaction and therefore, distress, but PRT was not significantly correlated with distress (r < 0.09). As PRT generally started within six weeks after surgery, its effect may not have been as damaging yet. Nevertheless, the small number of patients that had PRT may limit the detection of a statistically significant difference.

Significant proportions of women with complications after BR reported critical distress, particularly patients with DIEP flap BR. However, the actual chance for partial or total flap failure is lower compared to implant loss [8;11;13-15]. To identify *clinical cases* of anxiety and

depression a cut off score of 11 is recommended [26;28]. Post hoc analyses demonstrated that 9% of the implant group and 11% of the DIEP flap group had *clinical* anxiety after complications. However, still considerable proportions (implant BR: 22%; DIEP flap BR: 40%) had *clinical* depression levels after surgery if complications occurred.

In conclusion, although BR can improve quality of life, patients may experience significant distress immediately before surgery. After surgery, patients with complications report high levels of distress, especially DIEP flap BR patients. A significant number of women with complications experienced serious levels of anxiety, depression and CSD post-surgery. Although the present study included only the immediate postoperative period, it suggests that some patients may need more attention or even clinical referral for coping with distress while recovering from BR. In particular, post-operative distress may predict poorer longer-term psychosocial outcomes while better early post-operative outcomes may predict resilience to distress [42;43]. This hypothesis will be studied in our follow-up study of wellbeing one year after BR.

In practice, preoperatively patients should be clearly informed about the consequences of direct postoperative complications on mood and stress levels. They can be reassured that these feelings are not uncommon. Plastic surgeons and mamma-care nurses can specifically ask during pre- and post-surgery consults or surveillance how patients are feeling. Levels of distress especially need to be monitored in patients with complications, for example by completing a short distress-questionnaire like the HADS, which can be returned by mail to the nurse. In case of clinical concern, psychological referral is recommended to better cope with pre- and post-surgery distress. This may positively affect quality of life as well as health since distress could negatively affect the immune system as well as wound healing [23;24;44].

Acknowledgements; We would like to thank all women who took part in the study and express our compassion to the family of the patient who died and to the women with recurrence or metastasis during the follow-up. We thank the involved specialists for providing patients and medical data: G. K. van Drunen, M.B.E. Menke-Pluymers, C. Seynaeve, J. F. A. van der Werff, J. Zguricas, N. A. S. Posch, D. P. M. Goossens at the participating centers LUMC, EMCR/ Daniel den Hoed Cancer Center, Rijnland Hospital Leiderdorp, Lange Land Hospital, Haga Teaching Hospital, Hospital Walcheren, Oosterschelde Hospital and the Hospital Zorgsaam. We thank Annelies Kleijne for data management and Holly Peay for editing the manuscript. This study was supported by the Dutch Cancer Society (UL 2007-3726).

## References

1. Brandberg Y, Malm M and Blomqvist L. A prospective and randomized study, "SVEA," comparing effects of three methods for delayed breast reconstruction on quality of life, patient-defined problem areas of life, and cosmetic result. *Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery* 2000; 105:66-74.

- 2. Damen THC, Timman R, Kunst EH, Gopie JP et al. High satisfaction rates in women after DIEP flap breast reconstruction. *Journal of Plastic Reconstructive and Aesthetic Surgery* 2010; 63:93-100.
- 3. Wilkins EG, Cederna PS, Lowery JC, Davis JA et al. Prospective analysis of psychosocial outcomes in breast reconstruction: one-year postoperative results from the Michigan Breast Reconstruction Outcome Study. *Plast Reconstr Surg* 2000; 106:1014-1025.
- 4. Yueh JH, Slavin SA, Adesiyun T, Nyame TT et al. Patient Satisfaction in Postmastectomy Breast Reconstruction: A Comparative Evaluation of DIEP, TRAM, Latissimus Flap, and Implant Techniques. *Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery* 2010; 125:1585-1595.
- 5. Damen THC, Mureau MAM, Timman R, Rakhorst HA and Hofer SOP. The pleasing end result after DIEP flap breast reconstruction: a review of additional operations. *Journal of Plastic Reconstructive and Aesthetic Surgery* 2009; 62:71-76.
- 6. Hofer SOP, Damen THC, Mureau MAM, Rakhorst HA and Roche NA. A critical review of perioperative complications in 175 free deep inferior epigastric perforator flap breast reconstructions. *Annals of Plastic Surgery* 2007; 59:137-142.
- 7. Sullivan SR, Fletcher DRD, Isom CD and Isik FF. True incidence of all complications following immediate and delayed breast reconstruction. *Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery* 2008; 122:19-28.
- 8. Woerdeman LAE, Hage JJ, Hofland MMI and Rutgers EJT. A prospective assessment of surgical risk factors in 400 cases of skin-sparing mastectomy and immediate breast reconstruction with implants to establish selection criteria. *Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery* 2007; 119:455-463.
- 9. Potter S, Thomson HJ, Greenwood RJ, Hopwood P and Winters ZE. Health-related quality of life assessment after breast reconstruction. *British Journal of Surgery* 2009; 96:613-620.
- 10. Berry T, Brooks S, Sydow N, Djohan R et al. Complication rates of radiation on tissue expander and autologous tissue breast reconstruction. *Ann Surg Oncol* 2010; 17:202-210.
- 11. McCarthy CM, Mehrara BJ, Riedel E, Davidge K et al. Predicting complications following expander/implant breast reconstruction: An outcomes analysis based on preoperative clinical risk. *Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery* 2008; 121:1886-1892.
- Delgado JF, Garcia-Guilarte RF, Palazuelo MR, Mendez JIS and Perez CC. Immediate Breast Reconstruction with Direct, Anatomic, Gel-Cohesive, Extra-Projection Prosthesis: 400 Cases. *Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery* 2010; 125:1599-1605.
- 13. Chen CM, Halvorson EG, Disa JJ, McCarthy Cet al. Immediate postoperative complications in DIEP versus Free/Muscle-Sparing TRAM flaps. *Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery* 2007; 120:1477-1482.
- 14. Blondeel PN. One hundred free DIEP flap breast reconstructions: a personal experience. *British Journal of Plastic Surgery* 1999; 52:104-111.
- 15. Hamdi M, Weiler-Mithoff EM and Webster MHC. Deep inferior epigastric perforator flap in breast reconstruction: Experience with the first 50 flaps. *Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery* 1999; 103:86-95.

- 16. Reefy S, Patani N, Anderson A, Burgoyne G et al. Oncological outcome and patient satisfaction with skin-sparing mastectomy and immediate breast reconstruction: a prospective observational study. *Bmc Cancer* 2010; 10.
- 17. Christante D, Pommier SJ, Diggs BS, Samuelson BT et al. Using Complications Associated With Postmastectomy Radiation and Immediate Breast Reconstruction to Improve Surgical Decision Making. *Archives of Surgery* 2010; 145:873-878.
- 18. Chew BK, Yip C and Malyon AD. Becker expander implants: Truly a long term single stage reconstruction? *Journal of Plastic Reconstructive and Aesthetic Surgery* 2010; 63:1300-1304.
- 19. Baumann DP, Lin HY and Chevray PM. Perforator Number Predicts Fat Necrosis in a Prospective Analysis of Breast Reconstruction with Free TRAM, DIEP, and SIEA Flaps. *Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery* 2010; 125:1335-1341.
- 20. Cimprich B. Pretreatment symptom distress in women newly diagnosed with breast cancer. *Cancer Nursing* 1999; 22:185-194.
- 21. Kennedy F, Harcourt D, Rumsey N and White P. The psychosocial impact of ductal carcinoma in situ (DCIS): a longitudinal prospective study. *Breast* 2010; 19:382-387.
- 22. Montgomery GH and Bovbjerg DH. Presurgery distress and specific response expectancies predict postsurgery outcomes in surgery patients confronting breast cancer. *Health Psychology* 2004; 23:381-387.
- 23. Andersen BL, Farrar WB, Golden-Kreutz D, Kutz LA et al. Stress and immune responses after surgical treatment for regional breast cancer. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute* 1998; 90:30-36.
- 24. Angele MK and Faist E. Clinical review: Immunodepression in the surgical patient and increased susceptibility to infection. *Critical Care* 2002; 6:298-305.
- 25. Allen RJ and Treece P. Deep Inferior Epigastric Perforator Flap for Breast Reconstruction. Annals of Plastic Surgery 1994; 32:32-38.
- 26. Zigmond AS and Snaith RP. The Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale. *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica* 1983; 67:361-370.
- 27. Spinhoven P, Ormel J, Sloekers PPA, Kempen GIJM et al. A validation study of the Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale (HADS) in different groups of Dutch subjects. *Psychological Medicine* 1997; 27:363-370.
- 28. Bjelland I, Dahl AA, Haug TT and Neckelmann D. The validity of the Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale An updated literature review. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research* 2002; 52:69-77.
- 29. van der Ploeg E, Mooren TTM, Kleber RJ, van der Velden PG and Brom D. Construct validation of the Dutch version of the impact of event scale. *Psychological Assessment* 2004; 16:16-26.
- 30. Horowitz M, Wilner N and Alvarez W. Impact of Event Scale Measure of Subjective Stress. *Psychosomatic Medicine* 1979; 41:209-218.
- 31. Joseph S. Psychometric evaluation of Horowitz's impact of event scale: A review. *Journal of Traumatic Stress* 2000; 13:101-113.

- 32. Horowitz, M.J. Stress Response Syndromes and Their Treatment. In L. Goldberger, S. Breznitz (Eds.), *Handbook of Stress. Theoretical and Clinical aspects*, 1 Ed. New York: The Free Press, 1982 Pp. 711-732.
- 33. Paice JA and Cohen FL. Validity of a verbally administered numeric rating scale to measure cancer pain intensity. *Cancer Nursing* 1997; 20:88-93.
- 34. Kremer E, Atkinson JH and Ignelzi RJ. Measurement of Pain Patient Preference Does Not Confound Pain Measurement. *Pain* 1981; 10:241-248.
- 35. Cohen, J. Statistical power analysis for the behavioral sciences, 2nd Ed. New Jersey: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, 1988.
- 36. Garvey PB, Buchel EW, Pockaj BA, Casey WJ et al. DIEP and pedicled TRAM flaps: A comparison of outcomes. *Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery* 2006; 117:1711-1719.
- 37. Guerra AB, Metzinger SE, Bidros RS, Rizzuto RP et al. Bilateral breast reconstruction with the deep inferior epigastric perforator (DIEP) flap An experience with 280 flaps. *Annals of Plastic Surgery* 2004; 52:246-252.
- 38. Wallace MS, Wallace AM, Lee J and Dobke MK. Pain after breast surgery: A survey of 282 women. *Pain* 1996; 66:195-205.
- 39. Bar-Meir ED, Yueh JH, Hess PE, Hartmann CEA et al. Postoperative Pain Management in DIEP Flap Breast Reconstruction: Identification of Patients With Poor Pain Control. *Eplasty* 2010; 10.
- 40. Bresser PJC, Seynaeve C, Van Gool AR, Niermeijer MF et al. The course of distress in women at increased risk of breast and ovarian cancer due to an (identified) genetic susceptibility who opt for prophylactic mastectomy and/or salpingo-oophorectomy. *European Journal of Cancer* 2007; 43:95-103.
- 41. Torer N, Nursal TZ, Caliskan K, Ezer A et al. The Effect of the Psychological Status of Breast Cancer Patients on the Short-term Clinical Outcome after Mastectomy. *Acta Chirurgica Belgica* 2010; 110:467-470.
- 42. Lam WWT, Bonanno GA, Mancini AD, Ho S et al. Trajectories of psychological distress among Chinese women diagnosed with breast cancer. *Psycho-Oncology* 2010; 19:1044-1051.
- 43. Lam WWT, Shing YT, Bonanno GA, Mancini AD and Fielding R. Distress trajectories at the first year diagnosis of breast cancer in relation to 6 years survivorship. *Psycho-Oncology* 2010n/a.
- 44. Kiecolt-Glaser JK, Page GG, Marucha PT, MacCallum RC and Glaser R. Psychological influences on surgical recovery Perspectives from psychoneuroimmunology. *American Psychologist* 1998; 53:1209-1218.

## CHAPTER 5 PSYCHOLOGICAL DISTRESS AFTER COMPLETION OF IMPLANT OR DIEP FLAP BREAST RECONSTRUCTION AND THE IMPACT OF POSTOPERATIVE COMPLICATIONS: A PROSPECTIVE FOLLOW-UP STUDY

#### Submitted

Gopie JP, Tibben A, Brinkman JN, Seynaeve C, Menke-Pluijmers MBE, ter Kuile MM, Timman R, Mureau MAM



## Abstract

**Background** Many studies investigated psychosocial outcomes after breast reconstruction (BR) following mastectomy for breast cancer, however, studies regarding the impact of complications and subsequent surgery on psychological distress (PD) are scarce. The present prospective follow-up study aimed at investigating the effect of complications following BR on psychological distress after completion of the entire BR process.

**Methods** Patients were approached between December 2007 and May 2010. In total, 196 women awaiting BR were invited for the study of which 152 consented to participate (71 implant BR; 81 DIEP flap BR). Psychological questionnaires with known psychometric properties regarding anxiety, depression and cancer distress, were completed before BR (T0, n=145), after one month (T1, n=139) and after completion of the entire BR process, approximately 21 months after initial surgery (T2, n=119). Complications and subsequent surgery up to T2 were self-reported and obtained from the medical records. Complications, consequent surgery and complete failure of BR were investigated as predictors of PD.

**Results** All PD outcomes declined to normal levels after BR at T2. Complications and subsequent surgery did not lead to increased PD at T2, but complete failure of BR was related to temporarily higher depression levels at T1 and overall higher cancer distress.

**Conclusions** All PD outcomes declined to normal levels after BR at T2. Only complete failure of BR was related to overall higher cancer distress and increased depression on the short term. Women with a complete failure of BR should be carefully monitored after surgery regarding their psychological wellbeing.

#### Introduction

Breast reconstruction (BR) after mastectomy for breast cancer is intended to improve body image, however, there is a considerable risk for complications which may lead to adverse psychological effects [1-4]. Identification of risk factors for psychological distress after BR, including complications and consequent surgery, provides the opportunity to identify patients at increased risk for postoperative distress. Consequently, adequate support can be offered, in addition to routine medical care.

Although several studies investigated the psychosocial impact of BR after mastectomy, only few, mostly retrospective studies focused on the impact of complications on psychological distress [5-8]. One retrospective quantitative study included a short-term follow up period of only three months, showing that psychological distress levels were similar for women with and without complications [7]. Two qualitative studies with very small samples (n=6, and n=21) found that women were unprepared for the BR process, that they felt it was burdensome physically as well as emotionally, and that the additional operations and the long recovery period were disappointing and unexpected [5;8].

In our previous prospective study we found that women with complications after BR reported significantly higher levels of psychological distress one month after surgery [6]. The present prospective follow-up study aimed at investigating the effect of complications following BR on psychological distress after completion of the entire BR process. We hypothesized that the occurrence of complications, subsequent surgery, and a complete failure of BR would predict more psychological distress on the longer term [5;9-11].

## **Patients and Methods**

#### Patients

The current investigation is part of a multi-centre prospective follow-up study regarding the psychosocial impact of BR after either prophylactic or therapeutic mastectomy [6;12-15]. Participants for the current study were women who had opted for BR after mastectomy for breast cancer with either an implant or a DIEP flap. Exclusion criteria were: previous BR, detection of recurrent breast cancer either before or during follow-up, and not being able to understand and speak the Dutch language. Women who did not consent or did not react to the primary and reminder invitation were considered non-respondents.

Patients were approached between December 2007 and May 2010 at the Leiden University Medical Center (LUMC), Erasmus University Medical Center, including Daniel den Hoed Cancer Center, Rotterdam, Haga Teaching Hospital the Hague, Rijnland Hospital Leiderdorp, Lange Land Hospital Zoetermeer, Admiral the Ruyter Hospital (Goes, Vlissingen), and Hospital Zorgsaam Terneuzen, the Netherlands. Ethics approval was obtained from all participating hospitals. In total, 196 women awaiting BR were invited for the study (96 implant BR; 100 DIEP flap BR) of which 152 consented to participate (71 implant BR; 81 DIEP flap BR).

## Procedure

Before surgery, an invitation letter explaining the procedure and purpose of the study, an informed consent, and a prepaid envelope were sent to all women on the BR waiting lists of the participating hospitals. Patients who consented to participate received a questionnaire including a range of demographic, clinical and psychosocial items which they were requested to fill in before BR (T0). Similar questionnaires were asked to fill in one month after surgery (T1), and at the end of the entire BR procedure (T2). Additional questions at T2 concerned complications and subsequent surgery.

## Questionnaires

## <u>Dependent variables</u>

The term "psychological distress" (PD) is used as a general term in this paper covering the concepts anxiety, depression and cancer distress.

Anxiety and depression. Anxiety and depressive symptoms were measured with the Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale (HADS) [16]. The HADS consists of 14 items which are rated on a 4-point Likert scale and includes two subscales, measuring anxiety and depression (both 7 items). Both subscale scores range from 0 to 21. A score of 8 or above can be used as a borderline of clinical significance [16;17]. Good reliability and validity have been reported for the HADS [17;18].

*Breast cancer specific distress.* Cancer-specific distress regarding breast cancer was measured using the Impact of Event Scale (IES) [19;20]. The IES consists of 15 items which are rated on a 4-point Likert scale. The total IES score (range 0-75) measures the extent to which one is overwhelmed by intrusive thoughts and avoidant behavior regarding a specific traumatic event, in this case 'breast cancer'. A cut-off score of 20 or more can be used as an indication for high symptom levels [21]. Reported reliability and validity of the IES are satisfactory [19;22].

Patient satisfaction. At T2 overall patient satisfaction with aesthetic outcome was rated on a 10-point scale as used in a previous study, ranging from 1 (extremely dissatisfied) to 10 (extremely satisfied) [23].

## Independent variables

*Baseline characteristics.* At T0, baseline characteristics, including demographic and clinical information (e.g., age, having a partner or children, educational level, body mass index (BMI), previous breast cancer, adjuvant therapy, type of BR) were assessed using self-report questionnaires.

*Postoperative complications and subsequent surgery.* At T2, the occurrence of complications, subsequent surgery and complete failure of BR were reported by the patients. In addition, the occurrence of postoperative complications and subsequent surgery up to T2 (after

completion of the entire BR process) were obtained from the medical records (JPG, MAMM, JNB). A complication was defined as any adverse physical event specifically related to BR occurring until the T2 assessment. A complication was defined as "major" if it had lead to additional surgery, not including aesthetic improvements or the exchange of tissue expanders with implants. Furthermore, complete failure of BR was defined as loss of a tissue expander, implant or total flap which had not been salvaged by a new BR within the current study period.

#### Statistical analyses

For all patients demographic and clinical information was collected. Missing items from a subscale were inferred by using the mean of the remaining items, if at least 70% of all items had been completed.

Descriptive statistics were calculated for all variables. Baseline differences between participants and women lost to follow-up were analyzed using Chi-square tests, Mann-Whitney U tests, and Student's t-tests.

Complications, subsequent surgery and complete failure of BR obtained from the medical files, were compared with the patient-reported outcomes to check discrepancies using Fisher's exact tests. For the statistical analyses, the occurrence of one or more complications (yes/no) and subsequent surgery (yes/no), number of re-operations (numerical), and complete failure of BR (yes/no) obtained from the medical files were used.

To investigate changes in time in anxiety, depression and cancer distress, multi-level regression analyses (MLA) were performed, which can efficiently handle incomplete timeseries data with a minimal loss of information. It corrects for bias when absence of data is dependent on characteristics that are present in the models [24].

First, saturated models were postulated with anxiety, depression and cancer distress as dependent variables. The saturated models included linear and quadratic time effects as covariates in the regression models. If the dependent variables significantly changed in time, 'occurrence of complications', 'subsequent surgery', 'complete failure of BR' were added as predictors, including 'age' and 'time since mastectomy' as covariates to correct for their influences. All these variables were set as fixed effects, including the interaction effects with the linear and quadratic time points. Continuous variables were standardized to facilitate the interpretation of the estimates ('age' and 'time since mastectomy').

For sufficient power (alpha=0.05, beta=0.20) at least 135 participants were required with a maximum of 14 covariates [25]. The deviance statistic [26] using restricted maximum likelihood [27] was applied to determine whether a random slope was needed in addition to a random intercept. The saturated model was reduced by eliminating fixed effects with p-value > 0.05, taking into account that interaction effects ought to be nested under their respective main effects [28]. The significance of the difference between the saturated model and the parsimonious final model was determined with the deviance statistic using the maximum likelihood. Effect sizes in the MLA model were calculated by dividing the estimated differences by the estimated standard deviation at baseline [29].

Finally, overall patient satisfaction at T2 was described providing general descriptive statistics and Spearman's Rho correlation coefficients were calculated, with the complication variables ('occurrence of complications', 'subsequent surgery', and 'complete failure of BR') and type of BR, as patient satisfaction was non-normally distributed.

Two-sided p-values < 0.05 were considered statistically significant and data were analyzed with the statistical package SPSS 17.0 (SPSS Inc., Chicago).

#### Results

#### Patient samples

Seven women were excluded from the analyses due to the development of recurrent disease after completion of the first questionnaire (Figure 1). Thirty women were lost to follow-up: one patient with diabetes mellitus who died 18 days after DIEP flap BR due to pneumonia, eight women stopped participation, and 21 women did not complete all three questionnaires (T0, T1 and T2). Dropouts (n=30) did not differ significantly from other participants meeting the inclusion criteria (n=115) regarding demographic variables, additional surgery for complications, complete failure of BR, and baseline anxiety, depression and cancer distress (data not shown). However, more dropouts had (minor) complications (63% vs. 37%, p=0.013).

Patient characteristics and complications were reported for all participants fulfilling the inclusion criteria (n=145, Tables 1 and 2). Further analyses were performed on their data of all three assessments (T0: n=145; T1: n=139; T2: n=119, Tables 3 and 4).

#### Demographic and clinical characteristics

Baseline patient characteristics are shown in Table 1. The time period between mastectomy for breast cancer and BR was on average 2.3 years, (range=0-20.3 yrs, median=1.6 yrs). Questionnaires at T2 were completed on average 21.2 months after BR (sd=5.9 months, median=20.4 months).

#### Postoperative complications and subsequent surgery

Complications after BR and consequent surgery, as obtained from the medical files are described in Table 2. During the entire BR process (mean=21.2 months), 62 (43%) patients experienced one or more complications (e.g. wound infection, skin necrosis, hematoma or wound dehiscence) and 50 (35%) patients of the total sample consequently needed additional surgery. Twenty-two (15%) women even underwent more than one surgical intervention due to complications (range 2-5; Table 2). Reasons for additional surgery were, for example, hematoma drainage, replacement of an infected tissue expander, or a microvascular revision. Ten women (6.9%) lost their reconstructed breast during the follow-up period, which were significantly more patients with an implant BR (n=9; p=0.007). There were no differences in the occurrence of complications or subsequent surgical interventions between women with either implant or DIEP flap BR (p=0.51 and p=0.22, respectively). Significantly more wound infections occurred after implant BR (p<0.001).

Figure 1. Flow chart of patient inclusion



Inconsistencies were found between the data from the medical reports and the self-reported patient questionnaires regarding the occurrence of complications, subsequent surgery and the complete failure of BR (p<0.001), showing an over-report of complications by patients. However, when comparing the correlations with anxiety, depression and cancer distress no significantly different correlations were found for the medical and patient-reported outcomes. Therefore, for all statistical analyses, data from the medical reports were used as these were complete for all patients.

## Changes in anxiety, depression and cancer distress after breast reconstruction

For all three unadjusted PD measures, significant linear and quadratic time effects were found. Anxiety significantly declined with effect sizes of d=-0.19 from T0 to T1 and d=-0.44 from T0 to T2 (Table 4). Depression significantly increased from T0 to T1 (d=0.18), whereas from T0 to T2 depression did not significantly decrease (d=-0.17). Cancer distress significantly decreased from T0 to T1 (d=0.43) and from T0 to T2 (d=-0.57).

	N (%)
Mean age in years at time of BR (sd)	49.4 (8.7)
Having a partner	121 (83.4)
Having children	126 (86.9)
Education level	
Low	26 (17.9)
Intermediate	56 (38.6)
High	63 (43.4)
Inherited predisposition for BC <sup>a</sup>	39 (26.9)
Unilateral BR	108 (74.5)
Bilateral BR	37 (25.5)
Immediate BR	47 (32.4)
Delayed BR	98 (67.6)
Implant BR	70 (48.3)
DIEP-flap BR	75 (51.7)
Mean time since mastectomy in years (sd)	2.3 (3.3)
Mean BMI in kg/m <sup>2</sup> (sd)	21.2 (5.9)

## Table 1. Baseline patient characteristics of 145 women undergoing breast reconstruction after therapeutic mastectomy

<sup>a</sup>: brca1/brca2/familial risk; ; BC: breast cancer; BMI: body mass index; DIEP: Deep Inferior Epigastric artery Perforator; BR: breast reconstruction; sd: standard deviation

## Predictors of anxiety, depression and cancer distress after breast reconstruction

The adjusted time effects for all three PD measures with the covariates are presented in Table 3.

## Loss of the reconstructed breast(s)

Of the complication variables, only complete failure of BR was significantly related to depression and cancer distress. A significant time effect demonstrated an increase of depression at T1, with a large effect size, (d=0.67+0.18=0.85), but these symptoms declined at T2 (Table 4). Regarding cancer distress only a main effect was found demonstrating that complete failure of BR was associated with higher scores during the entire BR course (d=0.65).

## Covariates

The MLA model demonstrated main effects for age with anxiety and depression, indicating that a younger age was related to more anxiety as well as more depression during the entire BR course. For cancer distress significant time interaction-effects were found with age and the mean estimates were significantly lower at T1 and T2 if age increased with 10 years

	Implant BR N=70	DIEP flap BR N=75	p Value*
	n (%)	n (%)	
One or more complications	32 (45.7)	30 (40.0)	0.51
Subsequent surgery for complications	28 (40.0)	22 (29.3)	0.22
Subsequent surgery more than once	14 (20.0)	8 (10.7)	0.16
<u>Complete failure of BR</u>	9 (12.9)	1 (1.3)	0.007
Type of complications			
Wound healing complications			
Wound dehiscence	2 (2.9)	0	0.23
Wound infection	16 (22.9)	2 (2.7)	<0.001
Haemorrhage leading to surgery	3 (4.3)	2 (2.7)	0.67
Hematoma	2 (2.9)	7 (9.3)	0.17
Partial mastectomy skin flap necrosis	1 (1.4)	3 (4.0)	0.62
Seroma	0	2 (2.7)	0.50
Abscess	1 (1.4)	1 (1.3)	1.00
Implant-related complications			
Prosthesis malposition	2 (2.9)		
Implant or tissue expander perforation	2 (2.9)		
Capsular contracture	4 (5.7)		
Definite loss of implant/expander	9 (12.9)		
Flap-related complications			
Fat necrosis		7 (9.3)	
Venous congestion		1 (1.3)	
Partial flap necrosis		2 (2.7)	
Total flap loss		1 (1.3)	
Abdominal wound healing problems		4 (5.3)	
Abdominal herniation		1 (1.3)	
General complications			
Radiodermatitis	1 (1.4)	0	0.48
Pneumothorax	1 (1.4)	0	0.48
Symptomatic pulmonary embolism	0	1 (1.3)	1.00
Subcutaneous extravasation i.v. line	0	2 (2.7)	0.50

## Table 2. Complications obtained from the medical files after implant and DIEP flap BR

DIEP: Deep Inferior Epigastric artery Perforator; BR: breast reconstruction; \* Fisher's exact test

Fixed effects	Est	imate [95% CI]	Std. Error	p-value
Anxiety				
Intercept	4.92	[4.33 – 5.51]	0.30	< 0.001
Time linear	-0.703	[-1.322 – -0.084]	0.314	0.03
Time quadratic	0.0299	[0.00110.0588]	0.0147	0.04
Age	-0.116	[-0.173 – -0.058]	0.029	< 0.001
Time since mastectomy	-0.0196	[-0.1795 – 0.1404]	0.0810	0.81
Time since mastectomy * linear time	0.0139	[0.0049 – 0.0229]	0.0046	0.003
Depression				
Intercept	5.16	[4.46 – 5.86]	0.35	< 0.001
Time linear	0.80	[0.04 – 1.55]	0.38	0.04
Time quadratic	-0.0395	[-0.07470.0044]	0.0178	0.03
Complete failure of BR	0.751	[-1.900 – 3.402]	1.347	0.58
Complete failure of BR * time linear	2.87	[0.04 – 5.69]	1.43	0.047
Complete failure of BR * time quadratic	-0.136	[-0.268 – -0.004]	0.067	0.04
Age	-0.103	[-0.167 – -0.038]	0.033	0.002
Time since mastectomy	0.0639	[-0.1175 – 0.2454]	0.0920	0.49
Time since mastectomy * linear time	0.0173	[0.0067 – 0.0279]	0.0054	0.001
Cancer distress				
Intercept	22.20	[20.10 – 24.31]	1.07	< 0.001
Time linear	-5.59	[-7.63 – -3.56]	1.04	< 0.001
Time quadratic	0.250	[0.155 – 0.345]	0.048	< 0.001
Complete failure of BR	8.07	[1.12 – 15.02]	3.52	0.02
Age	-0.171	[-0.410 – 0.069]	0.122	0.16
Age * linear time	-0.36	[-0.600.13]	0.12	0.003
Age * quadratic time	0.0166	[0.0055 – 0.0276]	0.0056	0.003
Time since mastectomy	-0.90	[-1.54 – -0.27]	0.32	0.005
Time since mastectomy * linear time	0.651	[0.031 – 1.271]	0.315	0.04
Time since mastectomy * quadratic time	-0.0300	[-0.0588 – -0.0011]	0.0147	0.04

Table 3. Predictors of the course of cancer distress in women undergoing BR analyzed with MLA

BR: breast reconstruction; MLA: multi-level regression analysis

		Anxiety		L	Depression	-	Car	ncer distre	SSS
	Estimate	<b>d</b> <sup>3)</sup>	d	Estimate	<b>d</b> <sup>3)</sup>	d	Estimate	<b>d</b> <sup>3)</sup>	d
No covariate effects <sup>1)</sup>									
Baseline	4.9			5.2			22.2		
1 month	4.3	-0.19	0.026	5.9	0.18	0.039	16.9	-0.43	<0.001
21 months	3.4	-0.44	<0.001	4.5	-0.17	0.067	15.1	-0.57	<0.001
Age, 10 years additional									
Baseline	3.8	ı	ı	4.1	ı	ı	20.5		
1 month	3.1			4.9			11.7	-0.28	0.003
21 months	2.2			3.4			10.3	-0.25	0.011
Time since mastectomy,									
10 years additional <sup>2)</sup>									
Baseline	4.7			5.2			13.2		
1 month	4.2	0.04	0.003	6.2	0.04	0.001	14.0	0.50	0.039
21 months	6.1	0.81	0.003	8.2	0.89	0.001	10.8	0.38	0.172
Complete failure of BR									
Baseline	4.9		ı	5.9			30.3	ı	
1 month	4.3			9.4	0.67	0.047	24.9		
21 months	3.4			5.4	0.06	0.876	23.2		

<sup>21</sup> 15 women have a delay > 5 years, of whom 4 > 10 years  $^{31}$  Cohen's d, effect size compared to baseline, for covariates additional effect sizes.

older than the mean (Table 4). Finally, a longer time since mastectomy showed significant time effects for anxiety, depression and cancer distress. If a longer time since mastectomy was increased with 10 years, significantly more anxiety and depression at both T1 and T2 were found. Cancer distress was significantly higher at T1 for women who underwent mastectomy a longer time ago, but not at T2 (Table 4).

#### Patient satisfaction with aesthetic outcome

Mean patient satisfaction with aesthetic outcome at T2 (n=113) was 7.67 (sd=1.41, median=8.00, range=2-10). Of the complication variables, only additional surgery for complications was negatively correlated with patient satisfaction (r=-0.30, p=0.002) and it was positively correlated with the type of BR (r=0.32, p=0.001). This indicates that women who had surgery for complications and women with an implant BR were less satisfied with the aesthetic outcome at T2.

#### Discussion

This study prospectively investigated the relationship between complications, subsequent surgery and complete failure of BR with psychological distress (PD) after completion of the entire BR course. Overall, PD after BR significantly decreased in time. Complete failure of BR was significantly related to increased cancer distress during the entire BR course and to increased depression on the short term. The occurrence of complications did not result in high levels of PD on the long term.

The total complication rate after BR of 42% in the present study is comparable with other studies [7;30;31]. Although the occurrence of complications was not related to PD or patient satisfaction on the long term, additional surgery for complications predicted less patient satisfaction with aesthetic outcome on the long term. This is in line with another study concerning a similar patient group [32]. It is also in accordance with previous literature reporting women with a DIEP flap BR in general are more satisfied with the aesthetic result [23;33-36].

An explanation for the non-significant relationship between the occurrence of complications and consequent surgery with PD may be that other factors might have a more profound effect on PD, such as changes in body image [37-39] or pain symptoms [6] but this was not consistently measured within the current study design. Furthermore, to specifically measure the impact of complications on PD, ideally each patient should have completed the PD questionnaires immediately after a complication had occurred, which is suggested for future research. In the current study, it may have been the case that complications had already been salvaged at the time patients completed the final questionnaire, as the T2 questionnaire was planned after completion of the entire BR course. Finally, since many dropouts had complications it might be possible that the correlation between complications and PD would have been higher if dropouts had still participated. Nevertheless, our study sample had sufficient power and we assume it was representative regarding age and timing of BR compared to the non-respondents as described elsewhere [6].

In accordance with other studies, younger women had more psychological adjustment problems compared to older women [40;41]. Younger breast cancer patients are generally diagnosed with more aggressive tumors, and therefore likely to be treated more extensively. In addition, they are faced with more concerns regarding relationship establishment, fertility issues, and body image problems compared to older women [42-49]. It may be that they are less experienced with disruptive life events and that they have less adaptive coping skills than older women, although in time their distress levels may recover well [50]. It might be reassuring for younger patients to receive information that it is common for younger women to experience high distress levels, but that in time this may resolve [50].

A *longer* period between BR and the mastectomy (time since breast cancer diagnosis) was related to increased anxiety and depression at T2. The strongest effect was found if the time since mastectomy was 10 years longer ago compared to the average time. Although this concerned only a small number of women, effect sizes were large. Women with higher PD since mastectomy might decide at a later point in life to opt for BR. They might have experienced a longer period of fear of recurrence or physical symptoms since breast cancer treatment, next to the dissatisfaction with wearing a prosthesis which might have led to increased PD before BR [51-54]. Shortly after BR their cancer distress might have increased as they were possibly reminded of their previous mastectomy and the breast cancer itself. Cancer distress was not significantly increased at the longer-term for women who underwent mastectomy a longer time ago. This can be explained by their relatively low baseline level which could not be reduced much more.

Women who eventually had a completely failed BR reported more depression at short term follow-up, whereas it is likely that it was unclear at that point that the failed BR could not be salvaged by another method. Also, these women experienced increased cancer distress during the entire BR course, remarkably even before undergoing BR. Considering the relationship between psychological wellbeing and the physical immune system, a hypothesis may be that more preoperative distress is related to a decreased physical recovery from BR [55;56]. Nevertheless, it is suggested to reconsider offering BR to highly distressed patients, as preoperative distress may be a receipt for a worse recovery process, but future research should confirm this.

In conclusion, overall the majority of patients adjusted well after BR, regardless of complications. However, a complete failure of BR was related to higher PD. During postoperative outpatient visits, the psychological wellbeing should be explored, particularly in women with a failed BR [57]. In addition, postoperative telephone contacts with nurse-practitioners could be provided to patients at risk for high PD. Reconstructive surgeons and/ or nurse practitioners should refer patients any time during the BR course for psychological help if significant psychological adjustment problems persist.

Acknowledgements; We would like to thank all women who took part in the study. We thank the involved specialists for providing patients and medical data: G. K. van Drunen, J. F. A. van der Werff, J. Zguricas, N. A. S. Posch, D. P. M. Goossens at the participating centers LUMC, EMCR, Rijnland Hospital Leiderdorp, Lange Land Hospital, Haga Hospital, Hospital

Walcheren, Oosterschelde Hospital and the Hospital Zorgsaam. We also thank Annelies Kleijne for data management.

## References

- 1. Damen THC, Mureau MAM, Timman R, Rakhorst HA and Hofer SOP. The pleasing end result after DIEP flap breast reconstruction: a review of additional operations. *Journal of Plastic Reconstructive and Aesthetic Surgery* 2009; 62:71-76.
- 2. Hofer SOP, Damen THC, Mureau MAM, Rakhorst HA and Roche NA. A critical review of perioperative complications in 175 free deep inferior epigastric perforator flap breast reconstructions. *Annals of Plastic Surgery* 2007; 59:137-142.
- 3. Sullivan SR, Fletcher DRD, Isom CD and Isik FF. True incidence of all complications following immediate and delayed breast reconstruction. *Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery* 2008; 122:19-28.
- 4. Woerdeman LAE, Hage JJ, Hofland MMI and Rutgers EJT. A prospective assessment of surgical risk factors in 400 cases of skin-sparing mastectomy and immediate breast reconstruction with implants to establish selection criteria. *Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery* 2007; 119:455-463.
- 5. Fallbjork U, Frejeus E and Rasmussen BH. A preliminary study into women's experiences of undergoing reconstructive surgery after breast cancer. *European journal of oncology nursing : the official journal of European Oncology Nursing Society* 2012; 16:220-226.
- 6. Gopie JP, Timman R, Hilhorst MT, Hofer SOP et al. The short-term psychological impact of complications after breast reconstruction. *Psycho-Oncology* 2011DOI: 10.1002/ pon.2089.
- 7. Potter S, Thomson HJ, Greenwood RJ, Hopwood P and Winters ZE. Health-related quality of life assessment after breast reconstruction. *British Journal of Surgery* 2009; 96:613-620.
- 8. Spector DJ, Mayer DK, Knafl K and Pusic A. Women's Recovery Experiences After Breast Cancer Reconstruction Surgery. *Journal of Psychosocial Oncology* 2011; 29:664-676.
- 9. Abu-Nab Z and Grunfeld EA. Satisfaction with outcome and attitudes towards scarring among women undergoing breast reconstructive surgery. *Patient Education and Counseling* 2007; 66:243-249.
- 10. Lee CN, Hultman CS and Sepucha K. What Are Patients' Goals and Concerns About Breast Reconstruction After Mastectomy? *Annals of Plastic Surgery* 2010; 64:567-569.
- 11. Fang SY, Balneaves LG and Shu BC. "A Struggle Between Vanity and Life" The Experience of Receiving Breast Reconstruction in Women of Taiwan. *Cancer Nursing* 2010; 33:E1-E11.
- 12. Gopie JP, ter Kuile MM, Timman R, Tibben A and Mureau MAM. Impact of delayed implant and DIEP flap breast reconstruction on body image and sexual satisfaction: A prospective follow-up study. *Revision submitted* 2012.
- 13. Gopie JP, Mureau MAM, Seynaeve C, ter Kuile M.M. et al. Body image issues after bilateral prophylactic mastectomy with breast reconstruction in healthy women at risk for hereditary breast cancer. *Familial Cancer* 2012DOI: 10.1007/s10689-012-9588-5.

- 14. Gopie JP, Timman R, Hilhorst MT, Hofer SO et al. Information-seeking behaviour and coping style of women opting for either implant or DIEP-flap breast reconstruction. *Journal of Plastic Reconstructive and Aesthetic Surgery* 2011; 64:1167-1173.
- 15. Gopie JP, Hilhorst MT, Kleijne A, Timman R et al. Women's motives to opt for either implant or DIEP-flap breast reconstruction. *Journal of Plastic Reconstructive and Aesthetic Surgery* 2011; 64:1062-1067.
- 16. Zigmond AS and Snaith RP. The Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale. *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica* 1983; 67:361-370.
- 17. Bjelland I, Dahl AA, Haug TT and Neckelmann D. The validity of the Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale An updated literature review. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research* 2002; 52:69-77.
- 18. Spinhoven P, Ormel J, Sloekers PPA, Kempen GIJM et al. A validation study of the Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale (HADS) in different groups of Dutch subjects. *Psychological Medicine* 1997; 27:363-370.
- 19. van der Ploeg E, Mooren TTM, Kleber RJ, van der Velden PG and Brom D. Construct validation of the Dutch version of the impact of event scale. *Psychological Assessment* 2004; 16:16-26.
- 20. Horowitz M, Wilner N and Alvarez W. Impact of Event Scale Measure of Subjective Stress. *Psychosomatic Medicine* 1979; 41:209-218.
- 21. Horowitz, M.J. Stress Response Syndromes and Their Treatment. In L. Goldberger, S. Breznitz (Eds.), *Handbook of Stress. Theoretical and Clinical aspects*, 1 Ed. New York: The Free Press, 1982 Pp. 711-732.
- 22. Joseph S. Psychometric evaluation of Horowitz's impact of event scale: A review. *Journal of Traumatic Stress* 2000; 13:101-113.
- 23. Damen THC, Timman R, Kunst EH, Gopie JP et al. High satisfaction rates in women after DIEP flap breast reconstruction. *Journal of Plastic Reconstructive and Aesthetic Surgery* 2010; 63:93-100.
- 24. Little RJA, Rubin DB Statistical analysis with missing data. New York: John Wiley and Sons, 1987.
- 25. Green SB. How Many Subjects Does It Take to do A Regression-Analysis. *Multivariate Behavioral Research* 1991; 26:499-510.
- 26. Singer, J., Willet, J. Applied longitudinal data analysis modeling change and event occurrence. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2003.
- 27. Verbeke G., Molenberghs G. Linear mixed models for longitudinal data. New York: Springer Series in Statistics, Springer-Verlag, 2000.
- 28. Hox, J. Multilevel Analysis Techniques and Applications. Mahwah, New Jersey: Erlbaum, 2002.
- 29. Cohen, J. Statistical power analysis for the behavioral sciences, 2nd Ed. New Jersey: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, 1988.
- 30. Alderman AK, Wilkins EG, Kim HM and Lowery JC. Complications in postmastectomy breast reconstruction: Two-year results of the Michigan breast reconstruction outcome study. *Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery* 2002; 109:2265-2274.

- 31. Berry T, Brooks S, Sydow N, Djohan R et al. Complication rates of radiation on tissue expander and autologous tissue breast reconstruction. *Ann Surg Oncol* 2010; 17:202-210.
- 32. Colakoglu S, Khansa I, Curtis MS, Yueh JH et al. Impact of Complications on Patient Satisfaction in Breast Reconstruction. *Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery* 2011; 127:1428-1436.
- 33. Atisha D, Alderman AK, Lowery JC, Kuhn LE et al. Prospective analysis of long-term psychosocial outcomes in breast reconstruction Two-year postoperative results from the Michigan Breast Reconstruction Outcomes Study. *Annals of Surgery* 2008; 247:1019-1028.
- 34. Tonseth KA, Hokland BM, Tindholdt TT, Abyholm FE and Stavem K. Quality of life, patient satisfaction and cosmetic outcome after breast reconstruction using DIEP flap or expandable breast implant. *Journal of Plastic Reconstructive and Aesthetic Surgery* 2008; 61:1188-1194.
- 35. Wilkins EG, Cederna PS, Lowery JC, Davis JA et al. Prospective analysis of psychosocial outcomes in breast reconstruction: One-year postoperative results from the Michigan Breast Reconstruction Outcome Study. *Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery* 2000; 106:1014-1025.
- 36. Yueh JH, Slavin SA, Adesiyun T, Nyame TT et al. Patient Satisfaction in Postmastectomy Breast Reconstruction: A Comparative Evaluation of DIEP, TRAM, Latissimus Flap, and Implant Techniques. *Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery* 2010; 125:1585-1595.
- Al-Ghazal SK, Fallowfield L and Blamey RW. Does cosmetic outcome from treatment of primary breast cancer influence psychosocial morbidity? *European Journal of Surgical Oncology* 1999; 25:571-573.
- 38. Helms RL, O'Hea EL and Corso M. Body image issues in women with breast cancer. *Psychol Health Med* 2008; 13:313-325.
- 39. Schover LR, Yetman RJ, Tuason LJ, Meisler E et al. Partial Mastectomy and Breast Reconstruction A Comparison of Their Effects on Psychosocial Adjustment, Body-Image, and Sexuality. *Cancer* 1995; 75:54-64.
- 40. Ganz PA, Greendale GA, Petersen L, Kahn B and Bower JE. Breast cancer in younger women: Reproductive and late health effects of treatment. *Journal of Clinical Oncology* 2003; 21:4184-4193.
- 41. Harrison J and Maguire P. Influence of age on psychological adjustment to cancer. *Psycho-Oncology* 1995; 4:33-38.
- 42. Banz-Jansen C, Heinrichs A, Hedderich M, Waldmann A et al. Characteristics and therapy of premenopausal patients with early-onset breast cancer in Germany. *Archives of Gynecology and Obstetrics* 2012; 286:489-493.
- 43. Broeckel JA, Thors CL, Jacobsen PB, Small M and Cox CE. Sexual functioning in long-term breast cancer survivors treated with adjuvant chemotherapy. *Breast Cancer Research and Treatment* 2002; 75:241-248.
- 44. Chen CL, Liao MN, Chen SC, Chan PL and Chen SC. Body Image and Its Predictors in Breast Cancer Patients Receiving Surgery. *Cancer Nursing* 2012; 35:E10-E16.

- 45. Coyne E and Borbasi S. Living the experience of breast cancer treatment: The younger women's perspective. *Australian Journal of Advanced Nursing* 2009; 26:6-13.
- 46. Freedman RA and Partridge AH. Adjuvant therapies for very young women with early stage breast cancer. *Breast (Edinburgh, Scotland)* 2011; 20 Suppl 3:S146-S149.
- 47. Kheirelseid EAH, Boggs JME, Curran C, Glynn RW et al. Younger age as a prognostic indicator in breast cancer: A cohort study. *Bmc Cancer* 2011; 11.
- 48. King MT, Kenny P, Shiell A, Hall J and Boyages J. Quality of life three months and one year after first treatment for early stage breast cancer: Influence of treatment and patient characteristics. *Quality of Life Research* 2000; 9:789-800.
- 49. Gorman JR, Bailey S, Pierce JP and Su HI. How do you feel about fertility and parenthood? The voices of young female cancer survivors. *Journal of Cancer Survivorship-Research and Practice* 2012; 6:200-209.
- 50. Schlegel RJ, Manning MA, Molix LA, Talley AE and Bettencourt BA. Predictors of depressive symptoms among breast cancer patients during the first year post diagnosis. *Psychology & Health* 2012; 27:277-293.
- 51. Costanzo ES, Stawski RS, Ryff CD, Coe CL and Almeida DM. Cancer Survivors' Responses to Daily Stressors: Implications for Quality of Life. *Health Psychology* 2012; 31:360-370.
- 52. Taha SA, Matheson K and Anisman H. Everyday Experiences of Women Posttreatment After Breast Cancer: The Role of Uncertainty, Hassles, Uplifts, and Coping on Depressive Symptoms. *Journal of Psychosocial Oncology* 2012; 30:359-379.
- 53. van den Beuken-van Everdingen M, Peters ML, de Rijke JM, Schouten HC et al. Concerns of former breast cancer patients about disease recurrence: a validation and prevalence study. *Psycho-Oncology* 2008; 17:1137-1145.
- 54. Begum S, Grunfeld EA, Ho-Asjoe M and Farhadi J. An exploration of patient decisionmaking for autologous breast reconstructive surgery following a mastectomy. *Patient Education and Counseling* 2011; 84:105-110.
- 55. Kim SY, Kim JM, Kim SW, Shin IS et al. Associations Between Plasma Cytokines and Depressive Mood in Patients with Breast Cancer. *International Journal of Psychiatry in Medicine* 2012; 43:1-17.
- 56. Blomberg BB, Alvarez JP, Diaz A, Romero MG et al. Psychosocial adaptation and cellular immunity in breast cancer patients in the weeks after surgery: An exploratory study. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research* 2009; 67:369-376.
- 57. Mitchell AJ. Are one or two simple questions sufficient to detect depression in cancer and palliative care? A Bayesian meta-analysis. *British Journal of Cancer* 2008; 98:1934-1943.

## CHAPTER 6 IMPACT OF DELAYED IMPLANT AND DIEP FLAP BREAST RECONSTRUCTION ON BODY IMAGE AND SEXUAL SATISFACTION: A PROSPECTIVE FOLLOW-UP STUDY

#### Revision submitted

Gopie JP, ter Kuile MM, Timman R, Mureau MAM, Tibben A



## Abstract

**Objective** Prospective studies regarding the psychosexual impact after different types of breast reconstruction (BR) are scarce. The impact of either implant or DIEP flap BR on body image and sexual relationship satisfaction was investigated in time.

**Methods** At baseline 98 women opting for delayed implant or DIEP flap BR after mastectomy for breast cancer completed a survey. The majority was followed up at 6 and 20 months postoperatively. Questionnaires included the Body Image Scale, Dutch Relationship Questionnaire, Short Form – 36 Healthy Survey and the Impact of Event Scale.

**Results** Mixed modeling analyses indicated that preoperative body image improved significantly after 20 months (Cohen's d=1.51, p<0.001) and there was no statistically significant difference between the two types of BR. A better body image was related to a better general mental health (d=0.19; p=0.02), less cancer distress (d=-0.33, p<0.001) and a higher partner relationship satisfaction (d=0.27, p<0.001). Sexual relationship satisfaction also increased after 20 months (d=0.22, p=0.01) and was positively related to more partner relationship satisfaction but negatively affected by hormonal therapy.

**Conclusions** Body image and sexual relationship satisfaction significantly improved after BR and this was not related to the BR type. Psychosexual consequences from previous cancer treatment may interfere. During the course of BR, extra attention should be paid to patients with lower general mental health, higher cancer distress, less partner relationship satisfaction or those with hormonal therapy as this can negatively affect body image or sexual relationship satisfaction.

## Introduction

Psychosexual changes after breast cancer treatment include fear of loss of fertility, negative body image, loss of femininity and attractiveness, depression and anxiety [1-4]. A range of sexual complaints, such as dyspareunia, vaginal dryness, decreased sexual desire and/ or sexual pleasure and numbness of the breasts, have been reported as a consequence of breast cancer treatment [5-13].

Generally, no differences have been found in body image and sexual satisfaction between women with breast-conserving therapy, mastectomy only, or mastectomy with breast reconstruction (BR), however, conflicting results have been reported [14-16]. This discrepancy suggests that different factors play a role in satisfaction with body image and sexuality after BR: direct and indirect effects of surgery, radiation, chemo- and hormonal therapy, as well as lowered physical and mental functionalities [5-13].

Several BR options exist after mastectomy: immediate as well as delayed reconstruction with implants, autologous tissue, or a combination of both [17]. The deep inferior epigastric artery perforator (DIEP) flap is a relatively new technique using abdominal tissue generally leading to high patient satisfaction [18;19] as well as more positive body image compared to implant BR [20-23].

As multiple factors affect outcomes after breast surgery, it is important to prospectively investigate these aspects in homogenous groups. The primary aim of this study was to *prospectively* investigate the impact of delayed implant and DIEP flap BR on body image and sexual satisfaction, which to the best of our knowledge has never been done by others [21;23;24]. Secondly, to study whether other clinical and psychological variables, were significantly related to changes in body image and/or sexual satisfaction.

## **Patients and Methods**

#### Patients

This study is part of a multi-center prospective follow-up study on the psychological impact of BR [25-27]. For the current study, women opting for a delayed BR after a history of breast cancer were included. Some women also underwent a contralateral prophylactic mastectomy followed by bilateral reconstruction. Reconstructions were either implant based usually preceded by tissue expansion or using an artery DIEP flap<sup>3</sup> from the abdomen [18].

Exclusion criteria were a previous BR, detection of recurrent loco regional or distant disease, and not being able to understand and speak the Dutch language sufficiently. Women who did not consent or who did not react two weeks after the invitation were considered as non-respondents. Patients were approached between December 2007 and May 2010 and ethics approval was obtained from all participating hospitals<sup>4</sup>. Of the 131 invited patients who were scheduled for delayed BR, 105 women (80%) consented to participate (Figure 1).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> DIEP flap was performed only at Erasmus University Medical Center Rotterdam (EMCR) and the Haga Teaching (Haga) Hospital

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Leiden University Medical Center (LUMC), EMCR/Daniel den Hoed Cancer Centre, Haga Hospital, Rijnland Hospital Leiderdorp, Hospital Walcheren, Admiraal de Ruyter Hospital Goes and at the Hospital Zorgsaam.
#### Procedure

Preoperatively, an invitation letter explaining the procedure and purpose of the study, an informed consent, and a prepaid envelope were sent to all women on the BR waiting lists of the participating hospitals. A reminder was sent by letter if patients did not respond within two weeks or they received a reminder by phone if surgery was planned on short term. Patients, who returned informed consent, received the survey including a range of demographic, clinical and psychological questionnaires which they were requested to complete preoperatively (T0). Six months postoperatively (T1), patients filled in the same survey they previously had completed. Finally, the survey was sent after finishing the complete BR course, including nipple reconstruction if this was planned within the duration period of the study (T2). Women, who had not completely finished their BR course, completed the questionnaires regarding the preliminary end result.

#### Measurements

Demographic information (e.g., age, having a partner or children (at home), educational level), and clinical data (e.g., timing of BR, body mass index (BMI)) were collected in the survey and clinical data were confirmed by checking medical records. The following questionnaires had to be completed for at least 75% of the items to calculate scale scores.

#### Primary outcome measures

#### Body image

A study-specific body image scale (BIS) was developed (Appendix 1), based on Lodder et al [28], and is described elsewhere [29]. The scale consisted of 13 items which were scored from 1-5 (totally disagree, disagree, neutral, agree, totally agree, respectively). After recoding the negative items (items 4, 5, 11, 13), a mean scale score was calculated (1-5) where a higher score indicates a more positive body image. The internal consistency of the BIS was high in the current study sample (Cronbach's a= 0.89). Two items were only completed by patients with a partner, nevertheless, for the single women a mean scale score was calculated as well as at least 75% (10 items) had to be completed.

#### Sexual relationship satisfaction

To investigate the course of satisfaction with the *sexual relationship*, the subscale 'sexuality' of The Dutch Relationship Questionnaire (NRV) was used [30]. The NRV has shown good psychometric properties and a total score on the subscale 'sexuality' below eight (range 0-12) indicates below average or low sexual relationship satisfaction and a bad sexual compatibility with the partner [30]. The NRV was completed only by women with a partner.

#### Secondary outcome measures

Satisfaction with the overall *partner relationship* was investigated with the NRV as well. Normally, the total score of the NRV can be used to provide this satisfaction score. However, to correct for the impact of sexual satisfaction, the score of the 'sexuality' subscale was subtracted from the total score. Therefore, scores under 49 (range 0-68) indicate below average or low satisfaction with the partner relationship, excluding sexual satisfaction.

*Breast cancer specific distress* was measured using the 15-items Impact of Event Scale (IES) [31;32]. The total IES score was used in this study ranging from 0 to 75. Reported reliability and validity of the IES are satisfactory [31;33]. The categorization of the IES score is not indicative for specific clinical diagnoses, but a cutoff score of 20 or higher can be used to indicate high symptom levels [33;34].

Changes between baseline and follow-up measurements of *general mental and physical health* were assessed with the Dutch version of the 36-item Short-Form Health Survey (SF-36), designed to measure health related quality of life. General physical and mental complaints were measured with the Physical Component Summary (PCS) and the Mental Component Summary (MCS) of the SF-36, respectively [35-37]. These scales are aggregated from 8 subscales of the SF-36: physical functioning, social functioning, role limitations caused by physical health problems, role limitations caused by emotional problems, mental health, vitality, bodily pain and general health perception. In this norm based scoring method each scale has the same mean value (50) and standard deviation (10). Consequently, a scale score below 50 indicates a health status below average [36].

#### Statistical analyses

Descriptive statistics were calculated for all variables. Differences between respondents and non-respondents and between implant and DIEP flap BR patients were investigated using Student's t-tests, Mann-Whitney U tests and Fisher's Exact tests.

To investigate changes in time in the primary psychological outcome measures (body image and sexual satisfaction) after implant and DIEP flap BR, multi-level regression analyses (MLA) were performed, which can handle incomplete time-series data efficiently with a minimal loss of information. These analyses also compensate for different numbers of participants within the subgroups, and for dropout when dropout is dependent on variables that are included in the regression model [38].

Saturated models were postulated with time, time squared and relevant covariates. The time variable was coded 0, 6 and 20, respecting the uneven time spans between the measurements. The number of covariates in the models is limited by the number of participants and repeated measures. The number of 98 participants is sufficient for the determination of 6 medium sized covariates [39]. This is a conservative calculation, the three repeated measures allow for more covariates.

In a first step we reduced the number of relevant potential covariates, by calculating Spearman's correlation coefficients with all clinical pretreatment characteristics (Table 1) and changes in the psychological outcomes between baseline and 20 months (partner relationship satisfaction, cancer distress, general mental and physical health and body image or sexual satisfaction). Secondly, the variables that significantly correlated with change in the primary outcomes (p< 0.05), were entered in the multi-level regression analysis as covariates. Continuous covariates (age, cancer distress, general mental health) were centred for ease of interpretation. In this way the intercept indicates the estimated

value for a woman at the mean of the covariates. Changes in the secondary outcomes were investigated with separate MLA for each outcome measure including time effects only.

In a backward procedure all non-significant effects were removed from the model (*p*-out > 0.05), until a parsimonious model was reached. Effect sizes (Cohen's *d*) were calculated by dividing the difference between the follow-up estimates and baseline by the estimated standard deviation. An effect size of 0.20 was considered small, 0.50 medium and 0.80 large [40]. Two-sided *p*-values < 0.05 were considered statistically significant. Version 20 of IBM-SPSS Statistics (SPSS Inc., Chicago) was used for statistical analyses.

## Results

#### Non-respondents

Non-respondents (n = 26) and respondents (n = 105) did not significantly differ in age, laterality and type of BR and therefore, we presumed the respondents were representative for the total group (t(131)=0.026, p=0.98; Fisher's Exact test's: p=0.28 and p=1.00, respectively).

#### Lost to follow-up

Seven of the 105 women were excluded from analyses due to the development of metastases or recurrent disease (Figure 1), leaving 98 women for analyses at T0. Furthermore, one patient with diabetes mellitus died 18 days after DIEP flap BR due to unexpected sepsis as a result of pneumonia, one woman stopped participation at T1, and two women did not return the questionnaire at T1, leaving 94 women for analyses at T1. At T2, two women stopped participation and 8 participants did not return the questionnaire, leaving 84 women for analyses. These dropouts (n=21) did not differ significantly from the patients participating at T2 (n=84) regarding demographic variables (data not shown). However, dropouts had a significantly lower baseline general mental health (p=0.026). Analyses were performed on data of the 98 participants. The NRV was completed only by participants with a partner, and partner status did not significantly change during the study (Chi<sup>2</sup>=0.54, p=0.76, Figure 1). Furthermore, occasionally not every questionnaire was totally completed, which explains different sample sizes per outcome.

#### Demographic and clinical characteristics

In both reconstruction type groups, patients had a mean age of 49 year. Twenty-two patients had an increased risk for developing breast cancer due to an inherited predisposition for BC (Table 1). Time since mastectomy was longer for DIEP flap BR patients compared to implant BR patients. More women with bilateral mastectomy received implant BR than DIEP flap BR. Women opting for DIEP flap BR had a higher mean BMI compared to women receiving implant BR. There were no significant changes in baseline psychological scores between women with either implant or DIEP flap BR.

[insert Table 1 about here]

Figure 1. Flow chart of patient inclusion



## **Changes in pre- and postoperative body image and sexual satisfaction** Body image

In the first step, Spearman's correlation coefficients revealed that age (r=0.24, p<0.001), mental health (r=0.39, p<0.001), sexual (r=0.25, p<0.001) and partner relationship satisfaction (r=0.37, p<0.001) as well as cancer distress (r=-0.31, p<0.001) were significantly correlated with change in body image. Consequently, these variables with body image time interactions were entered into the saturated multi-level models.

For body image a significant linear and a quadratic time effect was found (Table 2). These indicate a body image after 6 months of 3.74 (3.0425 + 6\*0.1481 - 36\*0.0053=3.74), an improvement of 0.70 (d=1.24, p<0.001, Table 3). After 20 months an improvement of 0.85 was found compared to baseline (d=1.51, p<0.001). No significant relationship was detected with the type of BR (p=0.55).

The final model for body image (Table 2) also indicated that a higher partner relationship satisfaction, less cancer distress, and a better general mental health were positively significantly related to a better body image of which the estimates, *p*-values and effect sizes are again demonstrated in Table 3. Age and sexual relationship satisfaction were not significantly related to body image (*p*=0.068 and *p*=0.21 respectively) and were therefore removed from the model.

	Implant BR	DIEP-flap BR	<i>p</i> -value^
	N=25	N=73	-
Mean age at time of breast reconstruction (sd)	48.7 (9.2)	49.4 (7.9)	0.73^^
Mean years since mastectomy (sd)	2.9 (4.1)	3.2 (2.7)	0.03^^
Having a partner (%)	24 (96.0)	59 (80.8)	0.11
Having children (%)	23 (92.0)	63 (86.3)	0.73
Education level			
low	6 (24.0)	11 (15.1)	
intermediate	7 (28.0)	28 (38.4)	
high	12 (48.0)	34 (46.6)	0.77^^^
Inherited predisposition for BC <sup>a</sup>	7 (28.0)	15 (20.5)	0.58
Laterality			
Unilateral M+BR because of BC	13 (52.0)	62 (84.9)	0.002
Bilateral M+BR because of BC	4 (16.0)	4 (5.5)	0.20
Immediate contralateral prophylactic M+BR	8 (32.0)	7 (9.6)	0.02
Mean BMI (sd)	24.8 (4.4)	27.5 (3.6)	0.004^^
Radiation therapy	13 (52.0)	49 (67.1)	0.23
Chemotherapy therapy	6 (24.0)	24 (32.9)	0.46
Hormonal therapy	8 (32.0)	40 (54.8)	0.06
Body image (1-5)	3.0 (0.8)	3.0 (0.7)	0.63^^
Sexual relationship satisfaction (0-12)	8.8 (3.1)	7.3 (3.3)	0.07^^
Partner relationship satisfaction (0-68)	58.0 (8.7)	57.7 (8.6)	0.88^^
Cancer distress (0-75)	25.2 (15.4)	19.5 (12.6)	0.12^^
General mental health	49.8 (10.5)	49.7 (10.5)	0.96^^
General physical health	55.0 (6.7)	52.8 (8.7)	0.28^^

Table 1. Baseline characteristics of 98 women with either a delayed implant or DIEP flap breast reconstruction after mastectomy for breast cancer

<sup>a</sup>: brca1/brca2/familial risk; M: mastectomy; BC: breast cancer; BMI: body mass index; DIEP: Deep Inferior Epigastric artery Perforator; BR: breast reconstruction; SD: standard deviation ^ Fisher's Exact test, unless indicated otherwise; ^^ Student's t-test (on transformed data for time since mastectomy and cancer distress); ^^ Mann-Whitney U test.

#### Sexual relationship satisfaction

In the first step, correlation coefficients with potential covariates revealed significant relations with age (r=0.13, p=0.04), having had radiotherapy (r=-0.16, p=0.018) and hormonal therapy (r=-0.18, p=0.006), general mental health (r=0.27, p<0.001), the partner relationship satisfaction (r=0.55, p<0.001) and body image (r=0.25, p<0.001).

Satisfaction with the sexual relationship improved significantly in time (d=0.22, p=0.010 after 20 months, Table 3). Having had hormonal therapy was negatively related (d=-0.51, p=0.012) and partner relationship satisfaction (d=0.54, p<0.001) was positively related to sexual relationship satisfaction. The observed baseline effect of the type of BR presented in Table 1 (d=.049 p=0.001), indicating that women with DIEP flap BR were less satisfied with their sexual relationship, was not significant in the MLA (p=0.085).

	Estimate [95% CI]	Std. Error	<i>p</i> -value
Body image			
Intercept	3.0425 [2.2917 – 3.1684]	0.06380	< 0.001
Time	0.1481 [0.1152 – 0.1811]	0.01662	< 0.001
Time squared	-0.0053 [-0.0068 – -0.0038]	0.00077	< 0.001
Partner relationship satisfaction	0.0178 [0.0079 – 0.0276]	0.00499	< 0.001
Cancer distress	-0.0141 [-0.0204 – -0.0077]	0.00320	< 0.001
General mental health	0.0104 [0.0017 - 0.0190]	0.00440	0.019
Sexual relationship satisfaction			
Intercept	8.483 [7.700 - 9.266]	0.3944	< 0.001
Time	0.031 [0.0077 – 0.055]	0.0120	0.010
Hormonal therapy	-1.473 [-2.614 – -0.332]	0.5739	0.012
Partner relationship satisfaction	0.187 [0.146 - 0.228]	0.0210	<0.001
Cancer distress			
Intercept	20.384 [17.813 – 22.954]	1.2986	< 0.001
Time	-0.2428 [-0.3557 – -0.1299]	0.0572	< 0.001
General physical health			
Intercept	53.275 [51.660 – 54.890]	0.8177	< 0.001
Time	-0.763 [-1.088 – -0.438]	0.6149	< 0.001
Time squared	0.0367 [0.0216 - 0.0519]	0.0077	< 0.001

#### Table 2. Changes in primary and secondary outcomes and covariates

## Changes in pre- and postoperative secondary outcomes

Cancer distress reduced significantly in time (d=-0.36, p<0.001) after 20 months. General physical health temporarily decreased at 6 months (d=-0.41, p<0.001), but returned towards baseline at 20 months (Table 3). No significant time effects were found for satisfaction with the partner relationship (p=0.29) and general mental health (p=0.58).

	Estimate	Difference with p	ore recon	struction
		[95% CI]	p-value	effect size*
Body image				
At mean of covariates				
Pre reconstruction	3.04			
6 months	3.74	0.70 [0.55 - 0.84]	< 0.001	1.24
20 months	3.89	0.85 [0.70 - 1.00]	< 0.001	1.51
Additional covariate effects				
Partner relationship + 1 sd	0.15	0.15 [0.07 – 0.24]	0.001	0.27
Cancer distress + 1 sd	-0.19	-0.19 [-0.270.10]	< 0.001	-0.33
General mental health + 1 sd	0.11	0.11 [0.02 – 0.20]	0.019	0.19
Sexual relationship satisfaction				
At mean of covariates				
Pre reconstruction	8.48			
6 months	8.67	0.19 [0.04 – 0.33]	0.010	0.06
20 months	9.11	0.63 [0.15 – 1.10]	0.010	0.22
Additional covariate effects				
Hormonal therapy	-1.47	-1.47 [-2.610.33]	0.012	-0.51
Partner relationship satisfaction + 1 sd	1.54	1.54 [1.20 – 1.88]	<0.001	0.54
Cancer distress				
Pre reconstruction	20.4			
6 months	18.9	-1.46 [-2.130.78]	< 0.001	-0.11
20 months	15.5	-4.86 [-7.112.60]	< 0.001	-0.36
General physical health				
Pre reconstruction	53.3			
6 months	50.0	-3.56 [-4.681.83]	< 0.001	-0.41
20 months	52.7	-0.58 [-2.06 - 0.89]	0.43	-0.07

### Table 3. Estimations and effect sizes at time points and covariate effects.

\* Cohen's d

## Discussion

This is the first prospective study showing that body image improves after delayed implant as well as DIEP flap BR and that it is not related to the type of BR. The two patient groups did not significantly differ in most baseline variables. However, the fact that DIEP flap BR was only performed at the specialized centers, may impede the generalizability of the results, as the team of experts may be more aware of impact on body image and therefore may be more focused to reach the best outcomes after BR. Further, most bilateral breast reconstructions were performed using implants, which can be explained by logistic and financial limitations for bilateral DIEP flap BR in the Netherlands [41]. Evidently, DIEP flap BR patients had a significantly higher BMI as this type of surgery requires sufficient autologous tissue. Additionally, a high BMI may have been a contraindication for implant BR as this enhances the complication risk and a poor outcome [42]. In both BR groups the majority of the patients had received radiotherapy which may have damaged the skin, particularly in implant BR where the radiated skin envelope is used, in contrast to delayed DIEP flap BR in which healthy abdominal skin is used. Therefore, there might have been an interaction with the type of BR and radiotherapy, which was not investigated in this study.

A significant improvement in sexual satisfaction after both reconstruction types was detected, after correcting for relevant variables. Partner relationship satisfaction was positively related to sexual relationship satisfaction, highlighting the significant impact on the partner relationship if sexual function or satisfaction changes after breast cancer [43;44]. Having had hormonal therapy was related to a lower sexual relationship satisfaction score, as adjuvant therapy may induce premature menopause with negative sexual side effects including loss of libido and vaginal dryness [4;5;7;8;10-13;45]. BMI was not related to the sexual satisfaction score, but there might have been an interaction with the type of BR as well as women with DIEP flap BR had a higher BMI [46]. However, these were not the main research questions and therefore not investigated in the current study.

A large improvement in body image was observed which was significantly related to less cancer distress, higher satisfaction with the partner relationship and a better general mental health during the entire BR course. It has been previously demonstrated that changes in body image are related to psychological distress after mastectomy with or without reconstruction [47-49]. In accordance with previous findings, we found that mental health is positively related to body image as well [50].

To our knowledge, this is the first prospective study on body image and sexual satisfaction in patients with either delayed implant or DIEP flap BR [21]. We could not detect a statistically significant difference in body image and sexual satisfaction between implant and DIEP flap BR, whereas previous findings suggested a better outcome with autologous tissue, such as DIEP flap BR [20-23;51]. This can be explained by the retrospective designs and/or the inclusion of heterogeneous patient groups, such as patients with immediate as well as delayed BR. Timing of BR is important for body image and sexual satisfaction, as more positive outcomes have been found after autologous reconstructions if BR was delayed [19;20;22;52]. In addition, a relatively new approach of delayed-immediate BR, might reduce complication rates after radiotherapy, while preserving the skin and delaying breast reconstruction until radiotherapy is completed [53], which might positively influence body image as well. Nevertheless, no delayed-immediate BR was performed in our study population.

To focus on the difference between the types of BR, the current study concerned a homogenous group of patients all having delayed BR. It is notable that women with delayed BR may experience a greater increase in body image when compared to women with immediate BR. Women who opt for immediate BR will have a higher baseline body image score as they do not have the experience of mastectomy only because BR follows immediately during one operation. Women with delayed BR had to live for a while with a mutilated chest wall, resulting in a lower body image score before undergoing BR which provides more opportunity for improvement after surgery.

Ideally, each BR group in the present study should have included patients with immediate BR as well; however, in the Netherlands immediate DIEP flap BR after mastectomy for breast cancer is hardly performed due to shortness of reconstructive microsurgeons and other logistic limitations [41]. Another limitation is that patients could not be assigned randomly to a reconstruction type, as patients would subsequently have been withdrawn from complete information provision. A suggestion for future research is to further validate our BIS questionnaire and to use a breast reconstruction-specific questionnaire as well, such as the Breast-Q [54]. The NRV questionnaire assessed only the partner relationship and therefore excluded single women, future research should therefore focus on sexual satisfaction in single women as well. Finally, the sample size of the women with implant BR was small compared to the DIEP flap BR group as implant BR is generally provided immediately after mastectomy and therefore delayed implant BR patients were harder to include as this concerns a small patient group. Nevertheless, the number of women with a partner remained high in both groups regarding the NRV scores.

In conclusion, body image improved significantly after both implant and DIEP flap BR and a better general mental health, less cancer distress, and a better partner relationship satisfaction were related to a more positive body image before during the entire BR course. Sexual relationship satisfaction improved after both implant and DIEP flap BR, particularly if higher partner relationship satisfaction was reported. However, the psychosexual side effects of earlier hormonal therapy for breast cancer should be taken into account.

#### **Clinical implications**

It is important for clinicians to be aware of psychosocial aspects during the process of mastectomy followed by BR, next to satisfaction with aesthetic outcome. During postoperative follow-up consultations, the plastic surgeon and/or mamma-care nurse could specifically ask for the psychosocial impact of the breast cancer diagnosis and the psychosocial consequences of the cancer treatment, including the reconstructive procedure. Patients expressing that they experience problems should be referred to a medical psychologist who can teach the patient adaptive coping styles, help to regain intimacy and to process the event of having had cancer and the experience of adverse treatment side-effects on for example body image. This can lead to a better mental health which may positively affect body image, as well as physical health [55-57]. Acknowledgements; We would like to thank all women who took part in the study. We also thank the involved specialists for providing patients and medical data: G. K. van Drunen, M.B.E. Menke-Pluymers, C. Seynaeve, J. F. A. van der Werff, N. A. S. Posch, D. P. M. Goossens at the participating centers LUMC, EMCR/Daniel den Hoed Cancer Center Rotterdam, Rijnland Hospital Leiderdorp, Haga Hospital, Hospital Walcheren, Admiraal de Ruyter Hospital Goes and the Hospital Zorgsaam. We also thank Annelies Kleijne for data management. This study was supported by the Dutch Cancer Society (UL 2007-3726).

### Conflict of interest: none.

## References

- 1. Archibald S, Lemieux S, Byers ES, Tamlyn K and Worth J. Chemically-induced menopause and the sexual functioning of breast cancer survivors. *Women & Therapy* 2006; 29:83-106.
- 2. Bertero C and Wilmoth MC. Breast cancer diagnosis and its treatment affecting the self A meta-synthesis. *Cancer Nursing* 2007; 30:194-202.
- 3. Garrusi B and Faezee H. How do Iranian women with breast cancer conceptualize sex and body image? *Sexuality and Disability* 2008; 26:159-165.
- 4. Wilmoth MC. The aftermath of breast cancer: An altered sexual self. *Cancer Nursing* 2001; 24:278-286.
- 5. Avis NE, Crawford S and Manuel J. Psychosocial problems among younger women with breast cancer. *Psycho-Oncology* 2004; 13:295-308.
- 6. Fang CY, Cherry C, Devarajan K, Li TY et al. A prospective study of quality of life among women undergoing risk-reducing salpingo-oophorectomy versus gynecologic screening for ovarian cancer. *Gynecologic Oncology* 2009; 112:594-600.
- 7. Fobair P, Stewart SL, Chang SB, D'Onofrio C et al. Body image and sexual problems in young women with breast cancer. *Psycho-Oncology* 2006; 15:579-594.
- 8. Ganz PA, Rowland JH, Desmond K, Meyerowitz BE and Wyatt GE. Life after breast cancer: Understanding women's health-related quality of life and sexual functioning. *Journal of Clinical Oncology* 1998; 16:501-514.
- Ganz PA, Kwan L, Stanton AL, Bower JE and Belin TR. Physical and Psychosocial Recovery in the Year After Primary Treatment of Breast Cancer. *Journal of Clinical Oncology* 2011; 29:1101-1109.
- 10. Ganz PA, Desmond KA, Belin TR, Meyerowitz BE and Rowland JH. Predictors of sexual health in women after a breast cancer diagnosis. *Journal of Clinical Oncology* 1999; 17:2371-2380.
- 11. Knobf MT. The menopausal symptom experience in young mid-life women with breast cancer. *Cancer Nursing* 2001; 24:201-211.
- 12. Meyerowitz BE, Desmond KA, Rowland JH, Wyatt GE and Ganz PA. Sexuality following breast cancer. *Journal of Sex & Marital Therapy* 1999; 25:237-250.
- 13. Speer JJ, Hillenberg B, Sugrue DP, Blacker C et al. Study of sexual functioning determinants in breast cancer survivors. *Breast Journal* 2005; 11:440-447.

- 14. Lee C, Sunu C and Pignone M. Patient-Reported Outcomes of Breast Reconstruction after Mastectomy: A Systematic Review. *Journal of the American College of Surgeons* 2009; 209:123-133.
- 15. Winters ZE, Benson JR and Pusic AL. A Systematic Review of the Clinical Evidence to Guide Treatment Recommendations in Breast Reconstruction Based on Patient-Reported Outcome Measures and Health-Related Quality of Life. *Annals of Surgery* 2010; 252:929-942.
- 16. Collins KK, Liu Y, Schootman M, Aft R et al. Effects of breast cancer surgery and surgical side effects on body image over time. *Breast Cancer Research and Treatment* 2011; 126:167-176.
- 17. Rosson GD, Magarakis M, Shridharani SM, Stapleton SM et al. A Review of the Surgical Management of Breast Cancer: Plastic Reconstructive Techniques and Timing Implications. *Annals of Surgical Oncology* 2010; 17:1890-1900.
- 18. Allen RJ and Treece P. Deep Inferior Epigastric Perforator Flap for Breast Reconstruction. *Annals of Plastic Surgery* 1994; 32:32-38.
- 19. Damen THC, Timman R, Kunst EH, Gopie JP et al. High satisfaction rates in women after DIEP flap breast reconstruction. *Journal of Plastic Reconstructive and Aesthetic Surgery* 2010; 63:93-100.
- 20. Atisha D, Alderman AK, Lowery JC, Kuhn LE et al. Prospective analysis of long-term psychosocial outcomes in breast reconstruction Two-year postoperative results from the Michigan Breast Reconstruction Outcomes Study. *Annals of Surgery* 2008; 247:1019-1028.
- 21. Tonseth KA, Hokland BM, Tindholdt TT, Abyholm FE and Stavem K. Quality of life, patient satisfaction and cosmetic outcome after breast reconstruction using DIEP flap or expandable breast implant. *Journal of Plastic Reconstructive and Aesthetic Surgery* 2008; 61:1188-1194.
- 22. Wilkins EG, Cederna PS, Lowery JC, Davis JA et al. Prospective analysis of psychosocial outcomes in breast reconstruction: One-year postoperative results from the Michigan Breast Reconstruction Outcome Study. *Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery* 2000; 106:1014-1025.
- 23. Yueh JH, Slavin SA, Adesiyun T, Nyame TT et al. Patient Satisfaction in Postmastectomy Breast Reconstruction: A Comparative Evaluation of DIEP, TRAM, Latissimus Flap, and Implant Techniques. *Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery* 2010; 125:1585-1595.
- 24. Craft RO, Colakoglu S, Curtis MS, Yueh JH et al. Patient Satisfaction in Unilateral and Bilateral Breast Reconstruction. *Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery* 2011; 127:1417-1424.
- 25. Gopie JP, Timman R, Hilhorst MT, Hofer SO et al. Information-seeking behaviour and coping style of women opting for either implant or DIEP-flap breast reconstruction. *Journal of Plastic Reconstructive and Aesthetic Surgery* 2011; 64:1167-1173.
- 26. Gopie JP, Hilhorst MT, Kleijne A, Timman R et al. Women's motives to opt for either implant or DIEP-flap breast reconstruction. *Journal of Plastic Reconstructive and Aesthetic Surgery* 2011; 64:1062-1067.

- 27. Gopie JP, Timman R, Hilhorst MT, Hofer SOP et al. The short-term psychological impact of complications after breast reconstruction. *Psycho-Oncology* 2011DOI: 10.1002/ pon.2089.
- 28. Lodder LN, Frets PG, Trijsburg RW, Meijers-Heijboer EJ et al. One year follow-up of women opting for presymptomatic testing for BRCA1 and BRCA2: Emotional impact of the test outcome and decisions on risk management (Surveillance or prophylactic surgery). *Breast Cancer Research and Treatment* 2002; 73:97-112.
- 29. Gopie JP, Mureau MAM, Seynaeve C, ter Kuile M.M. et al. Body image issues after bilateral prophylactic mastectomy with breast reconstruction in healthy women at risk for hereditary breast cancer. *Familial Cancer* 2012DOI: 10.1007/s10689-012-9588-5.
- 30. Barelds, D.P.H., Luteijn, F., Arrindell, W.A. NRV Nederlandse Relatie Vragenlijst -Handleiding. Lisse: Swets Test Publishers, 2003.
- 31. van der Ploeg E, Mooren TTM, Kleber RJ, van der Velden PG and Brom D. Construct validation of the Dutch version of the impact of event scale. *Psychological Assessment* 2004; 16:16-26.
- 32. Horowitz M, Wilner N and Alvarez W. Impact of Event Scale Measure of Subjective Stress. *Psychosomatic Medicine* 1979; 41:209-218.
- 33. Joseph S. Psychometric evaluation of Horowitz's impact of event scale: A review. *Journal of Traumatic Stress* 2000; 13:101-113.
- 34. Horowitz, M.J. Stress Response Syndromes and Their Treatment. In L. Goldberger, S. Breznitz (Eds.), *Handbook of Stress. Theoretical and Clinical aspects*, 1 Ed. New York: The Free Press, 1982 Pp. 711-732.
- 35. Aaronson NK, Muller M, Cohen PDA, Essink-Bot ML et al. Translation, validation, and norming of the Dutch language version of the SF-36 Health Survey in community and chronic disease populations. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology* 1998; 51:1055-1068.
- 36. Ware JE. SF-36 health survey update. Spine 2000; 25:3130-3139.
- 37. www.sf-36.org. 2011
- 38. Little RJA, Rubin DB Statistical analysis with missing data, 2nd Ed. New York: John Wiley and Sons, 2002.
- 39. Green SB. How Many Subjects Does It Take to do A Regression-Analysis. *Multivariate Behavioral Research* 1991; 26:499-510.
- 40. Cohen J. A Power Primer. *Psychological Bulletin* 1992; 112:155-159.
- 41. Damen THC, Wei W, Mureau MAM, Tjong-Joe-Wai R et al. Medium-term cost analysis of breast reconstructions in a single Dutch centre: A comparison of implants, implants preceded by tissue expansion, LD transpositions and DIEP flaps. *Journal of Plastic Reconstructive and Aesthetic Surgery* 2011; 64:1043-1053.
- 42. Woerdeman LAE, Hage JJ, Hofland MMI and Rutgers EJT. A prospective assessment of surgical risk factors in 400 cases of skin-sparing mastectomy and immediate breast reconstruction with implants to establish selection criteria. *Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery* 2007; 119:455-463.
- 43. Ussher JM, Perz J and Gilbert E. Changes to Sexual Well-Being and Intimacy After Breast Cancer. *Cancer Nursing* 2012; 35:456-465.

- 44. Sayakhot P, Vincent A and Teede H. Breast cancer and menopause: partners' perceptions and personal experiences-a pilot study. *Menopause-the Journal of the North American Menopause Society* 2012; 19:916-923.
- 45. Ganz PA, Greendale GA, Petersen L, Kahn B and Bower JE. Breast cancer in younger women: Reproductive and late health effects of treatment. *Journal of Clinical Oncology* 2003; 21:4184-4193.
- 46. Smith A, Patrick K, Heywood W, Pitts M et al. Body mass index, sexual difficulties and sexual satisfaction among people in regular heterosexual relationships: a population-based study. *Internal Medicine Journal* 2012; 42:641-651.
- 47. Al-Ghazal SK, Fallowfield L and Blamey RW. Does cosmetic outcome from treatment of primary breast cancer influence psychosocial morbidity? *European Journal of Surgical Oncology* 1999; 25:571-573.
- 48. Helms RL, O'Hea EL and Corso M. Body image issues in women with breast cancer. *Psychol Health Med* 2008; 13:313-325.
- 49. Schover LR, Yetman RJ, Tuason LJ, Meisler E et al. Partial Mastectomy and Breast Reconstruction A Comparison of Their Effects on Psychosocial Adjustment, Body-Image, and Sexuality. *Cancer* 1995; 75:54-64.
- 50. Zimmermann T, Scott JL and Heinrichs N. Individual and dyadic predictors of body image in women with breast cancer. *Psycho-Oncology* 2010; 19:1061-1068.
- 51. Damen THC, Timman R, Kunst EH, Gopie JP et al. High satisfaction rates in women after DIEP flap breast reconstruction. *Journal of Plastic Reconstructive and Aesthetic Surgery* 2010; 63:93-100.
- 52. Bresser PJC, Seynaeve C, Van Gool AR, Brekelmans CT et al. Satisfaction with prophylactic mastectomy and breast reconstruction in genetically predisposed women. *Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery* 2006; 117:1675-1682.
- 53. Kronowitz SJ, Lam C, Terefe W, Hunt KK et al. A Multidisciplinary Protocol for Planned Skin-Preserving Delayed Breast Reconstruction for Patients with Locally Advanced Breast Cancer Requiring Postmastectomy Radiation Therapy: 3-Year Follow-Up. *Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery* 2011; 127:2154-2166.
- 54. Pusic AL, Klassen AF, Scott AM, Klok JA et al. Development of a New Patient-Reported Outcome Measure for Breast Surgery: The BREAST-Q. *Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery* 2009; 124:345-353.
- 55. Andersen BL, Farrar WB, Golden-Kreutz D, Kutz LA et al. Stress and immune responses after surgical treatment for regional breast cancer. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute* 1998; 90:30-36.
- 56. Angele MK and Faist E. Clinical review: Immunodepression in the surgical patient and increased susceptibility to infection. *Critical Care* 2002; 6:298-305.
- 57. Kiecolt-Glaser JK, Page GG, Marucha PT, MacCallum RC and Glaser R. Psychological influences on surgical recovery Perspectives from psychoneuroimmunology. *American Psychologist* 1998; 53:1209-1218.

## Appendix 1. The body image scale

- 1. I was happy with my appearance when dressed
- 2. I felt very feminine
- 3. I was satisfied with my naked appearance
- 4. I had trouble looking at my naked self
- 5. I had trouble touching my breasts
- 6. I was satisfied with the appearance of my breasts
- 7. My breasts felt pleasantly
- 8. I felt sexually attractive
- 9. I felt comfortable enough to wear V-necked clothes
- 10. I felt comfortable enough to wear swimwear
- 11. I was embarrassed for my naked body
- 12¤. I felt comfortable when my partner touched my breasts

13x. I had qualms about getting undressed in the presence of my partner

x: completed only by patients with a partner; item score 1-5: 1=totally disagree, 2=disagree, 3= neutral, 4=agree, 5=totally agree

## CHAPTER 7 BODY IMAGE ISSUES AFTER BILATERAL PROPHYLACTIC MASTECTOMY WITH BREAST RECONSTRUCTION IN HEALTHY WOMEN AT RISK FOR HEREDITARY BREAST CANCER

Familial Cancer 2012 in press; DOI: 10.1007/s10689-012-9588-5

Gopie JP, Mureau MAM, Seynaeve C, ter Kuile MM, Menke-Pluijmers M, Timman R, Tibben A



## Abstract

**Objective** The outcome of bilateral prophylactic mastectomy with breast reconstruction (BPM-IBR) in healthy BRCA1/2 mutation carriers can be potentially burdensome for body image and the intimate relationship. Therefore, in the current analysis the impact on body image, sexual and partner relationship satisfaction was prospectively investigated in women opting for BPM-IBR as well as cancer distress and general quality of life.

**Methods** Healthy women undergoing BPM-IBR completed questionnaires preoperatively (T0, n=48), at 6 months (T1, n=44) and after finishing breast reconstruction (median 21 months, range 12-35) (T2, n=36). With multi-level regression analyses the course of outcome variables was investigated and a statistically significant change in body image and/or sexual and partner relationship satisfaction was predicted by baseline covariates.

**Results** Body image significantly decreased at T1. At T2 sexual relationship satisfaction and body image tended to be lower compared to baseline. The overall partner relationship satisfaction did not significantly change. At T2, 37% of the women reported that their breasts felt unpleasantly, 29% was not satisfied with their breast appearance and 21% felt embarrassed for their naked body. Most body image issues remained unchanged in 30% of the women. A negative body image was predicted by high preoperative cancer distress.

**Conclusions** BPM-IBR was associated with adverse impact on body image in a substantial subgroup, but satisfaction with the overall sexual and partner relationship did not significantly change in time. The psychosocial impact of BPM-IBR in unaffected women should not be underestimated. Psychological support should ideally be integrated both before and after BPM-IBR.

## Introduction

Women with a BRCA1/2 mutation have a significantly increased cumulative lifetime risk for developing breast cancer (39-85%) as well as ovarian cancer (10-63%) [1-3]. One of the risk reducing strategies for developing breast cancer is bilateral prophylactic mastectomy usually including immediate breast reconstruction (BPM-IBR), which is associated with a risk reduction of more than 90% [4-6]. The decision for BPM-IBR among healthy BRCA mutation carriers in the Netherlands (33%) is one of the highest in the world, in line with data from the USA (36%) and the UK (40%) [7;8].

After BPM-IBR, women report reduced cancer distress and anxiety, at the cost however of potentially negative impact on body image and the intimate relationship [9-18]. Drawbacks of the previously reported studies are a retrospective design [10;12;15;19], and for the few available prospective studies performed in unaffected BRCA1/2 mutation carriers a limited follow-up period, maximally being up to one year postoperatively [9;14;16;20]. The single, prospective, long term follow-up study on the impact of prophylactic mastectomy with or without breast reconstruction included both *unaffected and affected* (history of breast and/ or ovarian cancer) female BRCA mutation carriers (n=36), and showed ongoing problems with body image up to 6 to 9 years after PM/BR [11].

In the current study we focused on *unaffected* women, as the life event of having cancer may significantly disrupt quality of life, and more specifically the impact of BPM-IBR. We aimed to prospectively explore the course of 1) body image, and of satisfaction with the sexual and partner relationship, as well as of 2) cancer distress, and health related quality of life in women opting for BPM-IBR. The final assessment was planned after completion of the breast reconstruction process.

## Methods

## Patients

This study is part of a multicenter prospective follow-up study on the psychological impact of breast reconstruction, which was performed in both academic and regional hospitals in the Netherlands [21-23]. For the current analyses, participants were healthy (=unaffected) women at significantly increased risk of breast cancer due to a BRCA mutation or relevant family history who had opted for BPM-IBR. Exclusion criteria were suspicion of breast cancer in the planning towards BPM and a detection of breast cancer in the follow-up, and not being able to understand and speak the Dutch language sufficiently. Patients were approached between December 2007 and May 2010, and ethics approval was obtained from all participating hospitals<sup>5</sup>.

Seventy-three unaffected high-risk women scheduled for BPM-IBR were invited for the study by written information (academic hospitals: n=71, regional hospitals: n=2) and 50 women consented to participate (68%) (academic hospitals: n= 48, regional hospitals: n=2).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Leiden University Medical Center (LUMC), Erasmus University Medical Center Rotterdam (Erasmus MC), Daniel den Hoed Cancer Centre, Haga Teaching Hospital (Haga), Admiraal de Ruyter Hospital Goes.

#### Procedure

The invitation procedure has been described elsewhere [23]. Patients who returned informed consent, received the study questionnaires which they were requested to fill in preoperatively (T0). Similar questionnaires were sent at six months after BPM-IBR (T1), and after completing the BR process (T2). If BR was not completely finished (nipple reconstruction and/or nipple areola complex tattooing were planned but not yet performed) at the end of the follow-up period of the study, the final T2 questionnaire was still sent to measure the result at longer follow-up. The median follow-up time at T2 was 20.7 months, (mean = 21.7 months, range 12-35 months).

A maximum of two reminders were sent by letter if patients did not respond at T1 and/ or T2, and patients were requested to provide a reason for non-compliance.

At least 75% of the respective questionnaires had to be filled in to calculate a scale score.

#### Measurements

Demographic information and clinical data were assessed with questionnaires and medical data were confirmed by checking medical records.

#### Primary outcome measures

#### <u>Body image</u>

We developed a study-specific body image scale (BIS) based on the Body Image/Sexuality questionnaire of Lodder et al. [24], who followed recommendations made by Cull [25] and Hopwood [26]. For conceptual reasons some items were adapted regarding the specific experience of going to the beach in bathing clothes, feeling comfortable in V-necked clothes, feeling comfortable when touched by the partner and feeling embarrassed when getting undressed in the partner's presence. The questionnaire consists of 31 items regarding the "past three months" which are scored on a five-point Likert scale. An explorative principal component analysis was performed in a large sample of women with therapeutic and/or prophylactic mastectomy with breast reconstruction, who had completed the questionnaire at multiple time points (n=442). Using the Scree-test criterion, we found a three-factor solution that accounted for 49.5% of the total variance. Items loading on one component exceeding 0.40 were considered to belong to a subscale. With a loading on two factors a difference of at least 0.09 was used.

The three-factor solution revealed three components of the 31 items: 1) a subscale measuring body image aspects (BIS-BIM) consisting of 13 items (see Table 4, explaining 19.8% of the total variance); 2) a subscale measuring the general importance of appearance (3 items, 7.6% of total variance, not shown); 3) a subscale measuring problems with intimacy (15 items, 22.1% of the total variance, not shown). For this study, only the first subscale, BIS-BIM, was used and the internal consistency of this subscale (13 items) proved to be good in the current study sample (Cronbach's a= 0.89). The items were scored from 1-5 (totally disagree, disagree, neutral, agree, totally agree, respectively) and a mean scale score was calculated (1-5), where a higher score indicates a more positive body image. Two items

(12 and 13, see Table 4) were only completed by patients with a partner, however, for the single women a mean scale score was calculated as well as at least 75% (10 items) had to be completed.

To explore the occurrence of body image problems, items of the subscale BIS-BIM were recoded into three categories: 1 'disagree' (=1 and 2); 2 'neutral' (=3); 3 'agree' (=4 and 5) and relevant categories were reported in Table 4.

#### Satisfaction with the sexual relationship

Satisfaction with the *sexual relationship* was measured using the subscale 'sexuality' of the Dutch Relationship Questionnaire (Nederlandse Relatie Vragenlijst, NRV) including 11 items [27]. The NRV has shown good psychometric properties, and a total score on the subscale 'sexuality' below eight (range 0-12) indicates below average or low satisfaction with the sexual relationship and a bad sexual compatibility with the partner [27]. The NRV was completed only by patients having a partner.

### Satisfaction with the overall partner relationship

Satisfaction with the overall partner relationship was investigated with the NRV as well (again only for patients with a partner). Normally, the total score of the NRV can be used to provide this satisfaction score. However, to correct for the impact of sexuality, the score of the 'sexuality' subscale was subtracted from the total score. Therefore, scores under 49 (range 0-68) indicate below average or low satisfaction with the partner relationship, excluding sexuality.

#### Secondary outcome measures

General physical and mental health were assessed with the Dutch version of the 36-item Short-Form Health Survey (SF-36) with respectively the Physical Component Summary (PCS) and the Mental Component Summary (MCS) of the SF-36 [28-30]. These scales concerned e.g. physical functioning, social functioning, vitality and bodily pain. In this norm based scoring method each scale has the same mean value (50) and standard deviation (10). Consequently, a scale score below 50 indicates that health status is below average [29].

*Breast cancer specific distress* was measured using the 15-items Impact of Event Scale (IES) [31;32]. The total IES score was used in this study with a range from 0 to 75. Reported reliability and validity of the IES are satisfactory [31;33]. The categorization of the IES score is not indicative for specific clinical diagnoses, but a cutoff score of 20 or higher can be used to indicate high symptom levels [33;34].

## Statistical analyses

To investigate changes in time in the primary and secondary psychological outcomes, multilevel regression analyses (MLA) were performed, which can handle incomplete time-series data efficiently with a minimal loss of information. These analyses also compensate for different numbers of participants at each time point. For the analyses of the time-course linear and quadratic time were included as covariates in the regression models. Effect sizes [35] were calculated by dividing the estimated differences by the estimated standard deviation at baseline. For the determination of body image course predictors a two-step procedure was applied. In the first step the number of potential covariates to be used in the MLA was reduced by calculating change scores between T0 and T1, and T0 and T2 and consequently by calculating their Spearman's Rho correlation coefficients with regard to age, having a partner, having children, type of BR, body mass index (BMI), having had prophylactic bilateral salpingo-oophorectomy (PBSO), the relationship with self-reported severe postoperative complications (=complications that lead to an unfinished result or removal of the reconstructed breast mound) and with the baseline psychological variables<sup>6</sup>. We applied a lenient p-value in order not to exclude covariates unduly, therefore the variables that correlated with the change scores (p< 0.10), were entered in the MLA. Continuous covariates were standardized to facilitate the interpretation of the estimates.

In a backward procedure all non-significant effects were removed from the model, until a parsimonious model was reached (p-out > 0.10). It was taken into account that interaction effects should be nested within the respective main effects [36]. The deviance statistic, that is the difference between the -2 residual log Likelihood fit measure of the final parsimonious model and the fit of the saturated model [37], was evaluated at a p = 0.05 level.

Finally, changes in proportions of the BIS-BIM-items (agree / disagree) in time were explored with the Cochran's Q-test in which the p-value represented a change in time (T0 / T1 / T2) in a related sample. Two-sided p-values < .05 were considered statistically significant and data were analyzed with the statistical package SPSS 17.0 (SPSS Inc., Chicago).

## Results

#### Patient samples

Non-respondents (n = 23) and respondents (n = 50) did not significantly differ in age ( $t_{(70)}$ =-0.77, p=0.44). However, all non-respondents opted for implant BR compared to 19% of the respondents who chose DIEP flap BR (Fischer's Exact test, p = 0.025).

Two patients were excluded from further analyses as breast cancer was unexpectedly found in the mastectomy specimens. Seven women stopped participation and nine women did not respond at T1 and/or T2 regarding at least one of the questionnaires (Figure 1)<sup>7</sup>. Drop-out analysis was performed comparing these 16 patients with the 32 women with 100% response rate at all questionnaires during follow-up (Figure 1)<sup>8</sup>. Dropouts less often had a partner (69% vs 97%, Fisher's Exact test p=0.012), and reported a significantly lower sexual satisfaction level at baseline (mean=7.2, sd=3.3) compared to the active participants (mean=9.5, sd=2.2) ( $t_{(39)}$ =2.38, p=0.022). More dropouts had an unfinished breast reconstruction at the end of the follow-up study (69% vs 31%, Fisher's Exact test

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Correlation coefficients with body image change scores were calculated for the following baseline psychological variables: sexual and partner relationship satisfaction, cancer distress and general mental and physical health.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Dropout reasons: questionnaires were "too general" or "time consuming", having had complications, "there was no cancer distress as there was no cancer", and "not feeling psychologically stable"

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Sexual and partner relationship satisfaction was only completed by women with a partner, therefore, N may be lower than 32 for these variables.

p=0.001). They did not differ significantly in the other medical, demographic and baseline psychological variables (data not shown).





## Demographic and clinical characteristics

Mean patient age of the study participants (n=48) was 37.1 years (sd = 10.2) yrs, range 21-65 yrs) (Table 1). The majority had a partner (n=42) and children. Forty-four women were BRCA1/2 mutation carriers, one woman had an unclassified variant (UV), and three women opted for BPM-IBR based on the pedigree and risk estimation (belonging to non-BRCA1/2 mutation families)<sup>9</sup>. The minority (19%) underwent an autologous breast reconstruction with DIEP-flap (Table 1). Twenty-three percent had undergone PBSO at baseline and twelve women reported severe postoperative complications leading to an unfinished result or removal of the primary breast mound reconstruction.

## Short term follow-up results from baseline (T0) to 6 months (T1) postoperatively

As shown in Table 2, a significantly less positive body image was detected at T1 compared to T0 (p<0.001). Satisfaction with the sexual as well as the overall partner relationship did not significantly change between T0 en T1, but sexual satisfaction tended to decrease (p=0.07). Cancer distress was above the cut-off score before surgery, and significantly decreased at T1 (p<0.001). General mental health at baseline was significantly improved at T1 (p=0.02). General physical health, at baseline significantly declined at T1 (p<0.001).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> The four women without a BRCA1/2 mutation preferred PM over surveillance and after multidisciplinary consultation, they were allowed to have surgery.

Mean age in years at time of BPM-IBR (sd)	37.1 (10.2)
Having a partner	42 (87.5%)
Having children	31 (64.6%)
Education level	
primary education	10 (20.8%)
lower secondary eduction	20 (41.7%)
secondary and high education	18 (37.5%)
Breast cancer risk category	
BRCA1 carrier	33 (68.8%)
BRCA2 carrier	11 (22.9%)
Familial risk for breast cancer	4 (8.3%)
Type of breast reconstruction	
Implant	39 (81.3%)
DIEP-flap	9 (18.8%)
Mean BMI (sd)	25.1 (4.4)
Prophylactic bilateral salpingo-oophorectomy	11 (22.9%)
Severe complications*	12 (25.0%)

 Table 1. Baseline characteristics of 48 women opting for bilateral prophylactic mastectomy

 with immediate breast reconstruction (BPM-IBR)

BMI: body mass index; DIEP: Deep Inferior Epigastric artery Perforator; SD: standard deviation; \* self-reported severe complications that lead to an unfinished result or removal of the primary breast mound reconstruction

#### Longer term follow-up results from baseline (T0) to 21 months (T2) postoperatively

Body image and the sexual relationship satisfaction tended to decrease up to T2 (both p=0.06). The partner relationship satisfaction did not significantly change. Cancer distress significantly declined up to T2 (p <. 0.001). For both general mental and physical health, the course did not significantly change from T0 to T2.

## Predictors of a decreased body image after BPM-IBR

Correlation coefficients with the body image change scores (p<0.10) revealed the following putative baseline covariates for body image (T0-T1; T0-T2): BMI (r=0.28, p=0.07, n=44 for T0-T1), cancer distress (r=-.40, p=0.008, n=43 for T0-T1; r=-0.47, p=0.005, n=35 for T0-T2) and general physical health (r=-0.48, p=0.004, n=34 for T0-T2). Therefore, BMI, baseline cancer distress and general physical health with their time interactions were entered into the saturated prediction model. Table 3 represents the final parsimonious model predicting the course of body image. It demonstrates that a preoperative cancer distress of 1 standard deviation higher than the average distress score leads to a decreased body image score of

	Para	ameter estima	ites			Time poi	int estim	ates	
						T-0T	1	70-	2
	Intercept	Time linear	Time quadratic	1	12	effect size	٩	effect size	٩
Body image (1-5) <sup>a</sup>	3.8****	-0.10****	0.0042****	3.3	3.5	-0.68	<0.001	-0.40	0.06
Sexual relationship satisfaction¤ (0-12) <sup>b</sup>	9.0****	-0.10*	0.31	8.5	8.0	-0.19	0.07	-0.35	0.06
Partner relationship satisfaction $lpha$ (0-68) $^{ m b}$	****09	-0.033	-0.0016	60	58	-0.03	0.79	-0.19	0.33
Cancer distress (0-75) <sup>c</sup>	23****	-2.4***	$0.091^{****}$	12	13	-0.82	<0.001	-0.74	<0.001
General mental health <sup>d</sup>	48***	0.82**	-0.034**	51	50	0.38	0.02	0.23	0.19
General physical health $^{\mathfrak{a}}$	55***	-1.5****	0.068****	48	53	-0.64	<0.001	-0.16	0.37
NOTE: the estimate for the intercept equals the estit breast reconstruction; T0: baseline assessment; T1: f Scale; <sup>d</sup> Short Form – 36; ¤: completed only by patien	imate for T0. * p <c 6 months post-sur hts with a partner;</c 	1.10;   ** p<0.05; <sup>*</sup> gery; T2: 21 mon Higher scores ind	*** p<0.001; **** ths post-surgery; <sup>*</sup> icate better outco	p<0.001 Body Im mes, hov	; BPM-I age Sca wever fo	BR: bilateral prc le; <sup>b</sup> Dutch relatic or Cancer distres	ophylactic i onship que ss this is vid	mastectomy an stionnaire; <sup>c</sup> lm <sub>j</sub> :e versa.	l immediate act of Event

ber
stol
Ö
lths
ō
21
and
ø
and
R,
1-IB
BPR
é
efor
ĕ
ning
<u>ē</u>
nc
Ŧ
xua
ose
Ś
bsi
pu
la
ocia
osc
<u>ү</u> с
ίΩ.
Δ.
2. P

 $6^{*}-0.074 + 6^{*}6^{*}0.0033 = -0.33$  (Cohen's d =-0.63) at 6 months and a decrease of 21\*-0.074 + 21\*21\*0.0033 = 0.10 (d =-.83) at 21 months (Table 3). A high preoperative cancer distress score that leads to a more negative body image at long term follow-up applies to a quarter (n=12) of the women.

Furthermore, a higher preoperative general physical health predicted a better body image (d=0.30) and a lower BMI predicted a less positive body image (d=-0.36), in general, for women undergoing BPM-IBR.

	Est	imate [95% CI]	Std. Error	p-value
Intercept	3.76	[ 3.57 – 3.94]	0.09	<0.001
Time linear	-0.074	[-0.121 – -0.026]	0.024	0.003
Time quadratic	0.0033	[ 0.0011 - 0.0054]	0.0011	0.003
Preoperative cancer distress <sup>a</sup>	-0.118	[-0.304 – 0.067]	0.093	0.208
Time linear * preoperative cancer distress <sup>a</sup>	-0.076	[-0.1240.028]	0.024	0.002
Time quadratic * preoperative cancer distress <sup>a</sup>	0.0025	[ 0.0004 - 0.0047]	0.0011	0.023
Preoperative general physical health <sup>b</sup>	0.172	[ 0.054 – 0.290]	0.059	0.005
BMI	-0.208	[-0.346 – -0.071]	0.068	0.004

#### Table 3. Predictors of the course of body image in women undergoing BPM-IBR

BPM-IBR: bilateral prophylactic mastectomy and immediate breast reconstruction; <sup>a</sup>Impact of Event Scale; <sup>b</sup>SF-36: Short Form – 36; BMI: body mass index

#### Frequency of body image issues

Specific issues with body image are shown in Table 4 in which the items of the subscale BIS-BIM are presented. After BPM-IBR at T2, a significantly increased proportion (p=0.001) of women reported they were not happy with the appearance of their breasts (item 6, 29%) and the way their breasts felt (item 7, 37%), in particularly being the case at T1. At T1, a significant percentage did not feel feminine which was significantly higher compared to baseline and T2 (p=0.02).

For most items there was no significant change, substantial proportions remained having problems with their naked appearance (item 3, 20-30%), had trouble touching their breasts (item 5, 26-17%), felt sexually unattractive (item 8, 17-32%), were embarrassed for their naked body (item 11, 12-24%) and felt uncomfortable when the partner touched their breasts (item 12, 30-39%) before as well as after surgery.

BIM
(BIS-
''sh
Jont
ee n
thr
"past
the
ling
egarc
BR r
Ξ
r BP
afte
and
fore
bel
ema
robl
gep
ima
ody
th b
Ň
Iamo
fwc
er o
Jumb
4.
Ð

			<b>1</b> 0		T1	-	Т2	<i>p</i> -value*
	z	2	%	2	%	E	%	
1. I was happy with my appearance when dressed [disagree]	36	7	5.6	m	8.3	4	11.1	0.69
2. I felt very feminine [disagree]	35	-	2.9	ഹ	14.3	1	2.9	0.02
3. I was satisfied with my naked appearance [disagree]	35	7	20.0	12	34.3	11	31.4	0.20
4. I had trouble looking at my naked self [agree]	35	ŝ	8.6	7	20.0	4	11.4	0.27
5. I had trouble touching my breasts [agree]	35	6	25.7	9	17.1	9	17.1	0.41
6. I was satisfied with the appearance of my breasts [disagree]	35	9	17.1	19	54.3	10	28.6	0.001
7. My breasts felt pleasantly [disagree]	35	2	20.0	21	60.0	13	37.1	0.001
8. I felt sexually attractive [disagree]	34	9	17.6	11	32.4	9	17.6	0.17
9. I felt comfortable enough to wear V-necked clothes [disagree]	35	£	8.6	ŋ	14.3	7	20.0	0:30
10. I felt comfortable enough to wear swimwear [disagree]	35	ε	8.6	∞	22.8	4	11.4	0.05
11. I was embarrassed for my naked body [agree]	34	4	11.8	∞	23.5	7	20.6	0.24
12¤. I felt comfortable when my partner touched my breasts [disagree]	23	∞	34.8	6	39.1	7	30.4	0.65
13¤. I had qualms about getting undressed in the presence of my partner [agree]	30	1	3.3	9	20.0	ъ	16.7	0.07

post-surgery; T2: 21 months post-surgery; \* Cochran's Q test, overall difference in time. #: completed only by patients with a partner

### Discussion

In women undergoing BPM-IBR mean body image scores decreased within the first 6 months after PM (T1), and it still tended to be lower after breast reconstruction (T2) compared to baseline. The mean scores of the partner relationship satisfaction did not significantly change in time, but the mean score of the sexual relationship satisfaction tended to decrease up to T2. When investigating specific body image issues on item level, we found that a substantial subgroup of the women reported problems after BPM-IBR, however, most issues already existed before surgery and did not change afterwards.

Comparing the number of women with body image issues in this study with corresponding samples of Lodder [24] and Den Heijer et al [11] the proportions of women with body image problems are similar. However, as there is a lack of body image data in a comparable age-matched healthy control group, we cannot tell how these proportions differ from the norm.

At 6 months, most women were in the middle of their breast reconstruction process. In particular women with implant breast reconstruction, who underwent a period of tissue expansion during the first months. At that point 55% was not satisfied with the appearance of their breasts. Although the majority had acceptable outcomes after BPM-IBR, the impact of BPM-IBR on body image and the intimate relationship should not be underestimated. There is a subgroup of patients at risk for developing a negative body image particularly during the breast reconstruction process (at T1) which should be taken into account during follow-up consults.

Our findings confirmed that prophylactic surgery results in a large reduction of cancer specific distress, which may be replaced by other problems, such as a decrease in physical health and a less positive body image during the BR process [9-18]. The total breast reconstruction course may cover a long period, up to 1.5 years, including expansion of tissue expanders, replacement with definite implants, additional aesthetic corrections and nipple reconstruction. After completion of breast reconstruction, physical health and body image may improve again.

It often happens that additional operations for complications or aesthetic reasons are needed after the primary breast mound reconstruction which is in accordance with our study findings [38-43]. Some women in this study experienced postoperative complications resulting in an unfinished result or poor breast reconstruction outcome. However, this was not related to a poorer body image, which can be possibly explained as a result of the small sample size. When calculating the change scores for the total observations (n=128) this variable indeed was negatively correlated with body image (data not shown).

It was an encouraging observation that the general mental health score improved significantly 6 months after BPM-IBR which might be explained by the initial relief from the reduction of the cancer risk due to the prophylactic mastectomy. Furthermore, the mean evaluation of the overall partner relationship remained stable and despite the tendency of a decline in the sexual relationship satisfaction, both mean NRV scores corresponded with normal norm scores [27]. Nevertheless, the trend towards a decline in sexual satisfaction, suggests that this finding could have been statistically significant in a larger sample.

A limitation of our study may be that no sexual *dysfunction* scale was included. A planned follow-up study shall provide more information about the issues in women with BPM-IBR regarding sexual dysfunction. We expect that sexual function might also be affected due to the consequences of (future) premenopausal PBSO, which is generally advised in BRCA1/2 mutation carriers [44;45]. This may result in adverse psychological, somatic and sexual consequences (e.g. vasomotor symptoms, vaginal dryness, decreased libido) [46-48]. Furthermore, future studies should include a validated breast reconstruction-specific questionnaire as well, such as the Breast-Q [49] for which norm data should be available as well to compare body image scores with a healthy age-matched norm group.

The study sample size was small; therefore MLA offered the best opportunity to analyze the data to correct for dropouts who had earlier reported worse scores on the psychological variables. An unfinished breast reconstruction procedure may have reinforced dropping out, as the dropout rate was significantly higher in this group. The full response rate on the body image questionnaire however, was high (75%), whereas it was lower for some of the other questionnaires (minimum response rate 67%). One of the reasons for this difference may be a lack of motivation to complete a whole battery of questionnaires. Some women had stated they did not want to complete the IES as they "did not have cancer and therefore did not have cancer distress". Recruitment and participation of this patient group in longterm quantitative studies still is difficult and the small sample size is similar to comparable previous studies [11;13].

The main strength of this study is the prospective design, despite the small patient numbers. Our sample seems representative for healthy BRCA1/2 mutation carriers, including the finding that breast cancer was detected in the mastectomy specimens of two women [9;14;16;50;51]. Furthermore, the prediction model of body image provided medium to large effect sizes for the risk factor preoperative cancer distress, providing a good prediction for a negative body image after BPM-IBR [35]. We, therefore, recommend further exploring preoperative cancer distress in these patients and to pay more attention to those who are highly distressed to help them adapt better to their new body image after surgery. Nonetheless, a larger sample should be included in the future to confirm our findings and to support our inferences.

It is of great importance to inform patients *and* their partners about positive as well as negative consequences of BPM-IBR so they can form realistic expectations. This may help them to anticipate untoward side-effects after surgery [10;13;21;52-55]. It is preferable for all professionals involved to be aware of and enquire about psychosexual adjustment problems during follow-up visits. Psychosocial professionals should be sufficiently knowledgeable about onco-genetics. Psychological support should be offered after BPM-IBR in an integrated approach as long as the option for BPM-IBR is provided, as a substantial proportion of women face ongoing psychosocial issues [11;56].

**Acknowledgements;** We thank all women who participated in the study. We also thank the involved specialists for providing medical data: G. K. van Drunen, N.A.S. Posch, M.J.I. Braam and H.P. van Not at the participating centers LUMC, Haga Hospital and Admiraal de

Ruyter Hospital Goes. We also thank Annelies Kleijne for data management. This study was supported by the Dutch Cancer Society (UL 2007-3726).

## References

- 1. King MC, Marks JH and Mandell JB. Breast and ovarian cancer risks due to inherited mutations in BRCA1 and BRCA2. *Science* 2003; 302:643-646.
- 2. Ford D, Easton DF, Stratton M, Narod S et al. Genetic heterogeneity and penetrance analysis of the BRCA1 and BRCA2 genes in breast cancer families. *American Journal of Human Genetics* 1998; 62:676-689.
- Antoniou A, Pharoah PDP, Narod S, Risch HA et al. Average risks of breast and ovarian cancer associated with BRCA1 or BRCA2 mutations detected in case series unselected for family history: A combined analysis of 22 studies. *American Journal of Human Genetics* 2003; 72:1117-1130.
- 4. Hartmann LC, Sellers TA, Schaid DJ, Frank TS et al. Efficacy of bilateral prophylactic mastectomy in BRCA1 and BRCA2 gene mutation carriers. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute* 2001; 93:1633-1637.
- 5. Hartmann LC, Schaid DJ, Woods JE, Crotty TP et al. Efficacy of bilateral prophylactic mastectomy in women with a family history of breast cancer. *New England Journal of Medicine* 1999; 340:77-84.
- 6. Rebbeck TR, Friebel T, Lynch HT, Neuhausen SL et al. Bilateral Prophylactic Mastectomy Reduces Breast Cancer Risk in BRCA1 and BRCA2 Mutation Carriers: The PROSE Study Group. *Journal of Clinical Oncology* 2004; 22:1055-1062.
- 7. Evans DGR, Lalloo F, Ashcroft L, Shenton A et al. Uptake of Risk-Reducing Surgery in Unaffected Women at High Risk of Breast and Ovarian Cancer Is Risk, Age, and Time Dependent. *Cancer Epidemiology Biomarkers & Prevention* 2009; 18:2318-2324.
- 8. Metcalfe KA, Birenbaum-Carmeli D, Lubinski J, Gronwald J et al. International variation in rates of uptake of preventive options in BRCA1 and BRCA2 mutation carriers. *International Journal of Cancer* 2008; 122:2017-2022.
- Brandberg Y, Sandelin K, Erikson S, Jurell G et al. Psychological reactions, quality of life, and body image after bilateral prophylactic mastectomy in women at high risk for breast cancer: A prospective 1-year follow-up study. *Journal of Clinical Oncology* 2008; 26:3943-3949.
- 10. Bresser PJC, Seynaeve C, Van Gool AR, Brekelmans CT et al. Satisfaction with prophylactic mastectomy and breast reconstruction in genetically predisposed women. *Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery* 2006; 117:1675-1682.
- 11. den Heijer M, Seynaeve C, Timman R, Duivenvoorden HJ et al. Body image and psychological distress after prophylactic mastectomy and breast reconstruction in genetically predisposed women: A prospective long-term follow-up study. *European Journal of Cancer* 2011; 48:1263-1268.
- 12. Frost MH, Schaid DJ, Sellers TA, Slezak JM et al. Long-term satisfaction and psychological and social function following bilateral prophylactic mastectomy. *Jama-Journal of the American Medical Association* 2000; 284:319-324.

- 13. Gahm J, Wickman M and Brandberg Y. Bilateral prophylactic mastectomy in women with inherited risk of breast cancer--prevalence of pain and discomfort, impact on sexuality, quality of life and feelings of regret two years after surgery. *Breast* 2010; 19:462-469.
- 14. Hatcher MB, Fallowfield L and A'Hern R. The psychosocial impact of bilateral prophylactic mastectomy: prospective study using questionnaires and semistructured interviews. *British Medical Journal* 2001; 322:76-79.
- 15. Hopwood P, Lee A, Shenton A, Baildam A et al. Clinical follow-up after bilateral risk reducing ('prophylactic') mastectomy: Mental health and body image outcomes. *Psycho-Oncology* 2000; 9:462-472.
- 16. Lodder LN, Frets PG, Trijsburg RW, Meijers-Heijboer EJ et al. One year follow-up of women opting for presymptomatic testing for BRCA1 and BRCA2: Emotional impact of the test outcome and decisions on risk management (Surveillance or prophylactic surgery). *Breast Cancer Research and Treatment* 2002; 73:97-112.
- 17. McGaughey A. Body image after bilateral prophylactic mastectomy: an integrative literature review. *Journal of midwifery & women's health* 2006; 51:e45-e49.
- 18. van Oostrom I, Meijers-Heijboer H, Ladder LN, Duivenvoorden HJ et al. Long-term psychological impact of carrying a BRCA1/2 mutation and prophylactic surgery: A 5-year follow-up study. *Journal of Clinical Oncology* 2003; 21:3867-3874.
- 19. Metcalfe KA, Esplen MJ, Goel V and Narod SA. Psychosocial functioning in women who have undergone bilateral prophylactic mastectomy. *Psycho-Oncology* 2004; 13:14-25.
- 20. Bresser P, Seynaeve C, Van Gool A, Niermeijer M et al. The course of distress in women at increased risk of breast and ovarian cancer due to an (identified) genetic susceptibility who opt for prophylactic mastectomy and/or salpingo-oophorectomy. *European Journal of Cancer* 2007; 43:95-103.
- 21. Gopie JP, Timman R, Hilhorst MT, Hofer SO et al. Information-seeking behaviour and coping style of women opting for either implant or DIEP-flap breast reconstruction. *Journal of Plastic Reconstructive and Aesthetic Surgery* 2011; 64:1167-1173.
- 22. Gopie JP, Hilhorst MT, Kleijne A, Timman R et al. Women's motives to opt for either implant or DIEP-flap breast reconstruction. *Journal of Plastic Reconstructive and Aesthetic Surgery* 2011; 64:1062-1067.
- 23. Gopie JP, Timman R, Hilhorst MT, Hofer SOP et al. The short-term psychological impact of complications after breast reconstruction. *Psycho-Oncology* 2011DOI: 10.1002/ pon.2089.
- 24. Lodder LN, Frets PG, Trijsburg RW, Meijers-Heijboer EJ et al. One year follow-up of women opting for presymptomatic testing for BRCA1 and BRCA2: Emotional impact of the test outcome and decisions on risk management (Surveillance or prophylactic surgery). *Breast Cancer Research and Treatment* 2002; 73:97-112.
- 25. Cull AM. The Assessment of Sexual Function in Cancer-Patients. *European Journal of Cancer* 1992; 28A:1680-1686.
- 26. Hopwood P. The Assessment of Body-Image in Cancer-Patients. *European Journal of Cancer* 1993; 29A:276-281.

- 27. Barelds, D.P.H., Luteijn, F., Arrindell, W.A. NRV Nederlandse Relatie Vragenlijst -Handleiding. Lisse: Swets Test Publishers, 2003.
- 28. Aaronson NK, Muller M, Cohen PDA, Essink-Bot ML et al. Translation, validation, and norming of the Dutch language version of the SF-36 Health Survey in community and chronic disease populations. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology* 1998; 51:1055-1068.
- 29. Ware JE. SF-36 health survey update. Spine 2000; 25:3130-3139.
- 30. www.sf-36.org. 2011
- 31. van der Ploeg E, Mooren TTM, Kleber RJ, van der Velden PG and Brom D. Construct validation of the Dutch version of the impact of event scale. *Psychological Assessment* 2004; 16:16-26.
- 32. Horowitz M, Wilner N and Alvarez W. Impact of Event Scale Measure of Subjective Stress. *Psychosomatic Medicine* 1979; 41:209-218.
- 33. Joseph S. Psychometric evaluation of Horowitz's impact of event scale: A review. *Journal of Traumatic Stress* 2000; 13:101-113.
- 34. Horowitz, M.J. Stress Response Syndromes and Their Treatment. In L. Goldberger, S. Breznitz (Eds.), *Handbook of Stress. Theoretical and Clinical aspects*, 1 Ed. New York: The Free Press, 1982 Pp. 711-732.
- 35. Cohen, J. Statistical power analysis for the behavioral sciences, 2nd Ed. New Jersey: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, 1988.
- 36. Hox, J. Multilevel Analysis Techniques and Applications. Mahwah, New Jersey: Erlbaum, 2002.
- 37. Singer, J., Willet, J. Applied longitudinal data analysis modeling change and event occurrence. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2003.
- 38. Zion SM, Slezak JM, Sellers TA, Woods JE et al. Reoperations after prophylactic mastectomy with or without implant reconstruction. *Cancer* 2003; 98:2152-2160.
- 39. Eldor L and Spiegel A. Breast Reconstruction after Bilateral Prophylactic Mastectomy in Women at High Risk for Breast Cancer. *Breast Journal* 2009; 15:S81-S89.
- 40. Barton MB, West CN, Liu IL, Harris EL et al. Complications following bilateral prophylactic mastectomy. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute Monographs* 200561-66.
- 41. Heemskerk-Gerritsen BAM, Brekelmans CTM, Menke-Pluymers MBE, van Geel AN et al. Prophylactic mastectomy in BRCA1/2 mutation carriers and women at risk of hereditary breast cancer: Long-term experiences at the rotterdam family cancer clinic. Annals of Surgical Oncology 2007; 14:3335-3344.
- 42. Damen THC, Mureau MAM, Timman R, Rakhorst HA and Hofer SOP. The pleasing end result after DIEP flap breast reconstruction: a review of additional operations. *Journal of Plastic Reconstructive and Aesthetic Surgery* 2009; 62:71-76.
- 43. Damen THC, Wei W, Mureau MAM, Tjong-Joe-Wai R et al. Medium-term cost analysis of breast reconstructions in a single Dutch centre: A comparison of implants, implants preceded by tissue expansion, LD transpositions and DIEP flaps. *Journal of Plastic Reconstructive and Aesthetic Surgery* 2011; 64:1043-1053.

- 44. Kauff ND, Satagopan JM, Robson ME, Scheuer L et al. Risk-reducing salpingooophorectomy in women with a BRCA1 or BRCA2 mutation. *New England Journal of Medicine* 2002; 346:1609-1615.
- 45. Finch A, Beiner M, Lubinski J, Lynch HT et al. Salpingo-oophorectomy and the risk of ovarian, fallopian tube, and peritoneal cancers in women with a BRCA1 or BRCA2 mutation. *Jama-Journal of the American Medical Association* 2006; 296:185-192.
- 46. Benshushan A, Rojansky N, Chaviv M, Arbel-Alon S et al. Climacteric symptoms in women undergoing risk-reducing bilateral salpingo-oophorectomy. *Climacteric* 2009; 12:404-409.
- Madalinska JB, Hollenstein J, Bleiker E, van Beurden M et al. Quality-of-life effects of prophylactic salpingo-oophorectomy versus gynecologic screening among women at increased risk of hereditary ovarian cancer. *Journal of Clinical Oncology* 2005; 23:6890-6898.
- 48. Finch A and Narod SA. Quality of life and health status after prophylactic salpingooophorectomy in women who carry a BRCA mutation: A review. *Maturitas* 2011; 70:261-265.
- 49. Pusic AL, Klassen AF, Scott AM, Klok JA et al. Development of a New Patient-Reported Outcome Measure for Breast Surgery: The BREAST-Q. *Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery* 2009; 124:345-353.
- 50. Arver B, Isaksson K, Atterhem H, Baan A et al. Bilateral Prophylactic Mastectomy in Swedish Women at High Risk of Breast Cancer: A National Survey. *Annals of Surgery* 2011; 253:1147-1154.
- 51. Kaas R, Verhoef S, Wesseling J, Rookus MA et al. Prophylactic Mastectomy in BRCA1 and BRCA2 Mutation Carriers Very Low Risk for Subsequent Breast Cancer. *Annals of Surgery* 2010; 251:488-492.
- 52. Brandberg Y, Malm M, Rutqvist LE, Jonsson E and Blomqvist L. A prospective randomised study (named SVEA) of three methods of delayed breast reconstruction. Study design, patients' preoperative problems and expectations. *Scandinavian Journal of Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery and Hand Surgery* 1999; 33:209-216.
- 53. Contant CME, van Wersch AMEA, Wiggers T, Wai RTJ and van Geel AN. Motivations, satisfaction, and information of immediate breast reconstruction following mastectomy. *Patient Education and Counseling* 2000; 40:201-208.
- 54. Fuller S and Anderson RC. Adjustment issues related to bilateral prophylactic mastectomy in women at elevated risk of developing breast cancer. *Plastic surgical nursing : official journal of the American Society of Plastic and Reconstructive Surgical Nurses* 2009; 29:33-38.
- 55. Snell L, McCarthy C, Klassen A, Cano S et al. Clarifying the Expectations of Patients Undergoing Implant Breast Reconstruction: A Qualitative Study. *Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery* 2010; 126:1825-1830.
- 56. Tan MBM, Bleiker EMA, Menke-Pluymers MBE, Van Gool AR et al. Standard psychological consultations and follow up for women at increased risk of hereditary breast cancer considering prophylactic mastectomy. *Hereditary Cancer in Clinical Practice* 2009; 7.

# CHAPTER 8 SUMMARY, DISCUSSION AND IMPLICATIONS



### 1. Summary

#### 1.1. Motivations for breast reconstruction

The motivations of women who opted for either implant or DIEP flap breast reconstruction (BR) after prophylactic or therapeutic mastectomy, were gualitatively explored by using interviews (Chapter 2). Before surgery, women were asked why they had opted for reconstruction and why they preferred a certain method. We observed that women generally decided in favour of reconstruction because they felt too young to live without breasts, wanted to avoid wearing an external prosthesis, and wished to feel feminine and self-confident which is in congruence with previous findings [1-3]. Motives to specifically opt for implant reconstruction were often primarily related to practical issues: preferring a short recovery period and a minimum number of scars in order to regain their daily life as soon as possible. Whilst they preferred a quick recovery, these patients may not have been aware of the fact that a complete BR course can take 21 months, which was the mean duration to the end of the BR in this study. Women who chose DIEP flap BR especially focused on regaining a breast that resembles their own lost breast as closely as possible. In addition, they had the idea that the complication risk of DIEP flap BR was lower compared to implant BR. Furthermore, they felt DIEP flap BR would offer long-term benefits and less secondary operations, whereas in fact the number of reoperations following complications after a mean follow-up period of 21 months was comparable in both groups (Chapter 4 and 5). Some patients preferred DIEP flap BR as it offered the additional advantage of an abdominoplasty. Nevertheless, it was apparent that next to personal motivations, clinical variables (such as therapeutic or prophylactic mastectomy, breast irradiation, availability of plastic surgeons with microsurgical expertise and long waiting lists) need to be taken into account when considering a certain type of BR, as these can have a marked influence in the decision making process as well.

#### 1.2. Information seeking regarding breast reconstruction

As information provision concerning BR is not standardized in our country, being properly informed also depends on patients' information seeking behavior. Therefore, before surgery, we explored women's coping style and information seeking behavior (Chapter 3). We observed that women who had an active coping style and who were independent in their decision-making opted for DIEP flap BR. Women who were less well-informed and who depended more on their surgeon with regard to their decision opted for implant BR rather than DIEP flap BR. Before their operation, forty percent of the implant BR patients was not aware of the possibility of undergoing reconstruction with autologous tissue. To be well-informed about breast reconstructive surgery, an active coping style and independent information seeking was required, as not all women were sufficiently informed by their surgeon.

#### 1.3. Complications after breast reconstruction

We found an overall complication rate of 40% after BR. These complications had a distinct impact on distress one month after BR (Chapter 4), when anxiety and cancer distress

significantly declined, but depression significantly increased. Forty percent of the patients with complications reported high levels of anxiety, depression and cancer-specific distress. Furthermore, we found a distinct difference between patients with implant and DIEP flap BR, in which the former were more anxious and had more cancer-specific distress, before their operation. This effect might have been affected by the timing of BR, as more women with implant BR underwent immediate reconstruction, meaning they had to undergo therapeutic mastectomy for breast cancer as well, ultimately resulting in higher cancer-distress.

After completion of the full BR course, anxiety decreased and depression was not significantly different from baseline levels. Both mean anxiety and depression levels were within the normal range (Chapter 5). Mean cancer distress was above the cut-off score before undergoing BR, but this significantly decreased, to normal levels, at the end of BR. In the long term, at the 21 months follow-up, complications and subsequent surgery generally did not lead to increased anxiety, depression or cancer distress, however, a permanent loss of BR (total removal of the reconstructed breast) did. The total loss of BR was significantly related to more depression and more cancer distress. Remarkably, women who had lost their BR already had higher cancer distress before undergoing BR. Younger patients had more anxiety and depression and their cancer distress was significantly higher at the end of BR. Furthermore, a longer period since mastectomy appeared to result in more anxiety and depression at the end of BR. These findings highlight that younger patients and women, who had the diagnosis of breast cancer a longer time ago, may still experience psychological adjustment problems even after the completion of the total BR course.

Before surgery, risk factors for developing higher psychological distress should be checked and women at risk for psychological distress should be carefully monitored after surgery with regard to their psychological wellbeing.

#### 1.4. Body image and sexual satisfaction after breast reconstruction

The impact of either implant or DIEP flap BR on body image and sexual relationship satisfaction was prospectively investigated in women with delayed BR after a history of breast cancer (Chapter 6) and in healthy women with immediate BR after bilateral prophylactic mastectomy (Chapter 7). In the first group body image improved significantly after 20 months. A better body image was related to a better general mental health, less cancer distress and a higher partner relationship satisfaction. Sexual relationship satisfaction improved as well and a better partner relationship satisfaction was positively related to sexual relationship satisfaction; however, women who had hormonal therapy were less satisfied with their sexual relationship. No differences in body image and sexual relationship satisfaction with regard to the type of BR.

In healthy women, at risk for developing hereditary breast cancer, who underwent bilateral prophylactic mastectomy with immediate BR, body image significantly declined after 6 months and after 21 months body image still tended to be worse compared to the body image at baseline. The sexual relationship satisfaction tended to decline up to 21 months. However, the overall scores were within the normal ranges for body image and sexual satisfaction. Body image was positively related to general physical health, and negatively
to cancer distress. After completion of the total BR course, a significant subgroup reported that their breasts felt unpleasant, that they were not satisfied with their breast appearance and that they felt embarrassed about their naked bodies. Regardless of surgery, both before and after the operation one third indicated they felt uncomfortable when touched by their partner. These results indicate the psychosocial impact of bilateral prophylactic mastectomy with BR in healthy women should not be underestimated.

# 2. Discussion

Initially, the aim of this study was to compare the psychological impact of two types of BR: implant and DIEP flap BR in women who had breast cancer or who decided to have prophylactic surgery after being identified as carrier of a BRCA1/2 mutation. With a prospective multi-center design about 100 patients with implant and 100 patients with DIEP flap BR would be included. However, at the start of the study, many barriers were presented which made patient inclusion complicated. Each hospital appeared to have its favourite method of BR and showed a preference for offering BR either immediately or directly after mastectomy. Bilateral prophylactic mastectomies were generally performed in the academic hospitals. However, as patients were included in nine different hospitals, including academic centers as well as peripheral hospitals, patient inclusion for this study can be considered as representative for the Dutch patient population. Nevertheless, the reality is that the BR patient group is highly heterogeneous which would complicate statistical analyses and generalization of the study results.

Patient inclusion resulted in a study sample of 202 women who underwent BR. A total of 152 women had mastectomy as a treatment for breast cancer of whom 31 (20.4%) underwent contralateral prophylactic mastectomy as they were at high risk for developing breast cancer in the other breast as well. The remaining 50 women had bilateral prophylactic mastectomy to prevent the development of breast cancer as they had an increased risk for developing familial breast cancer. In total, about half of the women received implant BR and the other half had DIEP flap BR. However, due to practical (long waiting lists) as well as clinical (unavailability of autologous tissue) reasons bilateral prophylactic mastectomy was seldom followed by DIEP flap BR and therefore only concerned 10 out of 50 women in this sample. Consequently, the majority of these patients had implant BR. This impeded the statistical analyses from comparing the impact regarding the type of BR within the prophylactic group.

Next to the uneven distribution of the type of BR, the timing of BR was also unequally divided in the implant and DIEP flap group. Because DIEP flap BR requires an operative time of about four hours per breast, depending on the number of microsurgeons involved, bilateral prophylactic mastectomy followed by DIEP flap BR would take at least eight hours of surgery time, including closing of the abdominal donor-site. This requires the availability of an oncological surgeon, a plastic and reconstructive surgeon with microsurgical skills, a team of operating theatre personnel and enough theatre time on one day. However, the availability of microsurgeons with skills in perforator flap surgery is low. These practical limitations make it impossible to perform bilateral DIEP flap BR on a large scale, which is one

of the reasons why after bilateral (prophylactic) mastectomy the most commonly performed BR method is immediate implant BR [4;5].

Due to these difficulties a direct comparison between women with either implant or DIEP flap BR was strongly restricted. The difference between the types of BR was statistically measured by including the type of BR as a covariate in the longitudinal analyses. Nevertheless, we found that the type of BR was generally not related to most psychosocial outcomes after BR. As DIEP flap BR was generally performed as a delayed reconstruction method whereas implant BR was more commonly performed immediately after mastectomy, the role of the timing of BR may have been of great influence. Therefore, to specifically measure the impact of each type of BR, future studies should focus on an equal distribution of women with immediate and delayed BR for each BR type. It is to be expected that this type of patient inclusion would take many more years, to include a statistically acceptable sample size of women with DIEP flap BR after bilateral prophylactic mastectomy.

Ultimately, as each hospital has its own commonly performed type of BR, patient information provided before their operation is likely to have been biased. In Chapter 2 and 3 we found that not every patient was well informed regarding the possibility of implant BR or BR with autologous tissue. Autonomous patients and active information seekers chose the more sophisticated method of DIEP flap BR. In Chapter 5 it was demonstrated that women with DIEP flap BR had an overall higher satisfaction rate with the aesthetic end result compared to women with implant BR. This was expected as it is well-known that autonomous, aware patients are better-informed and have more realistic expectations, ultimately resulting in higher satisfaction with their decision afterwards [6-12]. On the other hand, cognitive dissonance [13] can lead to higher satisfaction as well: their intensive search for complete information and their physical efforts to undergo DIEP flap BR may have resulted in a positive attitude afterwards, reinforcing the notion that all the effort had been worth it.

Women with implant BR, the most commonly performed BR method, relied more heavily on their surgeon's advice regarding their decision for BR. In the interviews it appeared that some women were not prepared to go to a different hospital to get an autologous BR method, as for example a DIEP flap. As already mentioned, this technique requires microsurgical expertise and special education for the reconstructive surgeon and this expertise is only available in specialized centers. This availability consequently resulted in long patient waiting lists for DIEP flap BR, which in turn was a further restriction for some patients. However, Damen et al. demonstrated that aesthetics and the complication risk were of greater importance than the long waiting lists in the decision for BR [14]. Nevertheless, the results of this study demonstrate that standardized information provision regarding BR options, and availability of the different techniques per hospital, is needed for patients to enable them to make the best decision.

As mentioned, autologous BR requires highly skilled and qualified surgeons and the operation takes a long time, resulting in much larger costs compared with implant BRs. Health care costs are increasing rapidly in the western world and efforts are being made to reduce these costs. Expensive operations, such as autologous BR should be given due credit

for their ability to improve the quality of life compared to, for example, implant BR and more research on the (cost-) effectiveness of autologous BR, using QALYs (Quality Adjusted Life Years) is needed [5].

The impact of the overall complication rate after BR (40%) was investigated in Chapter 4 and 5. A major limitation of these studies was that the questionnaires were not sent directly after a complication occurred and consequent additional surgery was conducted, therefore a causal relationship could not be identified. It was demonstrated that women with a failed BR had worse psychosocial outcomes. However, the clinical experience is that currently these women are rarely followed up by most hospitals, except for the period until all surgical wounds have healed. Once it becomes clear that the plastic surgeon cannot offer a new BR during this period, women often leave the outpatient clinic without a future planned followup consultation or the offer of psychological counseling.

In Chapters 6 and 7 the impact of BR on body image was described. A study-specific questionnaire was used which was adapted from the previous studies of our research line [15;16]. Some questions were revised and other questions were added designed specifically to address the impact of BR. We collected a total number of observations on the body image questionnaire of n=442, which provided more statistical power compared to the previous studies (n=14 and n=19) [15;16]. A new three-factor solution revealed different outcomes than Lodder et al. [15] had reported, and therefore study results could not be easily compared to previous study findings [15-17].

We decided not to include a control group of women undergoing mastectomy without BR as it had been previously demonstrated that generally psychosocial outcomes do not differ between women with BR and patients without BR [18-32]. In addition, our data on the standardized and validated questionnaires could be compared with normative data to place the data in context. Motivations whether to choose for BR or not were also previously explored, however to compare motivations for either implant BR, DIEP flap BR or no BR, we interviewed a small sample of women who had not undergone BR.

Undergoing the process of having breast cancer and/or dealing with an increased familial breast cancer risk requires many resources from the patient as well as from the partner. The intimate relationship can be negatively influenced after mastectomy [33-50]. We measured the course of overall sexual and partner relationship satisfaction during the process of BR using the validated NRV questionnaire (Dutch Relationship Questionnaire) [51]. As this instrument was designed only for couples or persons with a partner, single women were excluded. Because mastectomy and BR will undoubtedly impact single women's intimate relationships, future studies need to assess sexuality outcomes in this group well.

Psychological distress and its predictors were evaluated by means of both global distress measures (anxiety and depression) as well as a breast cancer-specific questionnaire, as an indicator for psychological adjustment. These instruments have been frequently used in similar studies world-wide and their psychometric values have been well established. However, these measures may not have been sensitive enough to capture the specific concerns and personal issues of our study population as has been recently demonstrated by Vos et al [52].

#### 2.1. Implications for future studies

This prospective multi-center study regarding two types of BR represents the heterogeneous patient population undergoing BR for breast cancer. The majority of patients had good psychosocial outcomes after both BRs. However, subgroups of patients reported worse outcomes, such as women who had experienced a loss of the reconstructed breast(s). Remarkably, we noticed that psychosocial issues after having BR are hardly discussed and explored during routine follow-up consultations by medical professionals. Future studies should focus on the care and communication with psychologically vulnerable patients.

Future studies aiming to evaluate the psychological outcomes after therapeutic and prophylactic mastectomy, and/or being at risk for hereditary breast cancer should also include outcome measures specific to the field of mastectomy and hereditary breast cancer. In view of the potential impact of mastectomy and BR, the Breast-Q would be a worthwhile addition [53]. For the specific impact hereditary breast cancer has on self-concept, we support the idea of Esplen et al. [54] that it would be particularly interesting to use the BRCA Self-Concept Scale as an outcome measure for this patient group. In addition, we recommend to include validated questionnaires regarding intimate or relational aspects for single persons as well.

Furthermore, more prospective studies with a follow-up period beyond 18 months to assess the psychosocial impact of BR are needed [55;56]. Most prospective studies include a maximum follow-up of 12 months [27;57-61], therefore a longer follow-up period after BR is recommended for future research to explore longer term outcomes after BR as well. Also, the specific issues and help needs of patients with regard to intimacy, including single women as well as partnered patients together with their partners, should be further scientifically explored.

Overall, we have to bear in mind that quantitative research reduces the individual impact to mean group scores, whereas in clinical practice we should focus on the individual and inter-relational impact. This means the individual impact of BR on body image, sexual and partner relationship satisfaction, anxiety, depressive feelings and cancer worries. Qualitative studies are therefore a useful addition to the quantitative data. Our range of research on BR will be expanded in the near future and will include qualitative interviews as well with patients and partners.

### 2.2. Recommendations for the clinical practice

Based on the study findings, participants' comments during the follow-up and patient reactions at the patient day, organized at the end of the study, our recommendations for the clinical practice are the following:

- include the partner from the beginning in the medical consultations
- stimulate each patient to be assertive; encourage her to explicitly ask for the information she is missing during the process of mastectomy with BR
- before the operation, show the patient pictures of good and moderate BR results (organize show and tell sessions)

- before the operation, inform the patient about the complication risks and possible psychological adjustment problems, particularly regarding the period shortly after surgery
- involve a case-manager (e.g. the mamma-care nurse) in the mastectomy and BR process from before surgery to the end of BR
- routinely provide, before the operation, a psychological consultation for the patients who are about to undergo prophylactic mastectomy, in order to inform and prepare these often young women on possible (adverse) changes in body image and intimacy
- after the operation, offer a consult with a psychologist to the women who underwent prophylactic mastectomy
- the impact of severe complications on general wellbeing should be addressed by the surgeon or mamma-care nurse
- at any time, the mamma-care nurse and other specialists involved should refer patients with persisting psychological adjustment problems to a psychologist.
- emphasize that psychological help remains available during the whole recovery process
- Inform patients about patient organizations and websites (BVN, Pink Ribbon; www. borstkanker.nl; www.BRCA.nl; www.pinkribbon.nl)

# References

- Handel N, Silverstein MJ, Waisman E and Waisman JR. Reasons Why Mastectomy Patients do Not Have Breast Reconstruction. *Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery* 1990; 86:1118-1122.
- 2. Reaby LL. Reasons why women who have mastectomy decide to have or not to have breast reconstruction. *Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery* 1998; 101:1810-1818.
- 3. Shameem H, Yip CH and Fong E. Immediate Breast Reconstruction after Mastectomy -Why do Women Choose this Option? *Asian Pacific J Cancer Prev* 2008; 9:409-412.
- 4. Beahm EK and Walton RL. Issues, Considerations, and Trends in Bilateral Breast Reconstruction. *Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery* 2009; 124:1064-1076.
- 5. Damen THC, Wei W, Mureau MAM, Tjong-Joe-Wai R et al. Medium-term cost analysis of breast reconstructions in a single Dutch centre: A comparison of implants, implants preceded by tissue expansion, LD transpositions and DIEP flaps. *Journal of Plastic Reconstructive and Aesthetic Surgery* 2011; 64:1043-1053.
- 6. Lee YY and Lin JL. Do patient autonomy preferences matter? Linking patient-centered care to patient-physician relationships and health outcomes. *Social Science & Medicine* 2010; 71:1811-1818.
- 7. Baek SK, Kim SY, Heo DS, Yun YH and Lee MK. Effect of advanced cancer patients' awareness of disease status on treatment decisional conflicts and satisfaction during palliative chemotherapy: a Korean prospective cohort study. *Supportive Care in Cancer* 2012; 20:1309-1316.

- 8. Pusic AL, Klassen AF, Snell L, Cano SJ et al. Measuring and managing patient expectations for breast reconstruction: impact on quality of life and patient satisfaction. *Expert Review of Pharmacoeconomics & Outcomes Research* 2012; 12:149-158.
- 9. Abu-Nab Z and Grunfeld EA. Satisfaction with outcome and attitudes towards scarring among women undergoing breast reconstructive surgery. *Patient Education and Counseling* 2007; 66:243-249.
- 10. Contant CME, van Wersch AMEA, Wiggers T, Wai RTJ and van Geel AN. Motivations, satisfaction, and information of immediate breast reconstruction following mastectomy. *Patient Education and Counseling* 2000; 40:201-208.
- 11. Fallbjork U, Frejeus E and Rasmussen BH. A preliminary study into women's experiences of undergoing reconstructive surgery after breast cancer. *European journal of oncology nursing : the official journal of European Oncology Nursing Society* 2012; 16:220-226.
- 12. Sheehan J, Sherman KA, Lam T and Boyages J. Association of information satisfaction, psychological distress and monitoring coping style with post-decision regret following breast reconstruction. *Psycho-Oncology* 2007; 16:342-351.
- 13. Festinger, L. A theory of cognitive dissonance. Stanford CA: Stanford University Press, 1957.
- 14. Damen THC, de Bekker-Grob EW, Mureau MAM, Menke-Pluijmers MB et al. Patients' preferences for breast reconstruction: A discrete choice experiment. *Journal of Plastic Reconstructive and Aesthetic Surgery* 2011; 64:75-83.
- 15. Lodder LN, Frets PG, Trijsburg RW, Meijers-Heijboer EJ et al. One year follow-up of women opting for presymptomatic testing for BRCA1 and BRCA2: Emotional impact of the test outcome and decisions on risk management (Surveillance or prophylactic surgery). *Breast Cancer Research and Treatment* 2002; 73:97-112.
- 16. van Oostrom I, Meijers-Heijboer H, Ladder LN, Duivenvoorden HJ et al. Long-term psychological impact of carrying a BRCA1/2 mutation and prophylactic surgery: A 5-year follow-up study. *Journal of Clinical Oncology* 2003; 21:3867-3874.
- 17. den Heijer M, Seynaeve C, Timman R, Duivenvoorden HJ et al. Body image and psychological distress after prophylactic mastectomy and breast reconstruction in genetically predisposed women: A prospective long-term follow-up study. *European Journal of Cancer* 2012; 48:1263-1268.
- 18. Arora NK, Gustafson DH, Hawkins RP, McTavish F et al. Impact of surgery and chemotherapy on the quality of life of younger women with breast carcinoma A prospective study. *Cancer* 2001; 92:1288-1298.
- 19. Avis NE, Crawford S and Manuel J. Psychosocial problems among younger women with breast cancer. *Psycho-Oncology* 2004; 13:295-308.
- 20. Harcourt DM, Rumsey NJ, Ambler NR, Cawthorn SJ et al. The psychological effect of mastectomy with or without breast reconstruction: A prospective, multicenter study. *Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery* 2003; 111:1060-1068.
- 21. Janz NK, Mujahid M, Lantz PM, Fagerlin A et al. Population-based study of the relationship of treatment and sociodemographics on quality of life for early stage breast cancer. *Quality of Life Research* 2005; 14:1467-1479.

- 22. Lantz PM, Janz NK, Fagerlin A, Schwartz K et al. Satisfaction with surgery outcomes and the decision process in a population-based sample of women with breast cancer. *Health Services Research* 2005; 40:745-767.
- 23. Nano MT, Gill PG, Kollias J, Bochner MA et al. Psychological impact and cosmetic outcome of surgical breast cancer strategies. *Anz Journal of Surgery* 2005; 75:940-947.
- 24. Rowland JH, Desmond KA, Meyerowitz BE, Belin TR et al. Role of breast reconstructive surgery in physical and emotional outcomes among breast cancer survivors. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute* 2000; 92:1422-1429.
- 25. Pusic A, Thompson TA, Kerrigan CL, Sargeant R et al. Surgical options for early-stage breast cancer: Factors associated with patient choice and postoperative quality of life. *Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery* 1999; 104:1325-1333.
- 26. Rubino C, Figus A, Lorettu L and Sechi G. Post-mastectomy reconstruction: a comparative analysis on psychosocial and psychopathological outcomes. *Journal of Plastic Reconstructive and Aesthetic Surgery* 2007; 60:509-518.
- 27. Veiga DF, Neto MS, Ferreira LM, Garcia EB et al. Quality of life outcomes after pedicled TRAM flap delayed breast reconstruction. *British Journal of Plastic Surgery* 2004; 57:252-257.
- 28. Mock V. Body-Image in Women Treated for Breast-Cancer. *Nursing Research* 1993; 42:153-157.
- 29. Noyan MA, Sertoz OO, Elbi H, Kayar R and Yilmaz R. Variables affecting patient satisfaction in breast surgery: A cross-sectional sample of Turkish women with breast cancer. *International Journal of Psychiatry in Medicine* 2006; 36:299-313.
- Wellisch DK, Silverstein M, Hoffman R, Handel N et al. Psychosocial Outcomes of Breast-Cancer Therapies - Lumpectomy Versus Mastectomy. *Psychosomatics* 1989; 30:365-373.
- 31. Yurek D, Farrar W and Andersen BL. Breast cancer surgery: Comparing surgical groups and determining individual differences in postoperative sexuality and body change stress. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology* 2000; 68:697-709.
- 32. Zweifler M, Rodriguez E, Reilly J, Lewis T and Glasberg SB. Breast reconstruction among inner city women with breast carcinoma. *Annals of Plastic Surgery* 2001; 47:53-59.
- Brandberg Y, Sandelin K, Erikson S, Jurell G et al. Psychological reactions, quality of life, and body image after bilateral prophylactic mastectomy in women at high risk for breast cancer: A prospective 1-year follow-up study. *Journal of Clinical Oncology* 2008; 26:3943-3949.
- 34. Bresser PJC, Seynaeve C, Van Gool AR, Brekelmans CT et al. Satisfaction with prophylactic mastectomy and breast reconstruction in genetically predisposed women. *Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery* 2006; 117:1675-1682.
- 35. Gahm J, Wickman M and Brandberg Y. Bilateral prophylactic mastectomy in women with inherited risk of breast cancer Prevalence of pain and discomfort, impact on sexuality, quality of life and feelings of regret two years after surgery. *Breast* 2010; 19:462-469.
- 36. Eldor L and Spiegel A. Breast Reconstruction after Bilateral Prophylactic Mastectomy in Women at High Risk for Breast Cancer. *Breast Journal* 2009; 15:S81-S89.

- 37. Frost MH, Schaid DJ, Sellers TA, Slezak JM et al. Long-term satisfaction and psychological and social function following bilateral prophylactic mastectomy. *Jama-Journal of the American Medical Association* 2000; 284:319-324.
- 38. Geiger AM, Nekhlyudov L, Herrinton LJ, Rolnick SJ et al. Quality of life after bilateral prophylactic mastectomy. *Annals of Surgical Oncology* 2007; 14:686-694.
- 39. Hatcher MB and Fallowfield LJ. A qualitative study looking at the psychosocial implications of bilateral prophylactic mastectomy. *Breast* 2003; 12:1-9.
- 40. McGaughey A. Body image after bilateral prophylactic mastectomy: an integrative literature review. *J Midwifery Womens Health* 2006; 51:e45-e49.
- 41. Payne DK, Biggs C, Tran KN, Borgen PI and Massie MJ. Women's regrets after bilateral prophylactic mastectomy. *Annals of Surgical Oncology* 2000; 7:150-154.
- 42. Sayakhot P, Vincent A and Teede H. Breast cancer and menopause: partners' perceptions and personal experiences-a pilot study. *Menopause-the Journal of the North American Menopause Society* 2012; 19:916-923.
- 43. den Heijer M, Vanheusden K, Seynaeve C, Duivenvoorden HJ et al. Distress in partners of high-risk women undergoing breast cancer surveillance. *Journal of Mens Health* 2010; 7:413-419.
- 44. Gotze H, Weissflog G, Brahler E, Romer G et al. Male Partners of Cancer Patients with Underage Children Psychological Distress in Comparison to the General Population and the Diseased Partner. *Psychotherapie Psychosomatik Medizinische Psychologie* 2012; 62:73-79.
- 45. Gustavsson-Lilius M, Julkunen J, Keskivaara P, Lipsanen J and Hietanen P. Predictors of distress in cancer patients and their partners: The role of optimism in the sense of coherence construct. *Psychology & Health* 2012; 27:178-195.
- 46. Guyomard V, Leinster S, Wilkinson M, Servant JM and Pereira J. A Franco-British patients' and partners' satisfaction audit of breast reconstruction. *Journal of Plastic Reconstructive and Aesthetic Surgery* 2009; 62:782-789.
- 47. Hodgkinson K, Butow P, Hobbs KM and Wain G. After cancer: The unmet supportive care needs of survivors and their partners. *Journal of Psychosocial Oncology* 2007; 25:89-104.
- 48. Mireskandari S, Meiser B, Sherman K, Warner BJ et al. Evaluation of the needs and concerns of partners of women at high risk of developing breast/ovarian cancer. *Psycho-Oncology* 2006; 15:96-108.
- 49. Sandham C and Harcourt D. Partner experiences of breast reconstruction post mastectomy. *European Journal of Oncology Nursing* 2007; 11:66-73.
- 50. Sherman KA, Kasparian NA and Mireskandari S. Psychological adjustment among male partners in response to women's breast/ovarian cancer risk: a theoretical review of the literature. *Psycho-Oncology* 2010; 19:1-11.
- 51. Barelds, D.P.H., Luteijn, F., Arrindell, W.A. NRV Nederlandse Relatie Vragenlijst -Handleiding. Lisse: Swets Test Publishers, 2003.
- 52. Vos J, van Asperen CJ, Oosterwijk JC, Menko FH et al. The counselees' self-reported request for psychological help in genetic counseling for hereditary breast/ovarian

cancer: not only psychopathology matters. *Psycho-Oncology* 2012DOI: 10.1002/ pon.3081.

- 53. Pusic AL, Klassen AF, Scott AM, Klok JA et al. Development of a New Patient-Reported Outcome Measure for Breast Surgery: The BREAST-Q. *Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery* 2009; 124:345-353.
- 54. Esplen MJ, Stuckless N, Hunter J, Liede A et al. The BRCA Self-Concept Scale: a new instrument to measure self-concept in BRCA1/2 mutation carriers. *Psycho-Oncology* 2009; 18:1216-1229.
- 55. Atisha D, Alderman AK, Lowery JC, Kuhn LE et al. Prospective analysis of long-term psychosocial outcomes in breast reconstruction Two-year postoperative results from the Michigan Breast Reconstruction Outcomes Study. *Annals of Surgery* 2008; 247:1019-1028.
- 56. Nissen MJ, Swenson KK, Ritz LJ, Farrell JB et al. Quality of life after breast carcinoma surgery A comparison of three surgical procedures. *Cancer* 2001; 91:1238-1246.
- 57. Wilkins EG, Cederna PS, Lowery JC, Davis JA et al. Prospective analysis of psychosocial outcomes in breast reconstruction: One-year postoperative results from the Michigan Breast Reconstruction Outcome Study. *Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery* 2000; 106:1014-1025.
- 58. Tykka E, Asko-Seljavaara S and Hietanen H. Patient satisfaction with delayed breast reconstruction: A prospective study. *Annals of Plastic Surgery* 2002; 49:258-263.
- 59. Harcourt DM, Rumsey NJ, Ambler NR, Cawthorn SJ et al. The psychological effect of mastectomy with or without breast reconstruction: A prospective, multicenter study. *Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery* 2003; 111:1060-1068.
- 60. Elder EE, Brandberg Y, Bjorklund T, Rylander R et al. Quality of life and patient satisfaction in breast cancer patients after immediate breast reconstruction: a prospective study. *Breast* 2005; 14:201-208.
- 61. Brandberg Y, Malm M and Blomqvist L. A prospective and randomized study, "SVEA," comparing effects of three methods for delayed breast reconstruction on quality of life, patient-defined problem areas of life, and cosmetic result. *Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery* 2000; 105:66-74.

### SAMENVATTING

### 1. Borstkanker

### 1.1. Sporadische borstkanker

n Nederland is borstkanker het meest voorkomende type kanker bij vrouwen en is de kans 1 op 8 om dit in haar leven te krijgen. Ieder jaar worden er meer dan 13000 nieuwe gevallen geconstateerd, waarvan de meeste vrouwen ouder dan 50 jaar oud zijn [1]. Daarom worden vrouwen in Nederlands tussen de 50 en 75 jaar sinds 1989 uitgenodigd om deel te nemen in het nationale bevolkingsonderzoek, om iedere twee jaar de borsten te screenen op borstkanker, om zo nodig vroegtijdige behandeling te starten en het aantal sterfgevallen te verminderen [2-4]. Er bestaan diverse behandelingen voor borstkanker, zoals chirurgie, chemotherapie, bestraling en hormoontherapie. Ondanks het toepassen van borst besparende operaties, met of zonder nabehandeling, is het in 46% van de gevallen nog steeds nodig om een mastectomie te ondergaan [5].

#### 1.2. Erfelijke borstkanker

Ongeveer 5% tot 10% van alle borstkankergevallen worden veroorzaakt door een genetische afwijking [6]. Vrouwen uit families met een BRCA1/2 mutatie hebben een significant verhoogd risico om in hun leven borstkanker te ontwikkelen (39-85%) als ook eierstokkanker (10-63%) [7-9]. Deze vrouwen wordt een apart screeningsprogramma voor de borsten aangeboden, waaronder een jaarlijkse MRI-scan, een mammografie en klinisch borstonderzoek. Vrouwen met een verhoogd risico op borstkanker gebaseerd op de familiegeschiedenis, wordt ook een apart screeningsprogramma aanbevolen, zoals geadviseerd in de Nederlandse Borstkanker Richtlijnen (2011). Omdat een screeningsprogramma vroegtijdig borstkanker kan opsporen, maar het ontstaan er van niet kan voorkomen, kan preventieve mastectomie ook besproken worden met deze hoog-risico vrouwen [10-12].

# 2. Mastectomie en borstreconstructie

### 2.1. Therapeutische mastectomie met borstreconstructie

Een mastectomie kan een grote impact hebben op het lichaamsbeeld en zelfbeeld van de vrouw, zoals zich abnormaal of depressieve voelen, een gevoel van incompleetheid, en rouwgevoelens omtrent het verlies van de borst [13-17]. Borstreconstructie (BR) kan patiënttevredenheid en lichaamsbeeld significant verbeteren na mastectomie [18-23]. Echter, andere psychologische uitkomsten lijken niet significant te verschillen tussen vrouwen met en zonder BR na mastectomie [24-28]. Recent is onderzocht dat BR geassocieerd wordt met een verlaagde kans op sterfte na borstkanker, vergeleken met vrouwen die geen BR ondergingen, maar alleen een mastectomie, maar dit wordt waarschijnlijk verklaard door sociaal economische factoren zoals toegang en mogelijkheden van de gezondheidszorg, dan door oncologische factoren [29;30].

Het aantal patiënten dat een BR krijgt varieert van 10% tot 40% en neemt toe. Echter, er is een grote etnische en geografische variatie, waarbij bijvoorbeeld niet blanke vrouwen en patiënten wonend in afgelegen gebieden, minder snel BR ondergaan [31]. In Nederland ondergaat naar schatting 20% van de vrouwen BR na therapeutische mastectomie, de meerderheid ondergaat dus geen BR [32].

#### 2.2. Preventieve mastectomie met borstreconstructie

Preventieve mastectomie (PM) wordt gezien als een effectieve methode om het borstkankerrisico met meer dan 90% te reduceren in vrouwen met een verhoogd risico op het ontwikkelen van borstkanker [10-12;33;34]. De combinatie van het kankerrisico, de angst voor kanker en toenemende mogelijkheden om de borsten te reconstrueren na mastectomie, heeft de optie voor PM populairder gemaakt. Meer dan tien jaar geleden koos 55% van de Nederlandse, gezonde, hoog-risico vrouwen voor bilaterale PM [34], maar recentelijk is dit percentage gedaald naar 33% [35]. Redenen om geen bilaterale PM te ondergaan kunnen gerelateerd zijn aan mogelijk negatieve effecten op lichaamsbeeld en seksualiteit [36-46]. Daarnaast zijn er tegenwoordig betere screeningstechnieken beschikbaar die borstkanker in een eerder stadium kunnen opsporen [47-52] en het is aannemelijk dat deze verbeterde diagnostische technieken dokters en patiënten ervan weerhouden om te kiezen voor bilaterale PM. Desondanks, is de keuze voor bilaterale PM nog steeds hoog in Nederland, vergeleken met het internationale percentage van 18% [35;53]. Alleen in Amerika (36%) en Engeland (40%) ligt dit percentage hoger. Het percentage is het laagst in Polen (3%), Israël (4%) en Noorwegen (5%). Ten opzichte van contralaterale PM bij hoog-risico vrouwen die eerder borstkanker hadden in de andere borst, is het percentage in Nederland ook hoog (53%), vergeleken met internationaal (27%) [54;55]. Deze grote variatie kan ook te maken hebben met culturele verschillen, waarin zowel dokters als patiënten een rol kunnen spelen.

Tegenwoordig wordt BRCA1/2 mutatiedraagsters ook geadviseerd om de eileiders en eierstokken preventief te laten verwijderen (PBSO) om het risico op eierstokkanker te reduceren [56;57]. BRCA1 mutatiedraagsters wordt geadviseerd om PBSO te ondergaan tussen de 35 en 40 jaar oud, terwijl voor BRCA2 mutatiedraagsters geadviseerd wordt om dit tussen de 40 en 45 jaar oud te doen (Nederlandse Richtlijnen voor Erfelijke Tumoren 2010). Deze risicoreducerende operaties kunnen een aanzienlijk effect hebben op het psychosociale welzijn. PBSO kan de menopauze opwekken, wat kan leiden tot negatieve gevolgen op psychologisch, lichamelijk en seksueel gebied, waaronder een verminderde libido, opvliegers en vaginale droogheid [58-60].

#### 2.3. Type borstreconstructie

In het algemeen zijn er drie soorten BR te onderscheiden: met siliconen implantaten, lichaamseigen weefsel of een combinatie van beide. Een BR met siliconen implantaten wordt het meest uitgevoerd [61;62], meestal voorafgegaan door plaatsing van een weefselexpander achter de borstspier. Hiermee worden de borstspier en borsthuid geleidelijk opgerekt [63], zodat de expander na een paar maanden vervangen kan worden door een definitief implantaat.

Er zijn verschillende BR technieken mogelijk met lichaamseigen weefsel, waarbij vaak huid, vet en soms ook spierweefsel wordt gebruikt van een donorplaats elders in het lichaam, zoals de Latissimus Dorsi (LD) lap (de rugspiermethode) [64]. De Transverse

Rectus Abdominis Myocutaneous (TRAM) lap bestaat uit huid, vet en spierweefsel van de onderbuik dat gesteeld of vrij gevasculariseerd wordt verplaatst naar de borstwand [65]. Andere autologe BR technieken zijn de Gluteal Artery Perforator (GAP) lap en de Transverse Myocutaneous Gracilis (TMG) lap, die bestaan uit huid en vet van de bil en huid, vet en spier uit het mediale dijgebied [66;67]. Op dit moment is de meest populaire BR methode met lichaamseigen weefsel de Deep Inferior Epigastric Artery Perforator (DIEP) lap, bestaande uit huid en vet van de buik. Bij deze methode worden de buikspieren intact gelaten, waarmee de kans op abdominale spierzwakte of een breuk afneemt [68]. Echter, dit vereist microchirurgische expertise van de reconstructief chirurg en deze deskundigheid is alleen beschikbaar in gespecialiseerde centra, wat resulteert in lange patiëntwachtlijsten en hogere kosten. In het algemeen wordt er een hogere tevredenheid en een beter lichaamsbeeld na autologe BR gerapporteerd, vergeleken met implantaat BR, maar meer prospectieve studies zijn nodig om dit te bevestigen [37;69-74].

### 2.4. Tijdstip van borstreconstructie

BR kan worden uitgevoerd hetzij direct, op hetzelfde moment met mastectomie of uitgesteld; maanden of jaren na de mastectomie. Er is een gerandomiseerde gecontroleerde trial (RCT) uitgevoerd waarin de specifieke gevolgen van directe versus uitgestelde BR onderzocht werd, waarbij drie maanden postoperatief directe BR werd geassocieerd met betere psychosociale uitkomsten in vergelijking met uitgestelde of geen BR [20]. Het random toewijzen aan een type of tijdstip van BR wordt echter over het algemeen als onethisch gezien met betrekking tot het achterhouden van informatie en het niet naleven van patiënt voorkeuren, waardoor er geen andere RCT op dit gebied verricht is sinds 1983. Cross-sectionele en cohortstudies hebben aangetoond dat het esthetisch resultaat over het algemeen beter is na directe BR, omdat de huid envelop en af en toe de tepel gespaard kunnen worden [69;75;76]. Vrouwen die een mastectomie met directe BR ondergaan, hebben mogelijk ook voor de operatie een beter zelfbeeld, meer zelfrespect en voelen zich seksueel aantrekkelijker dan vrouwen die al een mastectomie hebben en op het punt staan om een uitgestelde BR te ondergaan [77]. Het tijdstip van BR is van groot belang hier, omdat vrouwen met een uitgestelde BR een periode hebben geleefd met slechts één of geen borsten en daarom een grotere kans hebben om verbetering te ervaren; hun lichaamsbeeld en seksuele bevrediging, bevinden zich wellicht op het laagste punt vóór de BR. Na uitgestelde BR is het complicatie risico lager gebleken vergeleken met directe BR [75]. In combinatie met het type BR, zijn er meer positieve resultaten over lichaamsbeeld en seksuele bevrediging gevonden na een uitgestelde autologe BR [37;69;71;73]. Tot slot, heeft het tijdstip van BR geen invloed op de incidentie van een recidiverende borstkanker en vrouwen die een directe BR hebben, ervaren geen vertraging in adjuvante behandeling ten opzichte van vrouwen die geen BR ondergaan [29;78-80].

# 3. Psychologische aspecten van borstreconstructie

Dit proefschrift focust op de impact van twee verschillende types BR na mastectomie: de meest uitgevoerde BR methode met siliconenimplantaten en de meest geavanceerde BR

methode die gebruik maakt van lichaamseigen weefsel van de buik: de DIEP-lap BR. Bij aanvang van deze studie was er nog maar weinig bekend over de psychosociale uitkomsten van de DIEP-lap BR [71;74;81-83]. Daarom werd met de huidige studie onderzocht wat de mogelijke voor- en nadelen waren van dit type BR, vergeleken met implantaat BR. De effecten van demografische en andere klinische variabelen op de psychosociale uitkomsten werd ook onderzocht. Hieronder volgt een korte samenvatting van de onderzoeksresultaten van de studie die in dit proefschrift wordt beschreven.

#### 3.1. Motieven voor borstreconstructie

De motivatie van vrouwen om te kiezen voor implantaat of DIEP-lap BR vanwege profylactische of therapeutische mastectomie, is kwalitatief onderzocht met behulp van interviews (hoofdstuk 2). Voor de operatie, werden vrouwen gevraagd waarom ze hadden gekozen voor BR en waarom ze specifiek kozen voor een bepaalde BR-methode. In overeenstemming met eerdere bevindingen kozen patiënten voor BR omdat ze zich te jong voelden om door het leven te gaan zonder borsten, wilden het dragen van een externe prothese voorkomen, en wensten zich vrouwelijker en zelfbewuster te voelen. Motieven om specifiek te kiezen voor implantaat BR, hadden voornamelijk betrekking tot praktische kwesties: een korte herstelperiode en een minimum aantal littekens hadden de voorkeur, zij wilden hun dagelijkse leven zo spoedig mogelijk hervatten. Desondanks bleek de totale BR procedure achteraf circa 21 maanden te duren. Vrouwen die specifiek voor DIEP-lap BR kozen waren vooral gericht op het terugwinnen van een borst die zoveel mogelijk op hun eigen verloren borst zou lijken. Deze patiënten vonden tevens dat het complicatie risico van dit type BR lager was vergeleken met implantaat BR. Bovendien vonden zij dat DIEP-lap BR op de lange termijn voordelen zou bieden, zoals minder secundaire operaties, terwijl het aantal secundaire operaties na complicaties, na een gemiddelde follow-up tijd van 21 maanden, vergelijkbaar was in beide groepen (hoofdstuk 4 en 5). Sommige patiënten hadden ook de voorkeur voor DIEP-lap BR omdat het een extra voordeel van een buikwandcorrectie bood. Niettemin was het duidelijk dat naast persoonlijke motivaties met klinische variabelen (zoals therapeutische of profylactische mastectomie, bestraling, beschikbaarheid van plastische chirurgen met microchirurgische expertise en lange wachtlijsten) rekening gehouden moet worden bij het overwegen van een bepaald type BR, omdat deze ook een belangrijke rol spelen in de besluitvorming.

### 3.2. Informatie-zoekend gedrag over borstreconstructie

Omdat informatievoorziening over BR niet gestandaardiseerd is in ons land, is het van belang dat patiënten zelf ook op zoek gaan naar informatie, willen zij naar behoren worden ingelicht. Daarom is voor de operatie het informatiezoekende gedrag van deze patiënten onderzocht (hoofdstuk 3). We hebben vastgesteld dat vrouwen met een actieve coping stijl en die zich onafhankelijk opstelden van hun plastische chirurg, eerder kozen voor een DIEP-lap BR. Vrouwen die minder goed geïnformeerd waren en die zich afhankelijker van hun chirurg opstelden met betrekking tot hun besluit, kozen eerder voor een BR met implantaten. Voor de BR operatie, was 40% van de patiënten zich niet bewust van de mogelijkheid van BR met

lichaamseigen weefsel. Om goed geïnformeerd te zijn over borstreconstructieve chirurgie, was een actieve coping stijl en autonomie nodig, omdat niet alle vrouwen voldoende op de hoogte waren via de informatie van hun chirurg.

#### 3.3. Complicaties na borstreconstructie

We vonden een complicatie-ratio van 40% na BR. Deze complicaties had een duidelijke invloed op distress één maand na BR (hoofdstuk 4), waarbij angst en kankergerelateerde distress aanzienlijk daalden, maar depressie aanzienlijk steeg. Veertig procent van de patiënten met complicaties rapporteerde hoge niveaus van angst, depressie en kanker-specifieke zorgen. Bovendien vonden we een duidelijk verschil tussen patiënten met implantaat en DIEP-lap BR, waarin de eerste angstiger waren en meer kanker-specifieke zorgen rapporteerden. Dit effect zou echter te maken kunnen hebben met het tijdstip van BR omdat meer vrouwen met implantaat BR direct na de mastectomie de reconstructie ontvingen, wat betekent dat zij mogelijk ook nog aanvullende behandelingen voor de borstkanker moesten ondergaan, resulterend in hogere kankerspecifieke distress.

Na voltooiing van de volledige BR procedure, waren angst en depressie niet meer significant verschillend van de niveaus voor de operatie. Bovendien waren de niveaus van angst en depressie binnen het normale bereik (hoofdstuk 5). Kankerspecifieke distress was voor de BR operatie echter boven het normale bereik, maar dit daalde sterk direct na de BR tot aan het einde van BR. Op de lange termijn, 21 maanden na BR, leidden complicaties en hierop volgende secundaire operaties over het algemeen niet tot meer angst, depressie, of kankerspecifieke distress, echter, dit was niet het geval indien er sprake was van een permanent verlies van BR (totale verwijdering van de gereconstrueerde borst). Het totale verlies van BR was aanzienlijk gerelateerd aan meer depressie en meer kankerspecifieke distress. Opmerkelijk was, dat vrouwen die hun BR hadden verloren, al hogere kankerspecifieke distress hadden voordat zij BR ondergingen. Jongere patiënten hadden ook meer angst en depressie en hun kankerspecifieke distress was aanzienlijk hoger aan het einde van BR, dan bij oudere patiënten. Bovendien, bleek een langere periode tussen de mastectomie en de BR te leiden tot meer angst en depressie aan het einde van BR. Deze bevindingen benadrukken dat jongere patiënten en vrouwen, die de borstkankerdiagnose een langere tijd geleden ontvingen, nog steeds psychologische aanpassingsproblemen kunnen ondervinden, zelfs na de voltooiing van de totale BR procedure. Voor de operatie, is het al van belang dat risicofactoren voor het ontwikkelen van psychologische distress worden gecontroleerd en vrouwen met een verhoogd risico voor distress moeten zorgvuldig worden opgevolgd na de operatie met betrekking tot het psychologische welzijn, naast de follow-up van het fysieke herstel.

#### 3.4. Lichaamsbeeld en seksuele tevredenheid na borstreconstructie

De impact van implantaat of DIEP-lap BR op lichaamsbeeld en de seksuele relatie tevredenheid werd onderzocht bij vrouwen met een uitgestelde BR, na een geschiedenis van borstkanker (hoofdstuk 6) en bij vrouwen met een directe BR na bilaterale profylactische mastectomie (hoofdstuk 7). In de eerste groep, was lichaamsbeeld 20 maanden na BR aanzienlijk verbeterd. Een beter lichaamsbeeld is gerelateerd aan een betere algemene mentale gezondheid, minder kankerspecifieke distress en een hogere partner relatie tevredenheid. Tevredenheid met de seksuele relatie verbeterde ook en was positief gerelateerd aan de algehele tevredenheid met de partnerrelatie; echter, vrouwen die hormonale therapie hadden ondergaan waren minder tevreden met de seksuele relatie. Dit kan mogelijk verklaard worden door de negatieve bijwerkingen van hormonale therapie op het seksuele functioneren.

Gezonde vrouwen met een verhoogde kans op het ontwikkelen van erfelijke borstkanker, die kozen voor een bilaterale profylactische mastectomie met directe BR, hadden 6 maanden na de operatie een aanzienlijk lager lichaamsbeeld dat ook na 21 maanden nog niet terug was op het niveau van voor de operatie (hoofdstuk 7). De tevredenheid van de seksuele relatie verminderde tot 21 maanden na de operatie. Lichaamsbeeld was positief gerelateerd aan algemene fysieke gezondheid, en negatief gecorreleerd aan kankerspecifieke distress. Na voltooiing van de totale procedure van BR, rapporteerden een substantiële groep dat hun borsten onaangenaam aanvoelden, ze waren niet tevreden met hun borsten en ze schaamden zich voor hun naakte lichaam. Zowel vóór als na de operatie gaf circa een derde van de patiënten aan dat ze zich ongemakkelijk voelden wanneer ze werden aangeraakt door de partner. Deze resultaten wijzen erop dat de psychosociale gevolgen van bilaterale profylactische mastectomie met BR bij gezonde vrouwen niet mag worden onderschat.

### References

- 1. http://www.iknl.nl. Integraal Kankercentrum Nederland. 2012
- 2. Otto SJ, Fracheboud J, Verbeek AL, Boer R et al. Mammography Screening and Risk of Breast Cancer Death: A Population-Based Case-Control Study. *Cancer Epidemiology Biomarkers & Prevention* 2012; 21:66-73.
- 3. Holland R, Rijken H and Hendriks J. The dutch population-based mammography screening: 30-year experience. *Breast Care* 2007; 2:12-18.
- 4. Otto SJ, Fracheboud J, Looman CWN, Broeders MJM et al. Initiation of population-based mammography screening in Dutch municipalities and effect on breast-cancer mortality: a systematic review. *Lancet* 2003; 361:1411-1417.
- Struikmans H, Aarts MJ, Jobsen JJ, Koning CCE et al. An increased utilisation rate and better compliance to guidelines for primary radiotherapy for breast cancer from 1997 till 2008: A population-based study in The Netherlands. *Radiotherapy and Oncology* 2011; 100:320-325.
- 6. Lux MP, Fasching PA and Beckmann MW. Hereditary breast and ovarian cancer: review and future perspectives. *Journal of Molecular Medicine-Jmm* 2006; 84:16-28.
- 7. King MC, Marks JH and Mandell JB. Breast and ovarian cancer risks due to inherited mutations in BRCA1 and BRCA2. *Science* 2003; 302:643-646.
- 8. Ford D, Easton DF, Stratton M, Narod S et al. Genetic heterogeneity and penetrance analysis of the BRCA1 and BRCA2 genes in breast cancer families. *American Journal of Human Genetics* 1998; 62:676-689.

- 9. Antoniou A, Pharoah PDP, Narod S, Risch HA et al. Average risks of breast and ovarian cancer associated with BRCA1 or BRCA2 mutations detected in case series unselected for family history: A combined analysis of 22 studies. *American Journal of Human Genetics* 2003; 72:1117-1130.
- 10. Hartmann LC, Sellers TA, Schaid DJ, Frank TS et al. Efficacy of bilateral prophylactic mastectomy in BRCA1 and BRCA2 gene mutation carriers. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute* 2001; 93:1633-1637.
- 11. Hartmann LC, Schaid DJ, Woods JE, Crotty TP et al. Efficacy of bilateral prophylactic mastectomy in women with a family history of breast cancer. *New England Journal of Medicine* 1999; 340:77-84.
- 12. Rebbeck TR, Friebel T, Lynch HT, Neuhausen SL et al. Bilateral Prophylactic Mastectomy Reduces Breast Cancer Risk in BRCA1 and BRCA2 Mutation Carriers: The PROSE Study Group. *Journal of Clinical Oncology* 2004; 22:1055-1062.
- 13. Bjorkman B, Arner S and Hyden LC. Phantom Breast and Other Syndromes After Mastectomy: Eight Breast Cancer Patients Describe Their Experiences Over Time: A 2-Year Follow-up Study. *Journal of Pain* 2008; 9:1018-1025.
- 14. Crompvoets S. Comfort, control, or conformity: women who choose breast reconstruction following mastectomy. *Health Care for Women International* 2006; 27:75-93.
- 15. Hill O and White K. Exploring women's experiences of TRAM flap breast reconstruction after mastectomy for breast cancer. *Oncology Nursing Forum* 2008; 35:81-88.
- 16. Piot-Ziegler C, Sassi ML, Raffoul W and Delaloye JF. Mastectomy, body deconstruction, and impact on identity: A qualitative study. *British Journal of Health Psychology* 2010; 15:479-510.
- 17. Rolnick SJ, Altschuler A, Nekhlyudov L, Elmore JG et al. What women wish they knew before prophylactic mastectomy. *Cancer Nursing* 2007; 30:285-291.
- 18. Al-Ghazal SK, Fallowfield L and Blamey RW. Comparison of psychological aspects and patient satisfaction following breast conserving surgery, simple mastectomy and breast reconstruction. *European Journal of Cancer* 2000; 36:1938-1943.
- 19. Cordeiro PG. Breast reconstruction after surgery for breast cancer. *New England Journal of Medicine* 2008; 359:1590-1601.
- 20. Dean C, Chetty U and Forrest APM. Effects of Immediate Breast Reconstruction on Psycho-Social Morbidity After Mastectomy. *Lancet* 1983; 1:459-462.
- 21. Elder EE, Brandberg Y, Bjorklund T, Rylander R et al. Quality of life and patient satisfaction in breast cancer patients after immediate breast reconstruction: a prospective study. *Breast* 2005; 14:201-208.
- 22. Nicholson RM, Leinster S and Sassoon EM. A comparison of the cosmetic and psychological outcome of breast reconstruction, breast conserving surgery and mastectomy without reconstruction. *Breast* 2007; 16:396-410.
- 23. Pusic A, Thompson TA, Kerrigan CL, Sargeant R et al. Surgical options for early-stage breast cancer: Factors associated with patient choice and postoperative quality of life. *Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery* 1999; 104:1325-1333.

- 24. Collins KK, Perez M, Schootman M, Aft R and Jeffe DB. Effects of breast cancer surgery and surgical side effects on body image over time. *Breast Cancer Research and Treatment* 2011; 126:263-264.
- 25. Harcourt DM, Rumsey NJ, Ambler NR, Cawthorn SJ et al. The psychological effect of mastectomy with or without breast reconstruction: A prospective, multicenter study. *Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery* 2003; 111:1060-1068.
- 26. Nissen MJ, Swenson KK, Ritz LJ, Farrell JB et al. Quality of life after breast carcinoma surgery A comparison of three surgical procedures. *Cancer* 2001; 91:1238-1246.
- 27. Rowland JH, Desmond KA, Meyerowitz BE, Belin TR et al. Role of breast reconstructive surgery in physical and emotional outcomes among breast cancer survivors. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute* 2000; 92:1422-1429.
- 28. Parker PA, Youssef A, Walker S, Basen-Engquist K et al. Short-term and long-term psychosocial adjustment and quality of life in women undergoing different surgical procedures for breast cancer. *Annals of Surgical Oncology* 2007; 14:3078-3089.
- 29. Bezuhly M, Temple C, Sigurdson LJ, Davis RB et al. Immediate Postmastectomy Reconstruction Is Associated With Improved Breast Cancer-Specific Survival Evidence and New Challenges From the Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results Database. *Cancer* 2009; 115:4648-4654.
- 30. Agarwal J, Agarwal S, Pappas L and Neumayer L. A Population-Based Study of Breast Cancer-Specific Survival Following Mastectomy and Immediate or Early-Delayed Breast Reconstruction. *Breast Journal* 2012; 18:226-232.
- 31. Nelson JA, Nelson P, Tchou J, Serletti JM and Wu LC. The ethnic divide in breast reconstruction: A review of the current literature and directions for future research. *Cancer Treatment Reviews* 2012; 38:362-367.
- 32. Dutch Medical Registration. Kiwa Prismant BV. 2008
- 33. Heemskerk-Gerritsen BAM, Brekelmans CTM, Menke-Pluymers MBE, van Geel AN et al. Prophylactic mastectomy in BRCA1/2 mutation carriers and women at risk of hereditary breast cancer: Long-term experiences at the rotterdam family cancer clinic. *Annals of Surgical Oncology* 2007; 14:3335-3344.
- 34. Meijers-Heijboer H, van Geel B, van Putten WLJ, Henzen-Logmans SC et al. Breast cancer after prophylactic bilateral mastectomy in women with a BRCA1 or BRCA2 mutation. *New England Journal of Medicine* 2001; 345:159-164.
- 35. Metcalfe KA, Birenbaum-Carmeli D, Lubinski J, Gronwald J et al. International variation in rates of uptake of preventive options in BRCA1 and BRCA2 mutation carriers. *International Journal of Cancer* 2008; 122:2017-2022.
- Brandberg Y, Sandelin K, Erikson S, Jurell G et al. Psychological reactions, quality of life, and body image after bilateral prophylactic mastectomy in women at high risk for breast cancer: A prospective 1-year follow-up study. *Journal of Clinical Oncology* 2008; 26:3943-3949.
- 37. Bresser PJC, Seynaeve C, Van Gool AR, Brekelmans CT et al. Satisfaction with prophylactic mastectomy and breast reconstruction in genetically predisposed women. *Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery* 2006; 117:1675-1682.

- 38. Gahm J, Wickman M and Brandberg Y. Bilateral prophylactic mastectomy in women with inherited risk of breast cancer Prevalence of pain and discomfort, impact on sexuality, quality of life and feelings of regret two years after surgery. *Breast* 2010; 19:462-469.
- 39. Eldor L and Spiegel A. Breast Reconstruction after Bilateral Prophylactic Mastectomy in Women at High Risk for Breast Cancer. *Breast Journal* 2009; 15:S81-S89.
- 40. Frost MH, Schaid DJ, Sellers TA, Slezak JM et al. Long-term satisfaction and psychological and social function following bilateral prophylactic mastectomy. *Jama-Journal of the American Medical Association* 2000; 284:319-324.
- 41. Geiger AM, Nekhlyudov L, Herrinton LJ, Rolnick SJ et al. Quality of life after bilateral prophylactic mastectomy. *Annals of Surgical Oncology* 2007; 14:686-694.
- 42. Hatcher MB and Fallowfield LJ. A qualitative study looking at the psychosocial implications of bilateral prophylactic mastectomy. *Breast* 2003; 12:1-9.
- 43. McGaughey A. Body image after bilateral prophylactic mastectomy: an integrative literature review. *J Midwifery Womens Health* 2006; 51:e45-e49.
- 44. Payne DK, Biggs C, Tran KN, Borgen PI and Massie MJ. Women's regrets after bilateral prophylactic mastectomy. *Annals of Surgical Oncology* 2000; 7:150-154.
- 45. Matloff ET, Barnett RE and Bober SL. Unraveling the Next Chapter Sexual Development, Body Image, and Sexual Functioning in Female BRCA Carriers. *Cancer Journal* 2009; 15:15-18.
- 46. van Oostrom I, Meijers-Heijboer H, Ladder LN, Duivenvoorden HJ et al. Long-term psychological impact of carrying a BRCA1/2 mutation and prophylactic surgery: A 5-year follow-up study. *Journal of Clinical Oncology* 2003; 21:3867-3874.
- 47. Kriege M, Brekelmans CTM, Boetes C, Besnard PE et al. Efficacy of MRI and mammography for breast-cancer screening in women with a familial or genetic predisposition. *New England Journal of Medicine* 2004; 351:427-437.
- 48. Leach MO, Boggis CRM, Dixon AK, Easton DF et al. Screening with magnetic resonance imaging and mammography of a UK population at high familial risk of breast cancer: a prospective multicentre cohort study (MARIBS). *Lancet* 2005; 365:1769-1778.
- 49. Sardanelli F, Podo F, D'Agnolo G, Verdecchia A et al. Multicenter comparative multimodality surveillance of women at genetic-familial high risk for breast cancer (HIBCRIT study): Interim results. *Radiology* 2007; 242:698-715.
- 50. Warner E, Plewes DB, Hill KA, Causer PA et al. Surveillance of BRCA1 and BRCA2 mutation carriers with magnetic resonance imaging, ultrasound, mammography, and clinical breast examination. *Jama-Journal of the American Medical Association* 2004; 292:1317-1325.
- 51. Weinstein SP, Localio A, Conant EF, Rosen M et al. Multimodality Screening of High-Risk Women: A Prospective Cohort Study. *Journal of Clinical Oncology* 2009; 27:6124-6128.
- 52. Hagen AI, Kvistad KA, Maehle L, Holmen MM et al. Sensitivity of MRI versus conventional screening in the diagnosis of BRCA-associated breast cancer in a national prospective series. *Breast* 2007; 16:367-374.

- 53. Evans DGR, Lalloo F, Ashcroft L, Shenton A et al. Uptake of Risk-Reducing Surgery in Unaffected Women at High Risk of Breast and Ovarian Cancer Is Risk, Age, and Time Dependent. *Cancer Epidemiology Biomarkers & Prevention* 2009; 18:2318-2324.
- 54. Metcalfe KA, Lubinski J, Ghadirian P, Lynch H et al. Predictors of contralateral prophylactic mastectomy in women with a BRCA1 or BRCA2 mutation: The hereditary breast cancer clinical study group. *Journal of Clinical Oncology* 2008; 26:1093-1097.
- 55. van Sprundel TC, Schmidt MK, Rookus MA, Brohet R et al. Risk reduction of contralateral breast cancer and survival after contralateral prophylactic mastectomy in BRCA1 or BRCA2 mutation carriers. *Br J Cancer* 2005; 93:287-292.
- 56. Kauff ND, Satagopan JM, Robson ME, Scheuer L et al. Risk-reducing salpingooophorectomy in women with a BRCA1 or BRCA2 mutation. *New England Journal of Medicine* 2002; 346:1609-1615.
- 57. Finch A, Beiner M, Lubinski J, Lynch HT et al. Salpingo-oophorectomy and the risk of ovarian, fallopian tube, and peritoneal cancers in women with a BRCA1 or BRCA2 mutation. *Jama-Journal of the American Medical Association* 2006; 296:185-192.
- 58. Benshushan A, Rojansky N, Chaviv M, Arbel-Alon S et al. Climacteric symptoms in women undergoing risk-reducing bilateral salpingo-oophorectomy. *Climacteric* 2009; 12:404-409.
- 59. Madalinska JB, Hollenstein J, Bleiker E, van Beurden M et al. Quality-of-life effects of prophylactic salpingo-oophorectomy versus gynecologic screening among women at increased risk of hereditary ovarian cancer. *Journal of Clinical Oncology* 2005; 23:6890-6898.
- 60. Finch A and Narod SA. Quality of life and health status after prophylactic salpingooophorectomy in women who carry a BRCA mutation: A review. *Maturitas* 2011; 70:261-265.
- 61. Petit JY, Rietjens M, Lohsiriwat V, Rey P et al. Update on Breast Reconstruction Techniques and Indications. *World Journal of Surgery* 2012; 36:1486-1497.
- 62. Rosson GD, Magarakis M, Shridharani SM, Stapleton SM et al. A Review of the Surgical Management of Breast Cancer: Plastic Reconstructive Techniques and Timing Implications. *Annals of Surgical Oncology* 2010; 17:1890-1900.
- 63. Singh N, Reaven NL and Funk SE. Immediate 1-stage vs. tissue expander postmastectomy implant breast reconstructions: A retrospective real-world comparison over 18 months. *Journal of Plastic Reconstructive and Aesthetic Surgery* 2012; 65:917-923.
- 64. Maxwell GP. Tansini, Iginio and the Origin of the Latissimus Dorsi Musculocutaneous Flap. *Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery* 1980; 65:686-692.
- 65. Hartrampf CR, Scheflan M and Black PW. Breast Reconstruction with a Transverse Abdominal Island Flap. *Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery* 1982; 69.
- 66. Allen RJ and Tucker C. Superior Gluteal Artery Perforator Free-Flap for Breast Reconstruction. *Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery* 1995; 95:1207-1212.
- Higgins JP, Orlando GS and Blondeel PN. Ischial pressure sore reconstruction using an inferior gluteal artery perforator (IGAP) flap. *British Journal of Plastic Surgery* 2002; 55:83-85.

- 68. Allen RJ and Treece P. Deep Inferior Epigastric Perforator Flap for Breast Reconstruction. Annals of Plastic Surgery 1994; 32:32-38.
- 69. Atisha D, Alderman AK, Lowery JC, Kuhn LE et al. Prospective analysis of long-term psychosocial outcomes in breast reconstruction Two-year postoperative results from the Michigan Breast Reconstruction Outcomes Study. *Annals of Surgery* 2008; 247:1019-1028.
- 70. Christensen BO, Overgaard J, Kettner LO and Damsgaard TE. Long-term evaluation of postmastectomy breast reconstruction. *Acta Oncologica* 2011; 50:1053-1061.
- 71. Damen THC, Timman R, Kunst EH, Gopie JP et al. High satisfaction rates in women after DIEP flap breast reconstruction. *Journal of Plastic Reconstructive and Aesthetic Surgery* 2010; 63:93-100.
- 72. Tonseth KA, Hokland BM, Tindholdt TT, Abyholm FE and Stavem K. Quality of life, patient satisfaction and cosmetic outcome after breast reconstruction using DIEP flap or expandable breast implant. *Journal of Plastic Reconstructive and Aesthetic Surgery* 2008; 61:1188-1194.
- 73. Wilkins EG, Cederna PS, Lowery JC, Davis JA et al. Prospective analysis of psychosocial outcomes in breast reconstruction: One-year postoperative results from the Michigan Breast Reconstruction Outcome Study. *Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery* 2000; 106:1014-1025.
- 74. Yueh JH, Slavin SA, Adesiyun T, Nyame TT et al. Patient Satisfaction in Postmastectomy Breast Reconstruction: A Comparative Evaluation of DIEP, TRAM, Latissimus Flap, and Implant Techniques. *Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery* 2010; 125:1585-1595.
- 75. Chevray PM. Timing of breast reconstruction: Immediate versus delayed. *Cancer Journal* 2008; 14:223-229.
- 76. Roth RS, Lowery JC, Davis J and Wilkins EG. Quality of life and affective distress in women seeking immediate versus delayed breast reconstruction after mastectomy for breast cancer. *Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery* 2005; 116:993-1002.
- 77. Al-Ghazal SK, Sully L, Fallowfield L and Blamey RW. The psychological impact of immediate rather than delayed breast reconstruction. *European Journal of Surgical Oncology* 2000; 26:17-19.
- 78. Holmich LR, During M, Henriksen TF, Krag C et al. Delayed breast reconstruction with implants after invasive breast cancer does not impair prognosis. *Annals of Plastic Surgery* 2008; 61:11-18.
- 79. Gouy S, Rouzier R, Missana MC, Atallah D et al. Immediate reconstruction after neoadjuvant chemotherapy: Effect on adjuvant treatment starting and survival. *Annals of Surgical Oncology* 2005; 12:161-166.
- 80. Wilson CR, Brown IM, Weiller-Mithoff E, George WD and Doughty JC. Immediate breast reconstruction does not lead to a delay in the delivery of adjuvant chemotherapy. *Ejso* 2004; 30:624-627.
- 81. Lindegren A, Halle M, Skogh ACD and Edsander-Nord A. Postmastectomy Breast Reconstruction in the Irradiated Breast: A Comparative Study of DIEP and Latissimus Dorsi Flap Outcome. *Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery* 2012; 130:10-18.

- 82. Zhong T, McCarthy C, Min S, Zhang J et al. Patient satisfaction and health-related quality of life after autologous tissue breast reconstruction. *Cancer* 2012; 118:1701-1709.
- 83. Haekens CM, Enajat M, Keymeulen K and Van der Hulst RRWJ. Self-esteem and patients' satisfaction after deep inferior epigastric perforator flap breast reconstruction. *Plastic surgical nursing : official journal of the American Society of Plastic and Reconstructive Surgical Nurses* 2011; 31:160-166.

# LIST OF CO-AUTHORS AND THEIR AFFILIATIONS

- J Nick Brinkman Department of Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery, Erasmus University Medical Center, Rotterdam, the Netherlands
- <u>Medard Hilhorst</u> Department of Medical Ethics and Philosophy, Erasmus University Medical Center, Rotterdam, The Netherlands
- <u>Stefan Hofer</u> Division of Plastic Surgery, University Health Network, University of Toronto, Toronto, Ontario, Canada
- <u>Annelies Kleijne</u> Advanced data management, Department of Medical Statistics, Leiden University Medical Center, The Netherlands
- <u>Moniek M ter Kuile</u> Department of Psychosomatic Gynaecology and Sexology, Leiden University Medical Center, Leiden, The Netherlands
- <u>Marian MB Menke-Pluymers</u> Department of Surgical Oncology, Family Cancer Clinic, Erasmus University Medical Center-Daniel den Hoed Cancer Center, Rotterdam, the Netherlands
- <u>Marc MA Mureau</u>, Department of Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery, Erasmus University Medical Center, Rotterdam, the Netherlands
- <u>Caroline Seynaeve</u> Department of Medical Oncology, Family Cancer Clinic, Erasmus University Medical Center-Daniel den Hoed Cancer Center, Rotterdam, the Netherlands
- <u>Aad Tibben</u> Centre for Human and Clinical Genetics, Leiden University Medical Center, Leiden, The Netherlands; Department of Clinical Genetics, Erasmus University Medical Center, Rotterdam, The Netherlands
- <u>Reinier Timman</u> Department of Medical Psychology and Psychotherapy, Erasmus University Medical Center, Rotterdam, The Netherlands

# **CURRICULUM VITAE**

Jessica Premdee Gopie was born on May 5<sup>th</sup>, 1985 in Leidschendam, the Netherlands. She graduated from secondary school in 2003 (VWO, Alfrink College te Zoetermeer) and started directly with her study Psychology at the University of Leiden. She obtained her Bachelor's degree in 2006 and her Master's degree in Clinical Psychology in October 2007 after conducting research at the Department of Psychosomatic Gynaecology and Sexology in the Leiden University Medical Center (LUMC). Her Master's thesis focused on the psychological characteristics of women with chronic pelvic pain.

In August 2007, she started with her PhD study regarding the psychological impact of breast reconstruction after mastectomy, as described in this thesis, at the Department of Clinical Genetics in the LUMC, in collaboration with other departments from the LUMC and the Erasmus Medical Center Rotterdam. She obtained funding from the Pink Ribbon Foundation in the end of 2011 to expand her research line as a Post-doc, focusing on the longer term psychological impact of prophylactic and therapeutic surgery for breast cancer, in particular, regarding the impact on body image, sexuality and the partner relationship. In addition, she received funding from the Pink Ribbon Foundation to organize a patient day (September 2012) and in collaboration with Pink Ribbon she plans to set up a psychological group intervention for women who underwent prophylactic mastectomy and their partners (2013).

She also works as a clinical psychologist in the onco-genetics, providing psychological support to patients and their partners, for which she obtained her degree in the Psychosocial Oncology in June 2012 from the RINO Groep Academy. She is also involved in other research projects regarding the impact of surveillance and prophylactic surgery of other hereditary tumors and is involved in the working group of Familial Tumours of the Dutch Society for Psychosocial Oncology, in the Dutch Guidelines for Hereditary Ovarian Cancer and in the Dutch Guidelines for Breast Reconstruction. In September 2013 she will start with the training for professional health-care psychologist (Opleiding tot Gezondheidszorg Psycholog) in the LUMC.

# **CURRICULUM VITAE**

Jessica Premdee Gopie is geboren op 5 mei 1985 in Leidschendam. Zij heeft in 2003 haar VWO diploma behaald aan het Alfrink College te Zoetermeer en startte aansluitend haar studie Psychologie aan de Universiteit Leiden. Zij heeft haar Bachelor's diploma in 2006 gehaald en haar Master's diploma in de Klinische Psychologie in oktober 2007, nadat zij onderzoek deed op de afdeling Psychosomatische Gynaecologie en Seksuologie van het Leids Universitair Medisch Centrum (LUMC). Haar masterthese had betrekking op de psychologische eigenschappen van vrouwen met medisch onverklaarde, chronische buikpijnklachten.

In augustus 2007 startte zij met haar promotieonderzoek over de psychologische impact van borstreconstructie na mastectomie, zoals beschreven in dit proefschrift, op de afdeling Klinische Genetica van het LUMC, in samenwerking met andere afdelingen van het LUMC en het Erasmus Medisch Centrum Rotterdam. Zij heeft eind 2011 een subsidie ontvangen van Stichting Pink Ribbon om haar onderzoekslijn verder uit te breiden als postdoc, waarmee zij de langere termijn psychologische impact van profylactische en therapeutische chirurgie vanwege borstkanker verder onderzoekt, in het bijzonder met betrekking tot lichaamsbeeld, seksualiteit en de partnerrelatie. Daarnaast heeft zij ook een subsidie van Stichting Pink Ribbon ontvangen om een patiëntendag te organiseren (september 2012) en zijn er gezamenlijk met de stichting plannen om een psychosociale groepsinterventie te ontwikkelen voor vrouwen die profylactische mastectomie hebben ondergaan en hun partners (2013).

Ook verricht zij klinisch werk als psycholoog binnen de onco-genetica, waarin zij patiënten en partners ondersteuning biedt omtrent de psychosociale gevolgen van (erfelijke) kanker. In juni 2012 heeft zij haar diploma in de Psychosociale Oncologie behaald bij de RINO Groep. Verder is zij betrokken bij andere onderzoeksprojecten naar de impact van screening en profylactische chirurgie bij verschillende erfelijke tumoren en is zij lid van de werkgroep Familiaire Tumoren van de Nederlandse Vereniging van Psychosociale Oncologie en betrokken bij de totstandkoming van de Nederlandse Richtlijnen voor Erfelijk Ovarium Carcinoom en de Nederlandse Richtlijnen voor Borstreconstructie. In september 2013 zal zij starten met de Opleiding tot Gezondheidszorgpsycholoog in het LUMC.

# PUBLICATIONS

- den Heijer M, <u>Gopie JP</u>, Tibben A. Risk factors for psychological distress in women at risk for hereditary/familial breast cancer. *Revision submitted 2012;*
- Brinkman JN, Timman R, <u>Gopie JP</u>, Kleijne A, Tibben A, Mureau MAM. Aesthetic outcome after implant and DIEP flap breast reconstruction rated by patients as well as a professional panel. *In Preparation 2012;*
- <u>Gopie JP</u>, Tibben A, Brinkman JN, Seynaeve C, Menke-Pluijmers MBE, ter Kuile M.M., Timman R, Mureau MAM. Psychological distress after completion of implant or DIEP flap breast reconstruction and the impact of postoperative complications: a prospective follow-up study. *Submitted 2012;*
- <u>Gopie JP</u>, ter Kuile MM, Timman R, Tibben A, Mureau MAM. Impact of delayed implant and DIEP flap breast reconstruction on body image and sexual satisfaction: A prospective follow-up study. *Revision submitted 2012;*
- <u>Gopie JP</u>, Mureau MAM, Seynaeve C, ter Kuile M.M., Menke-Pluijmers M, Timman R, Tibben A. Body image issues after bilateral prophylactic mastectomy with breast reconstruction in healthy women at risk for hereditary breast cancer. *Familial Cancer 2012 in press*; DOI: 10.1007/s10689-012-9588-5
- <u>Gopie JP</u>, Vasen HFA, Tibben A. Surveillance for hereditary cancer: Does the benefit outweigh the psychological burden?-A systematic review. *Critical reviews in oncology/ hematology 2012; 83:329-340*
- Haanstra JF, Cappel WH, <u>Gopie JP</u>, Vecht J, Vanhoutvin SA, Cats A, van der Zaag-Loonen H, Langers AM, Bergmann JH, van de Meeberg PC, Dekker E, Kleibeuker JH, Vasen HF, Nagengast FM, van Duijvendijk P. Quality of Life After Surgery for Colon Cancer in Patients With Lynch Syndrome: Partial Versus Subtotal Colectomy. *Diseases of the Colon & Rectum 2012; 55:653-659*
- <u>Gopie JP</u>, Timman R, Hilhorst MT, Hofer SOP, Mureau MAM, Tibben A. The short-term psychological impact of complications after breast reconstruction. *Psycho-Oncology 2011; DOI: 10.1002/pon.2089*
- <u>Gopie JP</u>, Timman R, Hilhorst MT, Hofer SO, Mureau MA, Tibben A. Information-seeking behaviour and coping style of women opting for either implant or DIEPflap breast reconstruction. *Journal of Plastic Reconstructive and Aesthetic Surgery 2011; 64:1167-1173*

- <u>Gopie JP</u>, Hilhorst MT, Kleijne A, Timman R, Menke-Pluymers MB, Hofer SO, Mureau MA, Tibben A. Women's motives to opt for either implant or DIEP-flap breast reconstruction. *Journal of Plastic Reconstructive and Aesthetic Surgery* 2011; 64:1062-1067
- Damen THC, Timman R, Kunst EH, <u>Gopie JP</u>, Bresser PJC, Seynaeve C, Menke-Pluijmers MB, Mureau MAM, Hofer SOP, Tibben A. High satisfaction rates in women after DIEP flap breast reconstruction. *Journal of Plastic Reconstructive and Aesthetic Surgery 2010; 63:93-100*
- Weijenborg PTM, ter Kuile MM, <u>Gopie JP</u>, Spinhoven P. Vermindering van chronische buikpijn bij vrouwen die minder catastrofaal denken. *Nederlands Tijdschrift voor Geneeskunde 2010; 154:A2109*
- Weijenborg PTM, ter Kuile MM, <u>Gopie JP</u>, Spinhoven P. Predictors of outcome in a cohort of women with chronic pelvic pain - A follow-up study. *European Journal of Pain 2009; 13:769-775*

# DANKWOORD

Dit onderzoek had ik niet (met plezier) kunnen verrichten zonder de juiste mensen om mij heen en speciale personen die hebben gezorgd voor veel inspiratie en mogelijkheden:

Alle patiënten die hebben deelgenomen aan de DIM-studie, bedankt voor de jarenlange inzet. Door uw bijdrage werd duidelijk welke punten in de voorlichting en nazorg rondom borstamputatie en –reconstructie verbetering verdienen en waar de gevoeligheden liggen. Ook wil ik de chirurgen bedanken die het onderzoek mede mogelijk hebben gemaakt: prof. dr Rob Tollenaar, Bert van Drunen, John van der Werff, Nicole Posch, Marjorie Braam, Julia Zguricas, Dennis Goossens, Hans Pieter van Not, Katja van den Dwey. Ook dank aan Elly Krol-Warmerdam en de secretaresses die ons hebben ondersteund: Cissy, Idske, Marlies en collega's, Emmy en Maud.

Prof. dr A. Tibben, Aad, bedankt voor het vertrouwen dat je in mij had en de steun en mogelijkheden die je me hebt gegeven. Meer autonomie en (zelf)vertrouwen zijn in de loop van de tijd aangeboord, mijn grote dank hiervoor. Marc Mureau, je wist mij te introduceren als psycholoog in de medische-chirurgische wereld, zeer noodzakelijk voor het werk, fascinerend en het heeft me veel geleerd. Reinier Timman, bedankt voor het helpen verhelderen van de statistische spinnenwebben en alle drie bedankt voor de leuke, persoonlijkere gesprekken op de achtergrond die het werk aangenaam en menselijk maakten, vooral als het onderzoek of analyses even niet flexibel verliepen. Medard Hilhorst, ik had veel langer willen samenwerken, bedankt dat je me hebt meegegeven dat kwantitatief onderzoek het persoonlijke reduceert. Caroline Seynaeve, Peter Swart en Marian Menke bedankt voor de samenwerking met de Daniel den Hoed kliniek. Een goede start van het onderzoek werd mede mogelijk gemaakt door Tim Damen en Stefan Hofer. Annelies Kleijne, jij hebt het datamanagement grotendeels verzorgd en wist een groot overzicht te scheppen tussen de honderden vragenlijsten die we ontvingen. Fijn dat je er voor me was.

Prof. dr C.J. van Asperen en Prof. dr M.H. Breuning, Christi en Martijn, bedankt dat ik mijn werk op de afdeling Klinische Genetica kan uitvoeren en dat we gezamenlijk nieuwe mogelijkheden kunnen creëren. Andere collega's en bijzondere kamergenoten waaronder Set, Maartje, Joel en Anna, bedankt voor de steun, gezelligheid en relativering.

Moniek ter Kuile en Philomeen Weijenborg, bedankt dat ik het fundament voor onderzoeker bij jullie heb kunnen leggen. Aart en Moniek, ook bedankt voor de adviserende gesprekken rondom de opleiding in het ziekenhuis - het is gelukt!

Prof. dr H.F.A. Vasen, Hans, je hebt gezorgd voor veel inspiratie en mogelijkheden op de achtergrond, het ontstaan van ideeën en het schrijven ging hierdoor ineens stukken makkelijker. Ik denk dat we nog veel mooie dingen kunnen opzetten in de toekomst.

Mariska den Heijer, op congres in Turkije kwam ik erachter hoe belangrijk en fijn het is om een betrouwbare, nuchtere en komische collega te hebben, mede dankzij jouw steun en onze gezellige diners heb ik een en ander (in speed(o)) kunnen halen! Leuke collega's in het ziekenhuis, waaronder Marry, Maarten, Claudia en Mirjam, bedankt voor de goede gesprekken over het werk en vooral het leven daarbuiten. Piarella, bedankt voor jouw inspiratie!

Prof. dr A.A.W. Peters, beste Lex. Bedankt voor de mooie gesprekken, die me zelfvertrouwen geven op het juiste moment.

Collega's van de werkgroep Familiaire Tumoren van het NVPO en de Borstkanker Vereniging Nederland, bedankt dat we ervaringen en ideeën uit kunnen wisselen. Klasgenoten van de opleiding Psychosociale Oncologie, bedankt voor de leuke, vruchtbare vrijdagen in Utrecht, die hebben me behoorlijk geïnspireerd. Leo van Weezel en Christine de Jong, bedankt dat ik bij jullie een waardevol fundament heb kunnen leggen voor de klinische praktijk.

In het bijzonder bedank ik mijn vader, moeder, zussen, familie, schoonfamilie en lieve vrienden. Zonder een liefdevolle omgeving en mensen die je in je waarde laten, had ik me niet zo gelukkig gevoeld. Een gelukkig mens kan zijn werk optimaal verrichten. Met liefde en vrijheid (naar Joseph Oubelkas) kun je iets in beweging krijgen, zelfs in een groot hiërarchisch systeem.

Henriette, bedankt dat je me leert hoe ik in het zadel kan blijven zitten.

Sam en Caro – dat jullie letterlijk aan mijn zijde staan! Overal en altijd.

Tanne, mijn grote dank dat jij op mijn pad kwam en het beste in mij naar boven haalt. Jij draagt bij aan het grotere fundament, waardoor ik veilig op avontuur kan.